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The Board of County Supervisors

PRINCE W"-LIAM Deshundra Jefferson, Chair

COUNTY Kenny A. Boddye, Vice Chair
Victor S. Angry
Andrea O. Bailey
Margaret Angela Franklin
Tom Gordy
Yesli Vega
Bob Weir

March 15, 2024

Madam Chair, Members of the Board of County Supervisors,
And Residents of the County of Prince William, Virginia:

We are pleased to present the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) of the County of Prince William (the
“County”) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. The report presents fairly the financial position of the County,
including its discretely presented component units in all material respects and demonstrates compliance with
applicable legal and contractual provisions. This report consists of management's representations concerning the
finances of the County. Consequently, management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability
of all information presented in this report. A comprehensive internal control framework designed both to protect
the government’s assets from loss, theft, or misuse and to compile sufficient, reliable information for the preparation
of the County’s financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) is in
place to provide a reasonable basis for making these representations. Because the cost of internal controls should
not outweigh the benefits, the County's comprehensive framework of internal controls, by design, provides
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement. As
management, we assert, to the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete and reliable in all
material respects.

The County’s financial statements are audited by Cherry Bekaert LLP, a firm of licensed certified public accountants.
The goal of the independent audit is to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements of the County
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, are free of material misstatement. The independent audit included
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements; assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management; and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. The independent auditors concluded there is a reasonable basis for rendering an
unmodified opinion that the County’s financial statements are fairly presented in conformity with GAAP for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2023. The independent auditor’s report is the first component of the financial section of this
report.

The independent audit of the County's financial statements is part of a broader, federally mandated “Single Audit”
designed to meet the special needs of federal grantor agencies. The standards governing Single Audit engagements
require the independent auditor to report not only on the fair presentation of the financial statements, but also on
the audited government's internal controls and compliance with legal requirements, with special emphasis on
internal controls and legal requirements involving the administration of major federal award programs. The results
of the Single Audit are reported in the compliance report, issued subsequent to the ACFR.

GAAP require that management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic
financial statements in the form of Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal
complements the MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. The County’'s MD&A can be found immediately
following the independent auditor’s report.

1 County Complex Court, Prince William, Virginia 22192 « 703-792-6000 | www.pwcgov.org
1



Profile of the Government

Prince William County, located in Northern Virginia,
approximately 35 miles southwest of Washington, D.C.,
encompasses an area of 348 square miles, of which
18.8 percent is federally owned land. As the second
most populous jurisdiction in Virginia, the 2020 U.S.
Census placed the County’'s population at an estimated
482,204 persons or 158,525 households. The County
comprises almost 7.6 percent of the greater oo
Washington-Metropolitan region’s population, which
stands at close to 6.4 million persons according to the
2020 U.S. Census.
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Prince William's location in the Metropolitan
Washington, D.C. area and the availability of excellent
transportation options in the region is a catalyst for
growth in the County, which continues to provide e
numerous economic advantages. Interstate 95 and U.S. 2
Highway 1 connect the County with Washington, D.C. to Fredeictbur
the north and Richmond, Virginia to the south.
Interstate 66 connects the western portion of the
County with Washington, D.C. to the east and Interstate
81 to the west. Route 234/Prince William Parkway links
Interstate 66 in the west with 7,000 acres designated for industrial and commercial growth. Prince William
Parkway provides easy access to Interstate 95 and prime development locations through the eastern portion of
the County. The County has several freight and passenger rail service alternatives available to its citizens and
businesses. CSX and Norfolk Southern Railway provide freight service to the County. Amtrak passenger trains
provide inter-city service to points up and down the eastern seaboard from stations in the Town of Quantico and
the City of Manassas. The Virginia Railway Express provides passenger service to and from the District of Columbia
from four stations within the County. Dulles International Airport, Reagan National Airport, and Manassas
Regional Airport provide air transportation within easy access of the County. Within the County's boundaries are
the independent cities of Manassas and Manassas Park and the incorporated towns of Dumfries, Haymarket,
Occoquan, and Quantico. The cities and towns elect their own mayors and councils but rely on the County
government for some services.

Spotsylvania
County

The County exercises local governing powers granted to it by the
Virginia General Assembly. Since 1972, the County has operated
y 100 S under the County Executive form of government, as provided in
‘ £ p Section 15.2-500 et seq. VA Code Ann. The governing policy-
z ' determining body of the County is an eight-member Board of

A

Ann B. Wheeler

County Supervisors (Board). Residents in each of the County's seven

Ny
N H;’ of four years. The eighth member of the Board, elected at-large by
1 ' County residents, serves a four-year term as Chair. The Chair and

Occcoquan

i following an election held on November 5, 2019, and serve until
‘ ; 14 December 31, 2023. The eighth member, serving the Gainesville
following a special election held on February 21, 2023, and serves

‘ magisterial districts elect one member of the Board to serve a term
D 4"
Kenny A. Boddye i Jeanine M. Lawson H H H
Y A. Badtly six of the current board members took office in January 2020,
g"’{" Magisterial District, took office at the end of February 2023,
W
e until December 31, 2023.



The County provides a full range of local government services including police, fire and rescue, court administration,
education, planning, development, libraries, parks, recreational and tourism services, health and social services,
publicimprovements, and general administration. The County’s School Board and Adult Detention Center both have
a financial benefit/burden relationship with the County and are reported as discretely presented component units,
with the School Board issuing separately audited financial statements. A legally separate water and sewer service
authority, the Prince William County Service Authority, provides sanitation services. User charges and bond
financings are the primary funding sources for the Service Authority's operations and capital needs. The Authority is
solely responsible for its outstanding debt and is not a component unit of the County. Local and commuter
transportation services, OmniLink, OmniRide and the Virginia Railway Express (VRE), are managed and operated by
the Potomac & Rappahannock Transportation Commission (PRTC), a joint venture between Prince William and
Stafford Counties and the Cities of Manassas, Manassas Park, and Fredericksburg. Note (1A) in the notes to the
financial statements discloses additional information on discretely presented component units and all other related
organizations, joint ventures, and jointly governed entities.

The County’s annual Adopted Budget for all governmental and enterprise funds serves as the foundation for financial
planning, stewardship and control and is an integral part of the County’'s system for results-oriented government.
The Board-adopted Principles of Sound Financial Management and the Financial and Program Planning Ordinance
outline pertinent policies governing the budgeting process. During July through November, all agencies and
departments are required to report on prior fiscal year performance, including achievement of adopted
agency/department outcomes and service levels to the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) for review, analysis,
and recommendations. Agency and department directors meet with staff from OMB and the Office of Executive
Management (OEM) to review prior year performance and upcoming fiscal year goals, objectives, activities,
outcomes, and service levels. If needed, agencies and departments are required to submit budget requests and
updates to performance targets to OMB in early December. The County Executive presents a proposed budget to
the Board on or before March 1 of each year for the fiscal year beginning July 1. After an extensive review and
deliberation process and a minimum of two public hearings to receive resident input, the Board makes its decisions
on the proposed budget and adopts a budget by April 30. The education component of the budget must be adopted
on or before May 15, and the non-education component must be adopted before July 1 of each year in accordance
with the Code of Virginia.

The County's Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) is required by the Principles of Sound Financial
Management and the Code of Virginia and demonstrates accountability to both residents and bondholders. The
ACFR is prepared in accordance with accounting requirements promulgated by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB), and in accordance with the Uniform Financial Reporting Manual, issued by the
Commonwealth of Virginia Auditor of Public Accounts (APA) and the guidelines established by the Government
Finance Officers Association (GFOA) in its Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting Award
Program. The ACFR provides both detailed and summary level reports on the financial and economic state of Prince
William County.

Local Economy

Prince William County is home to a community of residents with a rich cultural identity. The County demographer1
estimates the population at 491,693 as of second quarter 2023, a two percent increase over the 2020 U.S. Census
total of 482,204. Population growth is expected to rise steadily, supported by County services that promote high
quality living standards, a generally stable and diverse labor force, and capacity to expand residential development.
By 2040, the Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments (COG) projects the County’s population will grow to

569,200. According to the U.S. Census Bureau’s 2022 American Community Surveyz, approximately 25.8 percent of

the population are of Hispanic or Latino origin, 42.4 percent of residents are white, 20.4 percent are black or African
American, and 10.2 percent are Asian. Approximately 26.3 percent of the County’s population is under the age of 18,

' Source: Prince William County GIS: https://demographics-pwcgov.hub.arcgis.com/pages/population-estimates
2 Source: https://data.census.gov/table?q=prince+william+county&y=2022




while 16.7 percent is 60 or above. Prince William County continues to maintain its family-oriented tradition, reflected
by 25.9 percent of households containing married-couple families with children under 18 years old. An estimated
52.7 percent of employed residents work within Prince William County, while 39.0 percent are employed outside the
County. The mean travel time to work is 35.5 minutes. Prince William County’s median household income of $120,398
is 40 percent above the statewide median of $85,873 and 2.5 percent higher than the Washington D.C. MSA median
of $117,432.

The County's leadership team is committed to not deviate from practices that place Prince William County in an elite
class of municipalities maintaining ratings of Aaa/AAA/AAA as staff navigates an evolving economic climate.
Identifying the County's strengths and vulnerabilities, combined with developing robust planning around various
scenarios, engaging staff, and maintaining financial agility, will remain key areas of focus amid a period of slower
economic growth, elevated inflation, and potential market volatility. Despite one of the Federal Reserve’s most
aggressive monetary tightening phases and now war-plagued commodity markets, economic activity has remained
relatively strong. Consumers are still spending, and companies are still hiring and investing, albeit not at the same
pace as last year. Even though the economy has surpassed expectations thus far this year, the outlook remains
clouded. Most economists agree that an economic slowdown seems plausible, however, the odds of a recession
cannot be ignored.

Easing inflationary pressure coupled with resilient economic growth has led many investors and economists to
embrace the idea of a rare “soft landing” - a scenario in which the economy gradually cools without falling into a
recession. But some market observers are quick to counter this outcome by suggesting the 525 basis points of
interest rate increases implemented by the Federal Reserve have yet to be felt by the broader economy. A former
President of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York believes three key questions must be considered when assessing
the possibility of a soft landing. One, because monetary policy typically works with long and variable lags, will the
cumulative impact of interest rate increases continue to mount? Two, will the Federal Reserve's current policy stance
be restrictive enough to dampen economic growth? And three, is the current unemployment rate consistent with
benign inflation? He further suggests the Federal Reserve's ability to move markets through advance communication
of future policy initiatives has led to “considerable evidence that lags have shortened, meaning that the economy
has felt nearly all of the impact of the Fed’s actions,” a notion that holds true both nationally, regionally, and locally.

The Prince William County economy is an important component of the Washington, D.C. metropolitan area economy,
which is arguably one of the most dynamic in the world. Increasingly key to this dynamic economy is the abundance
of technology infrastructure, namely low-cost electricity, and cable fiber, which has propelled Northern Virginia to
the forefront of America’s largest data center market. Currently, the Northern Virginia region is home to the highest
number of data centers in the nation and the world. With the unpredictable nature of federal budgets, this rapidly
flourishing industry is proving critical to diversifying the region’s economy, which has historically relied on federal
government spending to support growth. While Northern Virginia remains the world's largest data center market,
development is starting to migrate south.

While the data center industry presents an opportunity for the County to diversify its revenue base, residential real
estate tax collections remain the primary source of revenue receipts. Nearly 82 percent of the County's real estate
tax base (including apartments) consists of residential housing. Slightly under 18 percent is comprised of
commercial, industrial, agricultural, and public service properties and less than one percent is undeveloped land. As
home values and investment in the community have increased, the Board of County Supervisors has been able to
decrease the tax rate while sustaining the level and quality of services expected by residents. Below is a five-year
history of the real estate tax rate per $100 of assessed value. Notably, for FY 2024, the Board further lowered the
real estate tax rate to $0.966 per $100 of assessed value, under the $1 dollar mark.

FY 2023 FY 2022 FY 2021 FY 2020 FY 2019
$1.03 $1.115 $1.125 $1.125 $1.125



While recent measurements of housing market activity, such as pending sales of existing homes and new home
sales, suggest that residential real estate sector has stabilized, affordability remains a challenge for many potential
buyers amid elevated prices, high financing rates and a dearth of inventory. “The recovery has not taken place, but
the housing recession is over,” the National Association of Realtors chief economist, said in a statement. “Given the
ongoing job additions, any meaningful decline in mortgage rates could lead to a rush of buyers later in the year and
into the next.” At the time of this writing, Freddie Mac's Primary Mortgage Survey indicates the average 30-year fixed
rate mortgage stands at 7.63%, a high mark for 2023 and 94 basis points above the 52-week average of 6.69%. In a
note, Freddie Mac said “Not only are homebuyers feeling the impact of rising rates, but homebuilders are as well.
Incoming data shows that the construction of new homes rebounded in September but as rates keep rising, home
builders appear to be losing confidence. As a result, construction could trend down in the short-term.” Virginia
Realtors current monthly Flash Survey indicated the organization’s Buyer Activity Index decreased to 59 from 63 in
May. Approximately 40% of realtors assessed buyer activity in their local market as “high” or “very high”, while roughly
22% rated buyer activity as “low” or “very low". According to Virginia Realtors, a separate index that measures realtors’
opinions about how the market will be performing three months in the future remained unchanged at 57 in June
from the prior month. Approximately 32% of survey participants thought buyer activity over the next three months
would be strong in their respective markets versus 33% in May.

Category June 2023 June 2022 Increase/(Decrease)
Median Sold Price $550,000 $542,000 1.4%

Units Sold 560 744 (24.7%)

Active Listings 412 634 (35.0%)
Average Days on Market 11 8 37.5%

New Listings 507 973 (47.9%)

Source: MarketStats by Bright MLS

A leading indicator of housing market conditions is new building permit activity. From 2018 through 2022, permits
issued for new construction have averaged 1,522 per year. Peak permit activity occurred in 2019, driven primarily by
a surge in multi-family projects. On average, single-family permits issued represented nearly 40 percent of all activity
for calendar years 2018 through 2022.

Calendar Year Single Family Townhouse Condo/Apartment
2018 689 538 617 1,844
2019 690 434 952 2,076
2020 738 581 164 1,483
2021 533 565 181 1,279
2022 373 432 126 931
2023 (Jan-jun) 218 237 38 578

Source: Prince William Co. Development Services

As pandemic impacts continued to fade during FY 2023, Prince William County’'s commercial real estate sector profile
improved, led primarily by the industrial sector profile. According to Costar Realty Group (Costar), the vacancy rate
on June 30, 2023, was 3.8 percent, a decline of 0.1 percent from year-end fiscal 2022. Total rentable building area
(RBA) remained in a range of 53.3 - 54.8 million square feet. Virginia Realtors noted in a recent commercial real
estate report that strong demand and limited availability of industrial space continues to propel rents higher. Retail
properties within most metro areas have been marked by a steady increase in rents as vacancies have trended
down, while, except for the first two Amazon buildings in Arlington, Virginia having been completed, the office sector
has largely experienced a sluggish pace of net absorption.



Personal property tax, the most significant single revenue source following real estate tax, generated a substantial
increase over the previous fiscal year. The revenue gain was underpinned by an increase in new taxable business
tangible property, led by continued growth in the data center industry. Furthermore, elevated values for new and
used vehicles during tax year 2022, driven by a backdrop of lean, but improving, inventory levels, also contributed
to the gain. Local sales tax also increased significantly over the previous fiscal year. Robust and consistent spending
behavior within the County, a strong labor market, and a relatively healthy level of aggregate consumer savings all
combined to support the trajectory of local sales tax receipts. While the increase was below the levels established
in personal property tax and local sales tax, Business, Professional and Occupational License Tax (BPOL)
outperformed original expectations as well. The same factors that drove sales tax collections buttressed BPOL
receipts as well.

Underpinning the diversification principle contained in the County’s Principles of Sound Financial Management that
states, “The County will strive to maintain a diversified and stable revenue system to shelter it from short-term
fluctuations in any one revenue source,” the Board made headway in further diversifying the County’s general tax
revenues by implementing a new cigarette tax midyear in fiscal year 2022 (effective January 1, 2022). The County
became a member jurisdiction of the Northern Virginia Cigarette Tax Board (NVCTB) for purposes of collection and
administration of this new taxing source. The Board acted to further diversify the County's tax revenues by
implementing a new 4% food and beverage tax as part of the adopted fiscal year 2023 budget (effective July 1, 2022).

Prince William County's labor market retained a relatively healthy profile during FY 2023, highlighted in part by a
modest decrease in the unemployment rate to 2.7% from 2.8% at the end of the prior fiscal year. Over the final
quarter of FY 2023, the number of employed residents increased to 4,118, buoyed by a labor force that grew to
263,632 from 259,597. The total number of unemployed citizens grew by 898 from April through June but when
measured on a quarter-over-quarter basis, Bureau of Labor Statistics data indicated a net decrease of 83. While the
availability of granular data to assess the overall state of the County's job market is limited, a leading indicator that
can be utilized to measure labor market conditions are monthly initial claims for unemployment insurance. During
the quarter, the average initial claims per month decreased to 393 versus a per month average of 513 over the
previous quarter. Considering the downward trajectory of claims over the quarter, a reasonable conclusion can be
made that evidence of broad-based labor market weakness has yet to emerge.

According to data from the Bureau of Labor Statistics' Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages, at-place
employment in Prince William County grew 3.5 percent to 135,978 in the 15t quarter of 2023 from 131,319 versus
one year prior. Establishments of employment in the County increased 8.5 percent to 11,422 in the 15t quarter of
2023 compared to 10,525 the previous year. By comparison, Washington D.C. Metropolitan area establishments
grew by 6.6 percent and statewide establishments grew by 10.5 percent over the same period. The largest employers
in the County are the Prince William County School Board, Prince William County Government, the U.S. Department
of Defense, Walmart, and Sentara Healthcare/Potomac Hospital Corporation. Average weekly wages in Prince
William County rose 10.0 percent to $1,176 during the 15t quarter of 2023 versus $1,070 when compared to the same
period one year prior. In contrast, average weekly wages in the Washington D.C. Metropolitan area increased 6.9
percent to $1,908 from $1,785, while Virginia weekly wages increased 8.2 percent to $1,477 from $1,365 over the
same time frame.

As Prince William County has emerged from the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, County staff has sought avenues
to deploy federal funds to enhance future economic growth prospects. One such example is the County’s IGNITE
Startup Grant program which began accepting applications on January 10, 2023, from high growth companies
seeking to expand or locate operations in Prince William County. The $1 million dollar fund leverages federal
American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funds to enhance opportunities for funding, education, and networking during key
years for scaling startups and high growth businesses. Depending on the applicant's qualifications, grants will be
offered in tranches of $25 thousand, $50 thousand, and $100 thousand. “Prince William County has the makers of
Northern Virginia. We have entrepreneurs who invent, tinker, fabricate, and manufacture in a low-cost ecosystem,”
said Christina Winn, Prince William County's Executive Director of Economic Development. “This is an opportunity



for entrepreneurs and innovators who have a compelling product or idea that can be tested and executed in the
market.”

With the core of Prince William County's general fund revenues supported by residential property tax, personal
property tax and sales tax, the County depends heavily on its housing stock and consumer spending to maintain its
prosperity and levels of local government services. While the County’s economy has demonstrated a sound recovery
trajectory from the impacts of COVID-19, a high level of uncertainty remains around the future path of economic
growth against a backdrop of high inflation and rising interest rates. County leadership continues to closely monitor
economic conditions in both the nation and the Commonwealth, as well as regionally and locally. County leadership
has also evaluated the County's liquidity to meet its obligations and believes sufficient liquidity exists without the
need to access external funding for operations. County staff are confident that strong financial policies and practices
and a sufficient general fund balance position Prince William County to comfortably manage through the uncertainty
of current and future economic conditions.

Long-term Financial Planning

The County adopted its Principles of Sound Financial Management in 1988, with the most recent update to these
long-standing Principles occurring in April 2018. The Principles establish a foundation for the fiscal strength and
stability of Prince William County government and provide overarching guidance for prudent fiscal management. In
1989, the Board also codified a Financial and Program Planning Ordinance. The purpose of this ordinance was to
provide a framework for planning government services, allocating resources to those services, and providing
accountability for achievement of budgeted service levels. Adhering to these Principles and the Ordinance has
enhanced the County’'s image and credibility with the public, investors, and credit rating agencies. In fact, each year
the County Executive reports on the County's compliance with the Principles to the Board.

Credit ratings link strongly to the financial management of a local government and the economic climate. The County
seeks to consistently maintain a strong financial position as evidenced by its “AAA/Aaa” status from the three major
credit rating agencies, a distinction only 48 counties hold nationwide and a measure that less than one percent of
the roughly 19,000 local governments throughout the country have achieved. The triple-AAA/Aaa ratings are also
reflective of the County’s position as a key economic engine in the Washington-metropolitan area. The County's
superior bond ratings and outstanding credit affirms its status as a fiscally responsible and sound local government.

A significant factor in the County's “AAA" bond rating from Fitch Ratings, “Aaa” bond rating from Moody’s Investors
Service and “AAA" bond rating by S&P Global Ratings is the Board’s and management's consistency in implementing
and adhering to multi-year financial plans, a practice that requires regular long-term financial planning of operating
and capital requirements for general government and enterprise operations. As outlined in the Financial Planning
and Program Ordinance and the Principles of Sound Financial Management, five-year revenue and expenditure
projections are presented to the Board during the annual budget process. This projection process helps the Board
gauge the multi-year impacts of fiscal decisions and weigh the corresponding implications of tax rates and other
revenue sources. A five-year budget plan prepared by the Prince William County Schools combined with the five-
year budget plan prepared by the County give a total picture of the General Fund requirements. The Board approved
the most recent five-year budget plan in April 2023 for fiscal year 2024 to fiscal year 2028. Integral to the
establishment of five-year plans is the County-School Revenue Sharing Agreement, originally adopted by the Board
of County Supervisors and the County School Board in 1998. The current Agreement splits the County’s General
Revenues, 57.23 percent to the School System and 42.77 percent to the County.

The Adopted Budget implements the Board’s policy guidance and works to achieve the community's Vision and
Strategic Goals. The Board's adopted vision acknowledges that individuals, families, and businesses make a
calculated decision to locate in the County. However, the reasons they come and the expectations they bring with
them for how the County should evolve are wide-ranging. The Vision set forth in the County's Strategic Plan states:



“Prince William County is a diverse community striving to be healthy, safe, and caring with a
thriving economy and a protected natural environment.”

The Board has identified that accountability, communication and engagement, equity & inclusion, innovation, and
integrity are essential and consistent factors that families, individuals, and businesses rely upon when choosing to
locate in the County and are therefore guiding values used in the development of their Strategic Plan. The adopted
strategic goal areas included in the 2021-2024 Strategic Plan (adopted in July 2021) are Health, Wellbeing, & Human
Services, Safe & Secure Community, Resilient Economy, Quality Education & Workforce Development, Environmental
Conservation, Sustainable Growth, and Transportation & Mobility—with objectives, action strategies, and key
performance indicators for each goal area. This Plan is used to guide decisions about resource allocation in the FY
2024 through FY 2028 annual budgets. The goal statements associated with each of these seven goal areas are as
follows:

Health, safe Quality

Wellbeing & Secure Resilient Education & Environmental Sustainable JTransportation

& Human T Economy Workforce Conservation Growth & Mobility

Services Development

For the past several decades, the County has independently conducted regular community surveys to gauge resident
satisfaction with existing services, including overall satisfaction with the quality of life and identify areas for
improvement. More than half of residents surveyed assigned top scores to the quality of services provided by the
County and the overall quality of life within the County. Results of these surveys help the County make decisions
and achieve the strategic vision of being a healthy, safe, and caring community with a thriving economy and a
protected natural environment.



Each year, the County prepares a six-year Capital Improvements Program (CIP), adopted by the Board, and included
in the Adopted Budget. The CIP specifies the capital improvements and construction projects scheduled for funding
over the next six years to maintain or enhance the County's capital assets and delivery of services. The County's
adopted policy documents, including the Strategic Plan, the Comprehensive Plan, and the Principles of Sound
Financial Management guide the development of the CIP.

Capital improvement projects over the next six years for the County government total approximately $1.38 billion.
The major projects address transportation, community development/human services, public safety and technology
infrastructure and improvements, all key focus areas of the County’s Strategic Plan. The fiscal year 2024-2029 CIP
provides $877.8 million for transportation roadway and sidewalk improvement projects; $91.5 million for human
services projects, namely a new Crisis Receiving Center, Juvenile Services Center, an eastern Homeless Navigation
Center; $14.7 million for countywide space initiatives, technology improvements, and environmental sustainability
efforts; $197.2 million for public safety projects, including $27.3 million for the expansion of the Public Safety Training
Center, $150.9 million for the renovation and expansion of the Judicial Center and $19.0 million for a new Fire &
Rescue Station; $194.9 million for community development projects, including $67.5 million for various parks and
recreation projects such as improvements/expansions at Howison Park, Doves Landing Park, Neabsco District Park,
Fuller Heights Park, Hellwig Park, and the Potomac Heritage National Scenic Trail as well as other greenway and park
facility improvements; $55.5 million for landfill related capping and lining projects; $21.5 million for watershed
management projects; $53.0 million for various building and facility capital maintenance projects. The School
System'’s Capital Program totals approximately $1.84 billion for fiscal years 2024 to 2033 and includes the
construction of six new schools, replacement of one school, renovations and/or improvements to 14 schools as well
as other repair, maintenance, and renovation projects at various school facilities. Permanent capacity is set to
increase by 6,184 seats over the next ten years with completion of the school facility construction identified within
the School System'’s Capital Program.

The fiscal year 2024 capital projected expenditures for the County government are estimated at $311.3 million.
Funding sources for County projects include the general fund, debt, state/federal, American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA),
fire levy, stormwater management fees, proffers, capital reserve, recordation tax revenue designated for
transportation, Northern Virginia Transportation Authority (NVTA), information technology internal service fund
balance, solid waste fees and development fees.

Relevant Financial Policies

As outlined in the Principles of Sound Financial Management, current expenditures are funded with current revenues
and other resources. The County does not balance the current budget at the expense of meeting future years’
expenditures, nor shall unassigned General Fund balance be used to finance current operations, except in
emergencies. Furthermore, the County is required to maintain healthy reserves, with a 2 percent of general fund
revenue “Revenue Stabilization Reserve” requirement and a 7.5 percent of general fund revenue “Unassigned Fund
Balance” requirement, both designed to position the County with sufficient working capital and a margin of safety
to withstand local and regional emergencies, economic shocks, and unexpected declines in revenues without
borrowing. In addition, the Principles require the County maintain a capital reserve with a minimum balance of two
percent of the current capital projects fund appropriations included in the Adopted Six-Year Capital Improvement
Program. This reserve is designed to provide working capital and a margin of safety to withstand unexpected, but
necessary, project cost overruns without additional borrowing. Finally, the County maintains a $3 million “Economic
Development Opportunity Fund Reserve” providing a source of working capital that can be used to incentivize
economic development in key targeted industries. This reserve supports the Board's “Resilient Economy” strategic
goal of growing the commercial tax base.

Major Initiatives

The County's major initiatives focus on achieving its Strategic Goals. Some of the highlighted initiatives of the
Strategic Goal areas are as follows:



Health, Wellbeing and Human Services - The FY 2024 Adopted Budget supports vital services for

vulnerable families and individuals, including the financing and operating costs for the newly

acquired Crisis Receiving Center (CRC) which will provide capacity and access for adolescents and

adults experiencing mental health and substance use crises, thereby reducing time to treatment. In
addition, community partner organizations serving the County are supported with a five percent donation increase.
Capital improvement funding is provided in the Six-Year CIP for the Juvenile Service Center to include the
construction of a new 41,000 square-foot services facility and a new 19,000 square-foot youth shelter. The new
facilities will be constructed in two phases, with the services facility as phase one and the youth shelter as phase
two. The new facilities will be co-located on the same site, which will allow for greater collaboration among staff and
increase operational efficiencies by combining shared services, e.g., food, laundry, maintenance, and medical. The
Six-Year CIP also includes funding to support the capital build-out of the CRC. The project includes adult mental
health services, including eight beds and eight recliners. Finally, funding is included for a new eastern end,
approximately 30,000 square feet, Homeless Navigation Center (HNC). The HNC will provide overnight, temporary,
emergency sheltering and wrap-around services for up to 50 adults experiencing homelessness. A homeless Drop-
In Center program will also be part of the programming. The new facility will provide for increased cooperation and
coordination between community partners to address individuals' needs, thereby decreasing the number of people
experiencing homelessness.

Wellbeing is largely impacted by one’s quality of life and the Strategic Plan calls for the County to enhance multi-
generational community enrichment and community engagement that contribute to a healthy community. Parks
and recreation facilities are an essential service in Prince William County and are often a standard indicator for
measuring quality of life. The abundance, variety, and quality of recreational offerings often correlates with how a
community ranks on livability in citizen satisfaction surveys. In addition to fostering physical and emotional well-
being, communities leverage parks and recreation facilities to tell a community’s story, create a sense of place, and
bridge social divides. The Prince William County Department of Parks & Recreation (DPR) manages 5,000+ acres of
parkland comprised of more than 80 park properties and 60+ miles of trails. DPR operates a diverse portfolio of
recreational facilities, services, and programs, hosting many patrons annually and providing unique leisure
experiences for residents of all ages, abilities, and recreational interests. During 2022-2023, the Board allocated over
$17 million of American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funding to various park related capital projects. Completed during
FY 2023 was Rollins Ford Park, a 69-acre park that includes two rectangular fields, parking, playgrounds, pavilions,
basketball court, dog park, restroom/concession auxiliary building, walking trails, and wildflower meadows.
Improvements to Catharpin Park were also completed in FY 2023, adding a new auxiliary building to house restrooms
and concessions near the baseball fields.

Parks are so important to residents that voters approved a $41 million park bond referendum on November 5, 2019,
along with the mobility bond referendum. $20 million was approved for countywide trail, open space, and
accessibility projects. $6 million each was approved for Fuller Heights Park expansion, improvements to Howison
Park and the construction of a new community park -- Neabsco. Finally, $3 million was approved for the construction
of artificial turf fields at Hellwig Park. The debt service for these planned park bond projects is planned in the
County's Adopted Budget and Five-Year Plan.

As part of the FY 2024 budget, funds were also allocated for the County's marketing campaign for the 2024 Solheim
Cup. The Solheim Cup is held every two years and features the twelve best U.S. players from the Ladies Professional
Golf Association (LPGA) and the twelve best European players from the Ladies European Tour (LET). This premiere
golf tournament is slated to be held in Prince William County on September 10-14, 2024.

Safe & Secure Community - The Board's ongoing commitment to keeping the community safe and
secure is evident in the FY 2024 Budget. As law enforcement agencies throughout the country are
experiencing workforce shortages, recruitment and retention remain top priorities. The FY 2024
Budget provides increases for sworn staff to ensure compensation competitiveness with neighboring
jurisdictions as well as funding for hiring incentives for hard to fill public safety positions. The FY 2024 Budget also
includes funding for the implementation of a Community Safety Initiative to build community collaboration through
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a proactive focus on prevention, intervention, and diversion. Funds are also included to complete the three-year
staffing plan for the Office of the Commonwealth Attorney to address felony and misdemeanor caseloads. In
addition, funding is allocated for a veterinary clinic at the new Animal Services Center to improve animal care. Finally,
the FY 2024 Budget includes the financing and operating costs for the newly acquired firearms training facility, fire
apparatus replacements, and a new renovation and rebuild program for existing stations within the County’s Fire &
Rescue System. Future capital improvements include the construction of Fire & Rescue Station 27; expansion of the
Public Safety Training Center for new public safety recruit and in-service training purposes; and a renovation to the
existing Judicial Center to address courtroom and parking needs at the Judicial Center Complex. Funding is also
included to replace public safety 800 MHz radios and the build-out of the firing range facility to support the County's
training range needs.

Resilient Economy - The County remains a strategic and vital component of the Northern Virginia

\S’ economy due to the leadership and foresight of Prince William County to support business

‘ development to bring quality jobs to the residents and provide strategies for sustained economic

growth. The County’'s Department of Economic Development & Tourism’s mission is to is to serve as

the first point of contact for startup, relocating, and existing businesses to create an abundance of high paying jobs

in targeted industry sectors for residents and grow the commercial tax base. The Department of Economic

Development & Tourism improves the County's economic base by encouraging new businesses to locate in the

County, retain existing businesses and encouraging existing businesses to expand. The Department works hard to

create a pro-business, globally competitive environment that generates new, high-quality, and sustainable job

opportunities for our citizens and engages in a broad portfolio of services, partnerships, and strategic alliances to

benefit the business community and stimulate the economy. Recently, the Department of Economic Development

& Tourism was accredited by the International Economic Development Council (IEDC) and is one of only 74 economic
development organizations globally that are accredited and one of three in the Commonwealth of Virginia.

Since the inclusion of economic development in the strategic goals of the County in the mid-1990s, 661 new and
expanding companies have announced their intention to invest approximately $20 billion and add over 24,000 jobs
to the Prince William County economy. Of these announcements, 520 or 78 percent were targeted industry
businesses accounting for $19 billion (95%) of the total investment and 19,982 (80%) of the total jobs. Today, the
County is home to over 11,000 businesses, an increase of 42 percent over the past ten years.

To further promote economic development in the region, Prince William County, along with nine other jurisdictions
from Northern Virginia formed the Northern Virginia Economic Development Alliance (NOVA EDA). The Alliance is
comprised of the Alexandria Economic Development Partnership, Arlington County, City of Fairfax, Fairfax County
Economic Development Authority, City of Falls Church, Loudoun County, City of Manassas, City of Manassas Park,
and Prince William County Department of Economic Development & Tourism. This nine-member body jointly
promotes Northern Virginia as a desirable place to do business.

Recognizing the strengths of Prince William County and seizing upon market demands, Prince William County targets
the following key industries and sectors: life sciences & biotechnology; information communication technology;
specialized logistics & supply chain; government contractors & corporate facilities; small businesses &
entrepreneurs; destination & tourism venues; and revitalization & redevelopment. The County's access to both
Interstates 66 and 95 makes it a desirable location for shipping and transportation companies in the specialized
supplies and logistics cluster. The County's proximity to Marine Corps Base Quantico, Fort Belvoir, the National
Reconnaissance Office, and Washington, DC, along with the presence of the Federal Bureau of Investigation Northern
Virginia Resident Agency in the County, make the federal government and contractors who support the missions of
federal agencies a key industry for economic development. All these targeted industries have provided significant
capital investment and job opportunities in Prince William County. Since January 2020, 148 companies chose to
locate or expand their business in Prince William County as a result of the County’s marketing attraction and business
development services. These companies bring $8.9 billion of intended capital investment and will create 5,209 new
jobs, 4,856 (93%) of which fall within the County’s targeted industry sectors, underscoring the valuable workforce
proposition the County presents. In January 2022, the County contracted with Camoin Associates to conduct an
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independent analysis to determine the past performance of targeted industries, provide future industry projections,
and compare that with available zoned and planned commercial land to determine the pipeline of suitable land for
economic development purposes for the next 20 years.

Technology is one of the County’s strongholds and area of core competitiveness. Unparalleled access to the nation’s
largest tech talent pipeline, along with the County’s prominent East Coast location have given rise to Prince William
County's emergence as an important data center market in the Greater Washington, DC Metropolitan area - the
largest in the world. The County's competitive tax structure, affordable power and fiber optic availability make it an
ideal location for data center clients seeking a location in the Mid-Atlantic region. Further strengthening Prince
William County's position is the availability of large land parcels and minimal natural disaster threats, which allows
clients to meet the high security standards that today's data center market demands. Since attracting its first data
center in 1999, the County is now home to approximately ten million square feet of data center space, representing
approximately $14 billion in capital investment and more than 2,000 highly skilled jobs. Another approximately two
million square feet of data center space is in the pipeline and is expected to bring roughly $3 billion in capital
investment and over 300 new jobs. The County continues to be a magnet for data center projects as the region is
home to one of the oldest and most important internet exchange points on the global map of the internet, the
Metropolitan Area Exchange-East. Today, over 9,000 acres of land are designated as a Data Center Opportunity Zone
Overlay District within the County's boundaries, increasing competitiveness in the marketplace.

Innovation Park, the County's premier business and technology hub, is home to a growing life sciences cluster and
numerous information technology and advanced manufacturing companies. Of the roughly 1,500 acres comprising
Innovation Park, only approximately 112 acres remain undeveloped. George Mason University's Science and
Technology campus, situated at the epicenter of Innovation Park, houses the Institute for Advanced Biomedical
Research, which includes leading-edge research laboratories. Other prominent businesses and institutes located at
Innovation Park include American Type Culture Collection, Corning Life Sciences - Mediatech, Inc., BerkleyNet,
Medliminal, LLC, the Department of Forensic Sciences, the George Mason University/National Institutes of Health
(NIH) Level-3 Biosafety Research Laboratory (BRL), Mason’s Center for Applied Proteomics & Molecular Medicine and
Microbiome Group, NCS Technologies, Inc., a headquarters and advanced manufacturing facility, and Planet Direct,
a full-service direct mail production facility. Also present is an emerging forensic science/criminal justice cluster that
includes the Federal Bureau of Investigation Northern Virginia Resident Agency and the Virginia Department of
Forensic Science’s Northern Laboratory. The Prince William Science Accelerator, home to nine commercially available
public-private wet lab spaces, supports the growth of early-stage, start-up, and small life science companies. First
established in 2014, the Science Accelerator was designed to provide an innovative environment for entrepreneurial
research and product development. To date, two tenant companies have graduated into their own private labs and
headquarters in Innovation Park - Ceres Nanosciences and Serpin Pharma. More recently, in 2022, the NOVA
Bioscience Center opened its doors in Innovation Park. This 30,000 square foot, level 2 wet lab space financed
through a public-private partnership provides viable space for science-related companies looking to locate in the
County and for companies that have outgrown their space in the Science Accelerator. This innovative collaboration
between the County and Holladay Properties won a 2022 Achievement Award from the Virginia Association of
Counties (VACo) for delivering a product suitable for one of the fastest-growing biotechnology clusters in the region.
The Virginia Serious Game Institute (VSGI), also located at Innovation Park, concentrates on game-related applied
research, incubation of new innovative companies, and offers outreach to teach and educate students of all ages.
Affiliated with George Mason University, the VSGI supports entrepreneurial and innovation goals by cultivating and
supporting Mason-founded startups, rapid prototype development, high-value job creation, and regional economic
development through serious game technology discovery to improve the human condition. Site work is underway
on University Village and Innovation Town Center, a 130-acre master planned town center, adjacent to the George
Mason Science & Technology campus, that will include 2,662 residential units and two million square feet of
commercial space.

Innovation Park is also home to two Stack Infrastructure data center campuses, The first is planned for 1.5 million

square feet of data center space, with three of the six planned buildings already complete. The second campus is
planned for 860,000 square feet of space in four buildings, the first of which received its occupancy permit in January
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2023. Another 1.5 million square foot data center campus is also being built by QTS at Innovation Park. Two buildings
are already occupied and another three are under construction. Also under construction is a two-building, 242,000
square foot industrial facility owned by Matan Redstone Industrial. The first building is scheduled for occupation in
the fall of 2023 and is fully leased to DHL.

Two historic barns provide a unique ambiance within Innovation Park. The historic Birkett dairy barn serves as a
premier wedding, event, and live-music venue, known as Sweeney Barn, and nicely complements the Thomasson
historic barn, occupied by an upscale restaurant -- The Black Sheep. The vintage barn features a dedicated arts and
entertainment space, as well as private dining rooms in the lower-level barrel-aging quarter. The property is also
home to 2 Silos Brewing Co. Farm Brew Live, a live music venue, and a private event venue, Brentsville Hall. Another
5.65 acres of County-owned land was sold to accommodate the co-location of a 92-room boutique hotel and the
relocation and expansion of Murlarkey Distillery into a 25,000 square-foot rickhouse and bottling facility near this
already popular destination venue. Site work is underway, and opening is planned for December 2024.

Sprouts Farmers Market, an organic grocer opened in May 2023 in 26,300 square feet of renovated space in the
Manaport Plaza shopping center located in Manassas, bringing 110 new jobs to the County. Sprouts Farmers Markets
is differentiated in the grocery store category by its fresh produce section placed in the center of every store, as well
as its corporate mission to provide wholesome and innovative products produced with ingredients such as organic,
plant-based, and gluten-free. With nearly 400 stores in 23 states, the Prince William location is only the second in
Virginia. In 2022, Amazon Fresh opened its largest store in the nation at Sudley Manor Square in the heart of the Rt.
234 business corridor. The location was previously home to retailers like Kmart and Prince William County
Department of Economic Development & Tourism worked with the Prince William Board of County Supervisors to
include “Innovative Retail” in the Targeted Industry Status (TIS) program, allowing the project to receive expedited
permitting.

On the eastern corridor of the County, Potomac Communities includes several office developments that cater to the
growing demand to provide companies greater access to the Northern Virginia labor market while maintaining
proximity to Washington, D.C., and nearby federal facilities - such as Marine Corps Base Quantico, Fort Belvoir, and
the Pentagon. With infrastructure improvements to local roadways and new commercial office space coming to
market, Potomac Communities provides opportunities for businesses looking to locate or expand in the County.
Within the boundaries of Potomac Communities is Potomac Shores, a master planned 1,900-acre riverfront
community, zoned for a dense mixed-use development including a town center, a Virginia Railway Express (VRE)
station, and recreational amenities, including the completed Potomac Heritage National Scenic Trail and a Jack
Nicklaus Signature Golf Course. Additional development phases within Potomac Shores include a planned hotel,
additional commercial/office space, a town center, a river walk promenade, and integrated green space. To date,
almost 2,000 of the 3,987 planned homes in Potomac Shores have been sold. Furthermore, the groundbreaking for
the VRE station, station house, and parking garage with retail occurred in the spring of 2023. The four-level, 166,000
square foot garage will include nearly 400 parking spaces and feature a public boardwalk area along the east side
with expansive views of the Potomac River. Landscaping with a gazebo and viewing benches will help to make this a
focal point of the community and attract visitors to the future retail and restaurant operators located within the
Potomac Shores Town Center. Already, the owner of Fatty's Taphouse, a local seafood and “comfort food"” restaurant
with locations in Stafford and Fredericksburg announced plans to open a third restaurant at a waterfront location in
Potomac Shores. Also at Potomac Shores, a 35-acre office campus is planned for a site that can accommodate more
than two million square feet of secured perimeter office space.

Belmont Bay, a 300-acre mixed-use community adjacent to the Potomac River is George Mason University's Potomac
Science Center, is home to the Potomac Environmental Research & Education Center. This Center contains wet lab
space for teaching and research, lecture rooms, a library/resource center, offices, and a spatial analysis laboratory
further enhancing the highly skilled talent pipeline here in the County. Northern Virginia Community College (NVCC)
Regional Workforce Development Center, also located in Potomac Communities, delivers high-quality workforce
training with a focus on information technology, cybersecurity, and advance manufacturing. NVCC and the United
States Marine Corps (USMC) partnered, in collaboration with Amazon Web Services (AWS), to develop a course of
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study in data intelligence focused on cloud computing, data analytics, machine learning and artificial intelligence.
These educational offerings all support targeted industries for Prince William County.

Redevelopment initiatives are taking hold along the eastern Route 1 corridor. The County launched a Richmond
Highway grant program entitled “Route One Refresh”, making a total of $3 million available for business assistance
grants to cover costs associated with the renaming of Route 1. Over $500 million has been invested for massive
road and infrastructure improvements to widen the 12-mile stretch of U.S. Route 1 through the County. To spark
development, the County actively mapped and catalogued targeted assemblage sites while proactively performing
property owner and broker outreach and is leveraging HUB zones and opportunity zones to incentivize and support
targeted industry growth along the corridor. Consequently, several exciting projects are coming to life. Riverside
Crossing will be the County’s first vertically integrated mixed-use transit-oriented town center and is strategically
located in a federal Opportunity Zone. The $380 million, 20-acre assembled parcel project will include 970-residential
units with a mix of 140,000 square feet of retail and commercial office space and will be conveniently located across
from the North Woodbridge VRE station. Phase One site plans were approved in July 2023 and building plans are
currently under review. The Quartz District, a mixed-use town center, is planned near the intersection of Prince
William Parkway and Minnieville Road. The development will include up to 1,015 residential units and 374,000 square
feet of non-residential uses, including 235,000 square feet of office product and 100,000 square feet of retail
anchored by a premier organic grocer, Whole Foods. Interchange improvement plans and initial on-site development
plans are currently under design with groundbreaking expected in late 2023 to early 2024. Three affordable housing
projects are also in the pipeline for the eastern end of the County. The Landing at Mason's Bridge Apartments project
seeks to include affordable one, two, and three-bedroom apartments for rent. Site plans for the project have been
approved and building plans are currently in progress. Bonds to support the project were issued through the
Industrial Development Authority of Prince William (IDA) to assist the Lawson Companies in financing the acquisition,
construction, rehabilitation, and equipping of this multifamily residential rental housing project. The project consists
of eight modern, four-story buildings containing approximately 342 residential units, representing approximately
338,000 net rentable square feet, located on approximately 21.4 acres of land on Annapolis Way. The Jefferson Plaza
Affordable Housing project on the redevelopment corridor seeks to redevelop an underutilized shopping center with
240 affordable multifamily rental units. Rezoning for the project has been approved. Finally, KCG Development
announced the groundbreaking of Park Landing in February 2023. This new age-restricted, affordable rental
community, benefiting Prince William County seniors, is located on Noble Pond Way in Woodbridge and will offer
250 one- and two-bedroom apartment homes for active adults over age 55. Bond funding for the project was secured
by the developer through the IDA.

Two targeted industry projects were announced for the eastern redevelopment corridor. The 95 East Distribution
Center project, located on an 8.23-acre site where older warehouses were demolished, is under construction and
expected to be completed in the fall of 2023. The 113,490 square foot distribution center represents approximately
$22.9 million in capital investment and will create an estimated 100 distribution jobs. Approximately 83,753 square
feet of the space is already pre-leased to a distribution tenant. Belmont Logistics is a 36.6-acre redevelopment
project with three new buildings planned.

To further enhance economic development efforts, the Prince William Board of County Supervisors initiated an
update to the County's Comprehensive Plan, which includes the creation of small area plans to direct growth to key
locations throughout the County. Small area plans provide greater emphasis on detailed planning, visioning,
economic development, and design to develop plans that represent each study area with its own character, vision,
and implementation strategy. Since late 2019, seven of the nine planned small area plans have been adopted by
the Board. These small area plans provide a foundation to guide growth and development for the County, address
Prince William County's Strategic Plan goals, and identify necessary improvements to the multi-modal transportation
network. As a result of these plans, the County also expects to highlight the potential for defined mixed-use town
centers, increased private sector investment, and improved transportation infrastructure. The Board also approved
a major update to the Comprehensive Plan in December 2022 which guides the future growth, redevelopment, and
preservation in the County as well as investments in future public infrastructure through the year 2040. The updated
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Comprehensive Plan includes a new shared vision for land use, housing, mobility, electrical utility services, and
sanitary sewer throughout the County.

The County’s Department of Economic Development & Tourism started a small business development program in
2019, just before the COVID-19 pandemic. While the department stood up numerous grant programs funded largely
by the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act and the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA)
Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (CSLFRF) to help small businesses recover from the economic
impacts of the pandemic, the County's small business program is relatively young among surrounding Northern
Virginia counterparts.  As such, the Department commissioned a small business study by Camoin
Associates/Entreworks to assess unique challenges faced by businesses operated by minorities, immigrants,
veterans, women, and low-income owners. The study employed qualitative and quantitative data to perform a
landscape assessment, identify challenges and make recommendations on potential small business programs in the
future. The 85-page study revealed obstacles including access to capital, technical assistance, and professional
networks and provided strategic recommendations for growing the department’s small business program.

To provide added support to small businesses, the County partnered with the Mason Small Business Development
Center (SBDC) of George Mason University to deliver small business development services. Funding support from
Prince William County allows for counseling services to be available at no cost to business owners and aspiring
entrepreneurs. Each business participating in the small business program receives thorough and confidential
counseling support for any stage of its life cycle. Small business owners also benefit from regular cost-free workshop
sessions in topic areas such as government contracting, financing, and marketing. In 2022 alone, counselors served
over 467 customers in 1,161 one-on-one sessions resulting in over $9 million in capital formation and 374 new and
retained jobs in the region.

Lastly, integral to the Department of Economic Development & Tourism’s small business development program is
the Department of Development Services’ small business project management program, an initiative designed to
provide early assistance to small businesses building a new structure or moving into existing space by assigning a
team of experts to guide and streamline the entire process from purchasing/leasing property, design, permitting,
construction, and inspections to avoid delays.

Overall, businesses looking to start-up, relocate or expand will find that Prince William County's pipeline of skilled
and diverse labor, easy access to five of the Top Ten U.S. markets, the County’s proactive business approach and an
array of affordable housing, retail, and recreational options give Prince William County a competitive edge.

Quality Education & Workforce Development - Over the years, the Board of County Supervisors has

demonstrated a steadfast commitment to a quality public school system in Prince William County.

The School Board has adopted a vision where “Every student will graduate on-time with the

knowledge, skills, and habits of mind necessary to create a thriving future for themselves and their
community” with a commitment to learning and achievement for all, positive climate and culture, family and
community engagement and organizational coherence. The School Division is organized to focus on meeting the
needs of its students and employees while managing 100 schools and education centers, along with numerous
administrative and support facilities, serving students in grade pre-kindergarten through twelve. Governed by an
eight-member elected School Board, Prince William County Schools is the second largest of 132 school divisions in
Virginia and the 36 largest school division in the country and employs over 12,000 teachers, administrators, and
support personnel. The current School Board members were elected in November 2019 and serve a four-year term
beginning January 1, 2020. The September 2023 student enrollment count for all Prince William County Schools is
89,205 students, down 1.1% or 1,021 students from FY 2023 to FY 2024.

The School Division’s Five-Year Budget Plan continues to focus resources on the most critical school needs, including
funding for an approximate 0.8% annual growth in new students expected during the next five years, or 3,448 new
students. The FY 2024 Adopted School Division Budget supports the cost of educating 1,794 more students over the
FY 2023 approved budget; start-up costs for “Woodbridge Area” elementary school, scheduled to open in August
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2025; compensation and benefit adjustments; and new resources to fund the School Division’s Strategic Plan
commitments in learning and achievement for all; positive climate and culture; family and community engagement;
and organizational coherence. Resources include funding for 75 special education teacher assistants; 14
instructional coaches previously funded by the Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief (ESSER); 9.5
positions to staff three additional pre-K classes; 73 school safety and security positions; $4.5 million to fund
international faculty; $3.3 million for the Teacher in Residency Program; 62 parent liaison positions (also previously
ESSER funded); $0.3 million in additional robotics program funding; $0.3 million for translation services; $1.5 million
to replace 800 MHz radios; $0.6 million for Budgeting for Adequacy; $0.3 million to fund four transportation liaisons;
$0.3 million to fund a Comprehensive Staffing Study; and $2.3 million to match the Governor's introduced state
funding for one-time bonuses for instructional and support positions.

In the past five years, four new schools and additions to eleven existing schools have been constructed, adding
capacity for approximately 7,330 students. The new schools include one elementary school (John D. Jenkins), one
middle school (Potomac Shores), one high school (Gainesville) and one nontraditional school (Independence). The
existing schools receiving classroom additions include six elementary schools (Antietam, Lake Ridge, Leesylvania,
Minnieville, Pattie and Springwoods) and five middle schools (Beville, Gainesville, Lake Ridge, Reagan, and Unity
Braxton). Major renovations were also completed at 17 facilities and over $21.9 million in major maintenance and
Title IX projects were completed. Also, lighting, boilers, chillers, and other infrastructure upgrades were completed
at many schools. Additionally, the School Division continues to assess and improve school safety, including multi-
million-dollar enhancements in new school design and upgrades to existing buildings by providing controlled access
entryways.

Projects completed during FY 2023 include an eleven-classroom addition to Gainesville Middle School and a six-
classroom addition to Reagan Middle School, a renovation of Bennett Elementary School, and fenestration
improvements at Osbourn Park High School, Unity Reed High School, and Graham Park Middle School. Scheduled
for completion in FY 2024 include the new construction of Innovation Elementary School and “Woodbridge Area”
Elementary School as well as site-specific projects at Gar-Field High School, Osbourn Park High School, Rippon Middle
School, and Woodbridge High School to install artificial turf, concession buildings, a new track, lighting, and/or
cosmetology lab space. Renovations to the Security Operations Center (Building 19) and the Brentsville
Transportation Center are also slated to be complete in FY 2024.

The School System remains committed to providing a world-class education to its students and is a state leader in
producing better student achievement results at a lower taxpayer cost. As testament to the quality of education
received by students in Prince William County, 87 schools earned Virginia accreditation for the 2022-2023 school
year based on recent performance measures, according to Virginia Department of Education (VDOE). Six schools
received accreditation with conditions and one school is still pending review by VDOE. Schools can achieve academic
benchmarks for each indicator by using their current performance, their pooled three-year average, or by showing
significant improvement over the prior year. Based on their performance, schools are awarded a designation of
accredited, accredited with conditions, or accreditation denied. The School Division's 91.78% on-time graduation
rate for 2021-2022 exceeds both the state and national averages. 40% of Prince William County graduates in 2022-
2023 earned at least one qualifying score on an Advanced Placement, International Baccalaureate, or Cambridge
examination. In addition, 48% of graduates in 2022-2023 earned advanced exam credit or dual enroliment and the
percentage of students meeting or exceeding SAT college readiness benchmarks in 2022-2023 was 53%. In 2022-
2023 there were 1,209 summa cum laude graduates with a class size of 6,091, representing almost 20%. In fact, the
School System’s 2023 graduates were awarded more than $119 million in scholarships. This is an increase of $28
million over the scholarships awarded to the class of 2022 and an 87% increase over 2021.

Environmental Conservation - The County’'s 2021-2024 Strategic Plan promotes the preservation and
@ protection of the natural environment as the foundation for public health, welfare, and quality of life.
The FY 2024 Budget includes increased investment in watershed projects to improve water quality
and stormwater infrastructure. The County's watershed capital projects support the Environmental
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Conservation strategic goal by restoring streams and constructing drainage improvements consistent with state and
federal water quality mandates. The budget also includes funding for a reforestation program to initiate and direct
the transformation of land in response to the loss of forests and increased capacity is included in the budget for
litter control activities and landscaping/beautification throughout the County.

; Sustainable Growth - It is vital that future growth be planned in a sustainable manner while also
éé'”‘?;; preserving the County's rich and diverse cultural history. An important objective in the County's 2021-
‘: : 'i':_'l 2024 Strategic Plan is to promote the sustainable consumption of energy and natural resources to

= ensure the health of current and future generations. The County's FY 2024 Budget provides funding
for an Energy Program Manager to support and implement the Climate Mitigation and Resiliency goals in the
Community Energy and Sustainability Master Plan (CESMP), which was presented to the Board in October 2023. The
CESMP was developed through a collaborate effort of key stakeholders from County departments and input by the
Prince William County Sustainability Commission. The Sustainability Commission membership includes Board
appointed citizens and representatives from the local utilities industry who serve in an ex-officio participant capacity.
On the capital improvement front, the FY 2024-2029 CIP includes investment in the landfill's capital infrastructure to
increase its capacity by more than 35 years while strictly adhering to state and federal environmental regulations.
In addition, members of both the Board of County Supervisors and the School Board voiced support for the need
for collaboration to collectively address sustainability goals and initiatives in Prince William County resulting in the
creation of a Joint Environmental Taskforce (JET) to address sustainability, clean energy opportunities, and
operational resiliency for all government buildings and services, thereby leveraging the assets of the entire county
to reduce the costs of moving toward clean energy options, and herein defines the scope of its mission, membership,
staff support, and reporting timeline.

Transportation & Mobility - Over the years, the County has worked to develop a transportation
system that gets people to work, improves safety, reduces congestion, reduces travel time, and
enhances its economic development efforts. As the population of the region continues to grow, the
County continues to find ways to fund and/or build the needed transportation infrastructure within
the community. Transportation initiatives completed or substantially completed during fiscal year 2023 include the
Balls Ford Road interchange and the Van Buren Road environmental study. The Balls Ford Road interchange project
included the construction of a new diverging diamond interchange at the Route 234 Bypass (Prince William Parkway)
and relocated Balls Ford Road (Route 621). A grade-separated overpass crossing of relocated Balls Ford Road over
Line B of the Norfolk Southern Railroad was also constructed and Balls Ford Road was relocated as a new four-lane
road with a raised median between Devlin Road and Doane Drive. The Van Buren Road environmental study entailed
completing the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) study for the four-lane extension of Van Buren Road
between Route 234 and Cardinal Drive. The NEPA study is a preliminary step in the design and construction of the
Van Buren Road extension.

Prince William County is a member of the Northern Virginia Transportation Authority (NVTA), an authority created
by the General Assembly in 2002. This nine-member authority; made up of the counties of Prince William, Arlington,
Fairfax, and Loudoun as well as the cities of Alexandria, Fairfax, Falls Church, Manassas, and Manassas Park; offers
a common voice for Northern Virginia on transportation and other issues that confront the region. The NVTA is
tasked with preparing an unconstrained long-range regional transportation plan (the most recent is the TransAction
2040 Plan) for Planning District 8, including transportation improvements of regional significance. As a result of fees
and taxes imposed by legislation passed by the General Assembly in April 2013, and amended in 2018, the NVTA
receives earmarked revenue for projects dedicated to relieving congestion in Northern Virginia and participating
jurisdictions are privy to a portion of such revenues. NVTA transportation funding is split into two categories --
projects with regional congestion relief benefits constitute 70 percent of the NVTA funds and the remaining 30
percent of NVTA funds are transferred directly to participating localities for urban or secondary road construction,
capital improvements that reduce congestion, projects included in TransAction 2040 or its future updates and/or for
public transportation purposes. In the fiscal years 2024-2029 CIP, the County's allocated 30 percent funding, totaling
$53.6 million, has been programmed to support NVTA eligible County-managed Road projects. Another $4.9 million

17



is allocated to support VRE commuter rail operations in fiscal year 2024. The County successfully competes for 70
percent funding each year, with over $462.2 million applied to active transportation projects.

Transportation remains a top priority for residents and businesses alike as more than 73 percent of voters approved
a $355 million mobility bond referendum on November 5, 2019. All approved mobility referendum projects (Devlin
Road widening, Minnieville Road/Prince William Parkway interchange, Old Bridge Road/Route 123 intersection, Route
28 Bypass and Summit School Road/Telegraph Road improvements) have funding to complete design. The debt
service to construct these mobility bond projects is planned in the County's Adopted Budget and Five-Year Plan.

The $877.8 million transportation CIP for fiscal years 2024-2029 aims to further advance the transportation &
mobility strategic goals by including $5.7 million for the Balls Ford Road widening project; $20.5 million for Neabsco
Mills Road widening project; $21 million for the new Potomac/Neabsco Mills commuter parking garage; $9.7 million
for the Brentsville Road interchange; $113 million for the University Boulevard interchange and extension; $164.6
million for improvements to Route 1 from Brady's Hill Road to Route 234; $4 million for improvements to Route 1
from Featherstone Road to Mary's Way; $283.2 million for a new Route 28 Bypass; $21.8 million for improvements
to Old Bridge Road and its intersections at Gordon Boulevard and Occoquan Road; $29.5 million for the intersection
of Prince William Parkway and Old Bridge Road; $1 million for sidewalk improvements to Old Bridge Road; $29.1
million for the extension of Summit School Road and widening of Telegraph Road; $63.5 million for the widening of
Devlin Road; $2.9 million for improvements to Fuller Road and Fuller Heights Road; $69.9 million for an interchange
at Minnieville Road and Prince William Parkway; $30.9 million for North Woodbridge mobility improvements at
Annapolis Way and Marina Way; $1.1 million for the Clover Hill Road and Prince William Parkway interchange; $2.4
million for Ellicott Street (Occoquan Greenway Connector); $1.2 million for sidewalk improvements to Sudley Manor
Drive; $1.9 million for a pedestrian bridge over James Madison Highway; and $0.6 million for a right turn lane at
Pageland Lane.

Awards and Acknowledgments

The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) of the United States and Canada awarded a Certificate of
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to Prince William County for its Annual Comprehensive Financial
Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. This was the 42" consecutive year that the County has received this
prestigious award. To earn a Certificate of Achievement, the County must publish an easily readable and efficiently
organized comprehensive annual financial report consistent with GFOA's reporting guidelines. A Certificate of
Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that the FY 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial
Report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program'’s requirements and will be submitted to the GFOA
to determine its eligibility for a certificate as well.

Prince William County received the GFOA's Distinguished Budget Presentation Award for its annual budget for the
fiscal year beginning July 1, 2022. This was the 37" consecutive year that the County has received this prestigious
award. To receive this award, the governmental unit must publish a budget document that meets program criteria
as a policy document, as a financial plan, as an operations guide and as a communications device.

The County also received for the 17t time the GFOA Award for Outstanding Achievement in Popular Annual Financial
Reporting for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. This award program is designed to encourage local governments
to extract information from their Annual Comprehensive Financial Report to produce high quality popular annual
financial reports specifically designed to be readily accessible and easily understandable to the public and other
interested parties without a background in public finance. The fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, report is still pending
review by the GFOA.

Many staff members in the Finance Department’s Financial Reporting and Control Division prepared this report and
we thank them for their efforts. This report satisfies both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable
legal requirements. Staffs’ hard work, professional dedication, and continuing efforts to improve the quality of this
report are a direct benefit to all that read and use it, such as bondholders, the investment community, businesses,
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taxpayers, and grantor agencies. We would also like to acknowledge the cooperation and assistance of the County's
departments and agencies throughout the year in the efficient administration of the County’s financial operations.
This Annual Comprehensive Financial Report reflects the County's commitment to the residents of Prince William
County, the Board of County Supervisors, and the financial community to provide information in conformance with
the highest standards of financial accountability and stewardship.

In Service,

Christopher J. Shorter Michelle L. Attreed
County Executive Chief Financial Officer
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Organization of Prince William County Government

Since 1972, the County has operated under the County Executive form of government, as provided in
Section 15.2-500 et seq. VA Code Ann. The policy-determining body of the County is an eight-member
Board of County Supervisors. Residents in each of the County's seven magisterial districts elect one
member of the Board to serve a term of four years. The eighth member of the Board, elected at-large by
County residents, serves a four-year term as Chair.

The Chair and seven other board members took office in January 2024, following an election held on
November 7, 2023, and serve a four-year term until December 31, 2027.

Chair, At-Large Occoquan District
Deshundra Jefferson Kenny A. Boddye, Vice Chair
Neabsco District Potomac District
Victor S. Angry Andrea O. Bailey
Woodbridge District Brentsville District
Margaret Angela Franklin Tom Gordy
Coles District Gainesville District
Yesli Vega Bob Weir

The Board appoints a County Executive to act as the County government's chief administrative officer.
The County Executive serves at the pleasure of the Board, implements its policies, provides
organizational leadership for addressing major issues, directs business and administrative procedures,
and recommends department heads for appointment by the Board. The Board also appoints a County
Attorney to provide legal guidance to the government.

An eight-member School Board is responsible for the operation of public schools in the County. The
members are elected and serve a term of four years. The Board appropriates funds from the County's
General Fund for the local share of the cost of operating the public schools. Operations of the School
Board, however, are independent of the Board and the County administration as prescribed by Virginia
law. A Superintendent, appointed by the School Board, administers the operations of the County's public
schools.

The Board also appoints the members of several separate boards and authorities to administer the
operations of certain services.

Along with the Board, County residents elect three constitutional officers -- the Clerk of the Circuit Court
for a term of eight years, and the Sheriff and Commonwealth's Attorney each for terms of four years.
The Virginia General Assembly appoints the Judges of the Circuit Court, the General District Court, and
the Juvenile and Domestic Relations District Court. Unlike most other Virginia counties, County residents
do not elect a Treasurer and a Commissioner of the Revenue. The Director of Finance/Chief Financial
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Officer, appointed by the Board based on a recommendation of the County Executive, carries out the
responsibilities of these officers.

The administrative offices of the County are located at the McCoart Administrative Building, One County
Complex Court, Prince William, Virginia, 22192. The County’s central telephone number is (703) 792-6000.
TTY users may call (703) 792-4733 or the Virginia Relay Center at (800) 828-1120. The County's official
home page is located at www.pwcva.gov.
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Report of Independent Auditor

To the Board of County Supervisors
County of Prince William, Virginia

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinions

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of the County of Prince William, Virginia (the “County”), as of and for the year ended June 30,
2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the County’s basic financial
statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented
component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the County, as of June 30,
2023, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America,
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, and the Specifications for Audits of Counties, Cities, and Towns (the
“Specifications”), issued by the Auditor of Public Accounts of the Commonwealth of Virginia. Our responsibilities
under those standards and Specifications are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the County and to meet our
other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation,
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the County’s ability to continue as a going concern
for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise
substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and, therefore, is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government
Auditing Standards, and the Specifications will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they
would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

25



In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards,
and the Specifications we:

¢ Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the County’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

e Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the County’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters that
we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis and the required supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents, be
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management
and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in
an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise
the County’s basic financial statements. The supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents, is
presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used
to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our
opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial
statements as a whole.
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Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information
comprises the Introductory and Statistical Sections but does not include the basic financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not cover the other information, and
we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the basic financial
statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work performed,
we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to describe
it in our report.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 15, 2024, on
our consideration of the County’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that
report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the County’s internal control over
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering County’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

&WM?ZMM

Tysons Corner, Virginia
March 15, 2024
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Prince William County’s 2023 fiscal performance continues to demon-
strate the successful adherence to its Principles of Sound Financial Man-
agement and to achieve the goals defined in the Strategic Plan. This
report provides accountability to the County residents on the goals and
objectives of the Strategic Plan adopted by the Board of County Supervi-
sors. This section of the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report pre-
sents our discussion and analysis of the County’s financial performance
during the fiscal year that ended on June 30, 2023. Please read it in con-
junction with the transmittal letter at the front of this report and the
County’s financial statements, which follow this section. All amounts in
the discussion and analysis, unless otherwise indicated, are expressed in
millions of dollars. Throughout this section of the report, the primary
government is referred to as the “County”, and the “Total Reporting
Entity” is the County and component units combined. Due to the materi-
al relationship between the County and its component units (School
Board and Adult Detention Center), the Total Reporting Entity infor-
mation more accurately reflects the comprehensive financial operations
of Prince William County.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial section of this annual report consists of four parts — Man-
agement’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), the Basic Financial State-
ments, other Required Supplementary Information, and an optional
supplemental information section that presents combining statements
for nonmajor governmental funds, internal service funds, fiduciary
funds, and discretely presented component units; budget and actual
schedules for the nonmajor governmental funds; and debt obligation
schedules. The basic financial statements present different views of the
County:

®  The first two statements are government-wide financial statements
that provide both long-term and short-term information about the
County’s overall financial position.

® The remaining statements are fund financial statements that focus
on individual operations of the County government, reporting in
more detail than the government-wide statements.

— The governmental funds statements reflect how general govern-
ment services, like public safety, are financed in the short-term
as well as what remains for future spending.

— Proprietary fund statements offer short-term and long-term
financial information about the activities the government oper-
ates like businesses, such as the landfill.

— Fiduciary fund statements provide information about the finan-
cial relationships in which the County acts solely as a trustee or
agent for the benefit of others, to whom the resources belong,
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The total reporting entity, which includes component
units, has positive net position of $1,796 at June 30,
2023, which represents an increase of $335 or 22.9
percent from the prior year.

The total cost of the County’s governmental programs
increased by $194, or 12.6 percent, to $1,730 during
fiscal year 2023, while the County’s total revenues
increased $268, up 16.5 percent, to $1,893.

Net position of governmental activities increased to
($32), or 83.6 percent, from ($195) in the prior year.
The County’s total costs in governmental activities
increased $187 or 12.4 percent from prior year, while
program revenues increased by $90 or 26.5% and tax
revenues increased by $99 or 8.0%.

At June 30, 2023, the County had $976 of debt
outstanding, including $846 related to assets recorded
by its component units and other entities. Accordingly,
liabilites and deferred inflows of the County’s
governmental activities at June 30, 2023 exceeded its
assets and deferred outflows by $32 (net deficit).

Total net position of the County’s business-type
activities remained the same as prior year at $72 as
revenues continued to stay at the same pace as
expenses.

At the end of the current year, the unassigned fund
balance was $111, 40.6 percent of the total general
fund revenues. The unassigned fund balance increased
11.9 percent from the prior year. The increase is
primarily attributable to a decrease in general fund
costs during the fiscal year.

General fund revenues exceeded budget by $40;
alternatively, expenditure savings of $57 under budget
helped to provide additional available resources to
fund the County’s reserves in accordance with the
Principles of Sound Financial Management for future
appropriation.

As of January 1, 2023, (the assessment date pertinent
to real estate taxes supporting fiscal year 2024) the
total assessed values of taxable property decreased by
0.1 percent compared to the prior year, with
residential values accounting for 76.1 percent of the
total assessed values. Real estate taxes contributed
45.9 percent of the total revenues for the primary
government of the County during fiscal year 2023.




such as the County’s pension and other post-employment bene- Figure A-1

fit plans; the special welfare program; and the community ser- Required Components of

Prince William County's Annual Comprehensive Financial Report

vices board, and housing federal self-sufficiency payee programs

for certain recipients of welfare, mental health and housing ser-

vices.

The financial statements also include note disclosures that explain some

of the information in the financial statements and provide more de-

tailed data. The statements are followed by a section of required sup-

plementary information that further explains and supports the infor- ,

mation in the financial statements. Figure A-1 shows how the required
parts of this financial section are arranged and related to one another.
In addition to these required elements, the financial statements include
a supplemental information section with combining statements that
provide details about the County’s nonmajor governmental funds, inter-
nal service funds, fiduciary funds and discretely presented component
units, each of which are combined and presented in single columns in

the basic financial statements.

Management's
Discussion and
Analysis

Basic Financial
Statements

Required
Supplementary
Information

Government-Wide
Financial Statements

Fund Financial
Statements

MNotes to the Financial
Statements

Figure A-2 summarizes the major features of the County’s financial

Summary <%

» Detail

statements, including the scope and the types of financial information presented. The remainder of this overview section of management’s dis-

cussion and analysis explains the structure and contents of each of the statements.

Figure A-2

Major Features of the County’s Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

Government-Wide Statements

Entire County government
(except fiduciary funds)

Scope
P and the County’s
component units
 Statement of Net Position
Required
Financial
Statements
 Statement of Activities
Basis of
s . Accrual accounting
Accounting and )
and economic resources
Measurement
measurement focus
Focus

Type of Deferred | All assets and liabilities,
Outflow/Inflow, | both financial and capital,
Asset/Liability | and short-term and long-
Information term

All revenues and expenses

Type of .
Inflow/Outflow during the yez?r, regafdless
. of when cash is received or
Information

paid

Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements provide more detailed information about the County’s most significant funds—not the County as a whole. Funds

Governmental Funds

The activities of the County that
are not proprietary or fiduciary,
such as police, fire, and community
development

¢ Statement of Net Position

* Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund
Balances

Modified accrual basis of
accounting and current financial
resources measurement focus

Only assets expected to be used up
and liabilities that come due during
the year or soon thereafter, no
capital assets included

Revenues for which cash is
received during or soon after the
end of the year; expenditures
when goods or services have been
received and payment is due
during the year or soon thereafter

Fund Statements

Proprietary Funds

Activities the County operates in a
manner similar to private
businesses such as, the Landfill,
Innovation Technology Park, and
Parks & Recreation

¢ Statement of Net Position

* Statement of Revenues, Expenses,
and Changes in Net Position

¢ Statement of Cash Flows

Accrual basis of accounting and
economic resources measurement
focus

All assets and liabilities, both
financial and capital, and short-
term and long-term

All revenues and expenses during
the year, regardless of when cash
is received or paid

Fiduciary Funds

Instances in which the County is
the trustee or agent for someone
else’s resources, such as the
retirement plan for County
employees

¢ Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

» Statement of Changes in Fiduciary
Net Position

Accrual basis of accounting and
economic resources measurement
focus

All assets and liabilities, both short-
term and long-term; the County’s
funds do not currently contain
capital assets although they could

All revenues and expenses during
the year, regardless of when cash
is received or paid

are accounting tools the County establishes to control and manage money for specified purposes (e.g., Streets & Roads capital projects fund) or to

show that it is properly using specific revenues, such as, taxes and grants (e.g., Transportation Districts or Housing special revenue funds).
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The County’s funds are organized into three broad categories:

®  Governmental Funds—Most of the County’s basic services are included in various governmental funds, which focus on:

1) How cash and other financial assets can readily be converted to cash flow in and out; and
2) The balances left at year-end that are available for spending.

Consequently, the financial statements of the governmental funds provide a detailed view that focuses on fiscal accountability and the
financial resources currently available to support the County’s programs in the near future. Because this information does not encompass
the additional long-term focus of the government-wide statements, a detailed reconciliation provides additional information that explains
the relationship (or differences) between the statements.

The County’s governmental fund balances are categorized into five classifications based upon constraints imposed upon the use of the
resources — non-spendable, restricted, committed, assigned and unassigned.

®  Proprietary Funds—Services for which the County charges customers a fee, for the purpose of recovering costs, are generally reported in
proprietary funds.

— The County’s enterprise funds are the same as its business-type activities; but provide more detail and additional information.

— The County uses internal service funds to report activities that provide supplies and services for the County’s other programs and

activities—such as the County’s Intra-County Services Fund.

®  Fiduciary Funds—The County is the trustee, or fiduciary, for its employee’s pension plans. The County is also responsible for other assets
through a trust arrangement that can be used only for the trust beneficiaries. As the fiduciary, the County is responsible for ensuring that the
assets reported in these funds are used for their intended purposes. All of the County’s fiduciary activities are reported in a separate
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position and a Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position. These activities are excluded from the County’s
government-wide financial statements, because the County cannot use these assets to finance its own operations.

Government-Wide Statements

The government-wide statements are derived from the fund financial statements, and report information about the County as a whole using
accounting methods similar to those used by private-sector companies. The Statement of Net Position includes all of the government’s assets and
deferred outflows of resources, as well as its liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. All of the revenues and expenses related to the current
fiscal year are accounted for in the Statement of Activities regardless of when cash is received or paid.

The two government-wide statements report the change in the County’s net position. Net position, the difference between the County’s assets,
deferred outflows, liabilities and deferred inflows, is one way to measure the County’s financial health. Over time, significant increases or
decreases in the County’s net position are an indicator of improving or deteriorating financial health, respectively. To assess the overall health of
the County, one must consider additional factors, such as changes in the County’s property tax base, economic environment, and financial
policies in place to preserve the health of the County during economic downturns.

The government-wide financial statements of the County are divided into three distinct categories:

® Governmental Activities—Most of the County’s basic services are included here, such as police, fire, public works, transportation,

community development, and general government administration. Property and other taxes and state and federal grants are the primary
funding source of these activities. Additionally, the County’s internal service funds, such as, Fleet Management, Construction Crew, and Data
Processing are predominantly used to provide goods and services to the funds and departments of the County and are included in
governmental activities.

®  Business-Type Activities—The County’s Landfill, Innovation Technology Park, and Parks and Recreation enterprise operations comprise the

County’s business-type activities. The County charges fees to customers to cover the costs of these operations.

® Component Units—The County includes two other entities in its report—the Prince William County School Board and the Adult Detention
Center. Although legally separate, these entities are considered to be “discretely presented component units” because the County is
financially accountable for their operations. The financial data of these entities are reported in separate columns from the primary
government in the government-wide financial statements.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNTY’S FUNDS

As noted earlier, the County uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. The Board
adopted its Principles of Sound Financial Management (Principles) in 1988 and amended its Principles in April 2018. Following these Principles
has enhanced the County’s image and credibility with the public, credit rating agencies, and investors. Section 1.02 of the Principles requires a
General Fund unassigned fund balance of 7.5 percent of the current year’s General Fund revenues, a level that has been maintained since 2006.
The purpose of the unassigned fund balance is to provide the County with sufficient working capital, and to maintain a margin of safety to address
emergency needs or unexpected declines in revenue. The County has done an excellent job achieving and maintaining its minimum fund balance

requirement since establishment. Figure A-3

Figure A-3 shows the County’s unassigned General Fund
Unassigned General Fund Balance balance as compared to the policy
$120,000 requirement. Additions to the unassigned fund
balance come from a combination of revenues
$100,000 over projections and current year expenditure
savings.
$80,000
Governmental Funds
560,000 The focus of the County’s governmental funds
is to provide information on near-term inflows,
iy outflows, and balances of expendable
$20,000 resources. Such information is useful in
assessing the County’s financing requirements.
0 In particular, unassigned fund balance may

FY2014 FY2015 FY2016 FY2017 FY2018 FY2019 FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 serve as a useful measure of a government’s
mmmm Unassigned Fund Balance  ==ge==Policy Requirement net resources available for spending at the end
of the fiscal year. As the County completed the
year, its governmental funds reported a combined fund balance of $459, a decrease of $2 with the combined fund balance in the prior year.

® The County’s General Fund balance decreased $18, or 6.3 percent, while revenues increased $158 or 11.9 percent, fueled mainly by
increases in general property and other local taxes. The general property tax increase was due to increases in assessed values of residential
real estate from the prior year, while the increase in other local taxes was mainly due to the food and beverage taxes coming on board in
fiscal year 2023. This increase was offset by higher expenditure increases year over year.

® The Capital Projects Streets & Roads fund balances, which tends to fluctuate from one year to the next due to the accumulation and
subsequent expenditure of funds for major capital improvement projects, increased by $10 or 31.4 percent during the current year due to
the expenditure of funds on numerous projects.

® The financial results as detailed in the governmental funds demonstrate the County’s accountability to its five strategic goal areas of robust
economy; safe and secure community; health, wellbeing and human services; quality education and workforce development; and
environmental conservation; and sustainable growth aligned to address the impact of population growth and increased needs of the
community.

¢ Debt service costs decreased $24 or 14.4 percent during fiscal year 2023 to $144. The County continued its mobility goal of
alleviating congestion by investing $139 in the construction of various streets and roads during fiscal year 2023. Upon completion,
these road projects will be transferred to and become assets of the Commonwealth of Virginia.

¢ The County’s general fund support to the School Board was $677 compared with $554 in the prior year. This represents a 22
percent increase as the County dedicated funding to reduce class sizes.

Proprietary Funds

Unrestricted net position of the Landfill decreased by $32 in fiscal year 2023, due mostly to increases in liabilities of $27. Unrestricted net position
of the nonmajor funds increased $3 with increases in revenues of Innovation Technology Park (Innovation) offset by the increase in personnel and
material and contractual services costs for both Innovation Technology Park Fund and Parks and Recreation Enterprise Fund. See the Statement
of Cash Flows, for the proprietary funds for more detailed information.
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General Fund Budgetary Highlights

Over the course of the year, the Board of County Supervisors revised the County’s budget several times. These budget amendments
predominantly fall into two categories:

®  Amendments to appropriations approved shortly after the beginning of the year to reflect budget re-appropriations from the prior year.

® Increases in appropriations based on supplemental funding sources.

After these adjustments, budgetary expenditures were $57 lower than the final budget amounts and budgetary revenues exceeded the final
budget by more than $40. These two factors, combined with the effect of transfers to other funds, resulted in a decrease in the total fund balance
of the General Fund, of $18 during the fiscal year. The most significant revenue variances were related to other local taxes ($19 higher than final
budget) and general property taxes (514 higher than final budget) resulting from increases in assessed values. Actual expenditures were lower in
all categories, most notably public safety and health and welfare; as the County continued to react to the COVID-19 pandemic and continues its
commitment to spending reductions to prepare for the potential impacts, including possible economic downturn.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNTY AS A WHOLE

Figure A-4
Net Position &

Total Reporting Entity Net Position,

The total reporting entity net position increased from the prior year balance of $1,461
as Restated

by $335 or 22.9 percent to $1,796. 52,000

Governmental Activities 51,800

- s 5335
Net position of the County’s governmental activities increased $163 or 83.6 percent to gL

($32) during the year. The deficit net position of the primary government results largely =~ 3400

from the County’s increased expenditures for the updated compensation policy as well 51,200

as the County issuing debt to finance capital projects, which are donated to other $1,000

entities. Therefore, while the debt is reflected as an obligation of the primary 5800

government of the County, the related assets are recorded by the entities to which the $600

capital projects are donated. These donations are planned as part of the County’s capital 5400

improvement program to further its quality education and workforce development, e

transportation and mobility, safe and secure community, and sustainable growth

strategic goals, and thereby increase services and improve the quality of life in Prince 4 EY2023 FY2022

William County. m Beginning Net Position = Total Change

As of June 30, 2023, the County has $975 of outstanding bonded debt (compared with
$1,026 as of June 30, 2022) of which $912 is related to assets donated to other entities as follows:

®  5829; Prince William County School Board

®  567; Commonwealth of Virginia

®  516; Prince William County Adult Detention Center
This represents 93.5 percent of the County’s total general obligation and other long-term debt. Because the County does not retain ownership of
the related assets which, therefore, are not presented on the County’s Statement of Net Position, this debt liability (less any unspent proceeds)

reduces the County’s total net position and represents a less favorable picture as compared to governments that do not extensively fund the
capital assets of other entities.

Consequently, the debt used to finance the purchase or construction of assets recorded by other entities results in a deficit in net position of
governmental activities of the County. Additionally, as discussed in the analysis of the County’s governmental funds, revenues and expenditures
of the County’s governmental activities increased compared to those of the prior year.
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Table A-1
Net Position
Total Reporting Entity

Business-Type Total Primary (Including Component
Governmental Activities Activities Government Units)

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Current assets and other 3 1,276 1,005 61 50 1,337 1,055 2,142 1,820
Capital assets 746 681 53 53 799 734 2,758 2,639
Total assets 2,022 1,686 114 103 2,136 1,789 4,900 4,459
Deferred outflows of resources 143 168 1 2 144 170 394 453
Other liabilities 306 575 3 4 314 579 1,022 Ti2
Long-term liabilities 1,307 1,295 33 27 1,340 1,322 2,206 2,015
Total liahilities 2,113 1,870 41 31 2,154 1,901 3,228 2,787
Deferred inflows of resources 84 179 1 2 85 181 270 664
Met position:
Met investment in capital assets 669 595 49 48 718 643 2,678 2,595
Restricted 148 136 29 - 177 136 362 328
Unrestricted {849} {926) (5) 24 {854) {902) {1,244) {1,462}
Total net position $ (32) {195) 73 72 41 (123) 1,796 1,461

Business-Type Activities:
The net position of the County’s business-type activities decreased 1.5 percent to $72 in fiscal year 2023 compared to $72 in the prior year.

The $72 net position of the County’s business-type activities is used to offset the net position deficit in governmental activities. The results of
the County’s business-type activities are attributable to the activities discussed in the analysis of the County’s proprietary funds.

The aforementioned factors contributing to changes in the governmental net position and the business-type net position of the County
combined to create an overall increase in net position of the primary government of $164 during fiscal year 2023. The assets and deferred
outflows of resources of the primary government are more than the liabilities and deferred inflows of resources by $41.

The component units (Prince William County School Board and Adult Detention Center) are a significant portion of the total reporting entity,
the assets of which represent 56.42 percent of the total reporting entity. Component unit net position increased 10.8 percent to $1,755 during
2023, with an increase in funding of $2 from the County as well as increased funding from the State of $53. The net position of the primary
government of $41 combined with the net position of the component units of $1,755 resulted in total net position for the total reporting
entity of $1,796.

Changes in Net Position

Table A-2 and the narrative that follows consider the operations of governmental and business-type activities separately. See Figures A-5, A-6
and A-7 for the revenue percentages and net costs for governmental activities.

Revenues for the County’s governmental activities increased by $261 or 16.3 percent to $1,861, and total expenses increased 12.4 percent to
$1,698, which, after considering the effect of transfers, resulted in a $163 increase in net position during the current year, compared to $89
increase in the prior year.

Tax revenues account for 71.5 percent of revenues related to governmental activities (see Figure A-5). Tax revenues increased by $99 or 8.0
percent, driven mainly to an increase in real estate tax revenues from $839 in fiscal year 2022 to $869 in fiscal year 2023. There was a
decrease of 7.5 percent in the total direct tax rate while increased assessed value pushed real estate tax revenues higher during fiscal year
2023. Increased levels of support received from both the state and federal government coupled with gains on investment market values
helped to mitigate the impact of the rising costs of vital services provided by the County. These outcomes are attributable to a more positive
real estate market than the County has experienced over the past few fiscal years, with residential real estate values, which make up 76.1
percent of total assessments. Commercial and industrial values, and apartment real estate values were relatively flat year over year.
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Table A-2
Changes in Met Position

Total Reporting Entity

Business-Type Total Primary (Including Component
Governmental Activities Activities Government Units)
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Program revenues:
Charges for services 5 57 54 31 26 BE BD 118 a8
Operating grants and contributions d 220 160 - - 220 160 527 493
Capital grants and contributions 153 125 - - 153 125 176 125
General revenues:
Taxes:

Real property 869 839 - - B9 839 B9 839

Personal property 229 204 - - 229 204 229 204

Other taxes 233 189 - - 235 189 235 189
Payment from primary government - - - - - - B2% BOE
Grants and contributions not

restricted to specific programs 78 I7 - - 78 T7 655 600
Unrestricted investment [losses) earnings 18 49 - {2 18 {51} 20 {3]
Miscellaneous 5 1 1 1 & 2 15 11
Total revenues 1.862 1,600 32 25 1,894 1.625 3.671 3,299
Expenses:
General government administraticn 138 BB - - 138 BB 138 B2
Judicial administration 33 31 - - 33 31 33 31
Public safety 386 302 - - 386 302 386 302
Public works d 145 o8 23 20 168 118 168 118
Health and welfare 156 140 - - 156 140 156 140
Education 685 B61 - - GBS G61 GBS £61
Parks, recreational, and cultural 36 B8 & 5 42 73 42 73
Community development 7 Fi=] 2 - 79 76 79 76
Interest on long-term debt 43 47 - - 43 a7 43 47
Component units - - - - - - 1,605 1,467
Total expenses 1,699 1,511 31 25 1,730 1,536 3,335 3,003
Excess/{deficiency)in net position

before transfers 163 B9 1 - 164 B9 336 296
Transfers
Increase/{decrease) in net position 163 B9 1 - 164 BO 336 296
MNet position, beginning of year (195} (2B4) 72 72 (123} (212} 1,461 1,165
Met position, end of year (32) (195) 73 72 41 [123) 1,797 1,461

The County generally uses the positive net position to finance the continuing operations of the Landfill, Innovation Technology Park and Parks
and Recreation Enterprise Funds.

The total reporting entity net position increased by $343 in fiscal year 2023. Factors impacting the change in net position include total revenues
of $3,670 (11.2 percent higher than fiscal year 2022) which exceeded total expenses of $3,327, (11.0 percent higher than expenses of the prior
year).

The County’s Primary Government total revenues increased to $1,893 (see Table A-2). Approximately 59 percent of the County’s revenue comes
from ad valorem taxes. The County’s total revenue is divided into three major sources: 70.2 percent of every dollar raised comes from some type
of tax; 23.9 percent of revenues come from federal, state, and local aid; charges for services comprise 4.6 percent and the remaining 1.3 percent
is from other sources.

The total cost of all County programs and services increased by $193 or 12.6 percent to $1,729. The County’s expenses cover a range of services,
with 63.3 percent related to public safety and education (see Table A-2). Quality education, workforce development, and safe and secure
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Figure A-5

M Property taxes, 59.0%

™ Operating grants and contributions, 11.8%

M Charges for services, 3.0%

W Unrestricted investment earnings / (losses), 1.0%

N Othertaxes, 12.5%

Grants and contributions not restricted to spedfic programs, 4 2%
N Capital grants and contributions, 82%
Miscellaneous, 0.3%

Local sales tax revenues produced a 5.9 percent increase from $88 in fiscal year 2022 to $93 in fiscal year 2023 and the implementation of the

food and beverage tax of $41 accounted for nearly all of the increase in ‘Other taxes’ as shown in Table A-2. Operating grants and contributions

increased by 37.5 percent, while capital grants and contributions increased by 22.4 percent. Investment gains incurred in fiscal year 2023 were

$19, up from a loss of $50 in fiscal year 2022.

Education remains the biggest expense for

The School
Board receives 57.23 percent of general

governmental activities.
revenues per the revenue-sharing agree-
ment with the County. The Board of
County Supervisors created the class size
reduction grant to assist the School
Board in complying with maximum class-
sizes permitted under Virginia law. The
grant provided up to one million dollars
in addition to the revenue sharing agree-
ment with the County. Student enroll-
ment as of September 2023, as reported
to the Virginia Department of Education,
for all Prince William County Schools is
89,205 students, decreasing by 1,021
students or 1.0 percent, from fiscal year
2022.

Figure A-6
Net Expenses - Governmental Activities
$(100) S- $100 $200 $300 $400 $500 $S600 $700

General Government

Judicial Administration

Health and Welfare

Education

Parks, Recreational, and Cultural
Community Development

Interest on Long-Term Debt

m FY2023 = FY2022

Net expenses for Public Works were favorable by $29 compared to $31 in fiscal year 2022, with operating grants and contributions revenues out-
pacing expenditures during fiscal year 2023. Education and Parks, Recreation & Cultural agencies both saw reductions in net expenses year over

year. Public Safety and General Government expenses increased year over year due to the County’s compensation policy changes implemented in

fiscal year 2023.
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Figure A-7 Other functions and programs remained relative-

ly consistent with prior year levels. Figures A-6

Net ExPenses - Governmental Activities - and A-7 present the net cost (total cost less fees
Education & Other generated by the activities and intergovernmen-

s $100 $200 $300 5400 $500 $600 $700 tal aid) of each of the County’s nine functions/
programs. The net cost reflects the financial
burden that was placed on the County’s taxpay-

ers by each of these functions.

The cost of all governmental activities this year
was $1,698. Some of the costs were paid by:

dized certain programs with grants and contribu-
tions of $373.

' Other governments and organizations that subsi-

m FY2023 wm FY2022

Those who directly benefited from the programs
by paying charges for services $56.

Business-Type Activities

Revenues of the County’s business-type activities increased by $5 to $32 and expenses of $31, increased by $6 as compared to the prior year
(refer to Table A-2). Factors contributing to these results include:

®  Charges for services of $31, increased for Innovation Technology Park, remained relatively flat for Parks and Recreation and increased slightly
for Landfill.

®  Expenses increased at the same rate as operating revenues, up from $24 in fiscal year 2022 to $31 in fiscal year 2023.

® These conditions contributed to a net income before transfers of $1, a $1 decline from the prior year. The County’s business-type activities
had miscellaneous revenue $1 positive change in net position of $1 during the year.

CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets

At the end of fiscal year 2023, the total reporting

Table A-3
entity had invested $2,757 in a broad range of County's Capital Assets
capital assets, including land, buildings, improve- Total Primary Government Total Reporting Entity
ments, machinery and equipment, library collec- 2023 2022 2023 2022
tions, infrastructure, right-to-use assets and con- Land and Contruction in Progress s 37 a7 a7 413

i . . Buildings and other capital

struction in progress (See Table A-3)' This assets, net of depreciation and amortization 562 517 2,342 2,220
amount represents a net increase (including ad- Total Capital Assets P 709 734 2759 2,639

ditions and deductions) of $118 or 4.5 percent,

over fiscal year 2022. The Primary Government

had invested $798 in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation. Accumulated depreciation remained stable between fiscal year 2023 and
2023.

More detailed information about the County’s capital assets is presented in Note 11 to the financial statements.

Major Capital Asset Additions

This year’s major County capital asset additions included the following:

®  The County’s capital project activities for fiscal year 2023 included $5 expended for building and improvement sites and $2 for equipment.

e The School Board reported capital asset increases of $57, which included decreases to construction in progress projects of $31 for the com-
pletion of construction for Innovation Elementary school, $93 increase in buildings and improvements to sites with the completion of major
renovations at 6 schools, $10 increase in land for the purchase of new building sites, and $3 in vehicles with the replacement of 39 buses and
16 trucks as well as the purchase of 13 additional cars during the fiscal year.

e  The Adult Detention Center (ADC) component unit’s assets had a minimal decrease of $3 with the completion of improvement projects.
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Long Term Debt And Other Obligations

At year-end the County’s governmental activities had total debt and other obligations of $1,438, of which, bonded debt outstanding represent-
ed $975, all of which is backed by the full faith and credit of the government. Of the County’s bonded debt, $55 represents bonds secured solely
by specified revenue sources (i.e., revenue bonds).

The County’s total debt and obligations increased to $1,471 during the current fiscal year. The key components of the current year activities
were the issuance of school-related debt totaling $59, an increase of $11 due to accounting report changes for subscription liabilities principal
retirements of $161 during the fiscal year. More detailed information about the County’s long-term debt is presented in Note 12 to the financial
statements.

Bond Ratings

The County maintained ratings of AAA from Fitch Ratings, Aaa from Moody’s Investors Services and AAA from S&P Global. These ratings are the
highest ratings awarded to a local government and is an achievement held by less than one percent of local governments nationwide. All three
ratings were reconfirmed during fiscal year 2023.

Table A-4
County's Long-Term Debt and Other Obligations

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total Primary Government
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

General obligation bonds:
Tax-exempt bonds s 761 814 - - 761 814
Taxable bonds 160 153 - - 160 153
Revenue tax-exempt bonds 55 59 3 4 58 63
Total bonded debt 976 1,026 3 4 979 1,030
Capital debt obligation 35 45 - - 35 45
Loans payable - - - - - -
Surplus distribution payable 2 2 - - 2 2
Lease liabilities 38 31 - - 38 31
Met pension & OPEE liabilities 210 149 3 2 213 151
Unpaid losses and related liabilities 29 24 - - 29 24
Compensated absences 52 45 - - 32 435
Unamaortized premium 97 106 - - 97 106
Accrued closure liability - - 27 21 27 21
Total long-term debt and other obligations % 1,439 1,428 33 27 1,472 1,455

Limitations on Debt

The County has no legal limitations on the amount of debt it can issue. The Board, however, has adopted certain financial policies limiting the
amount of tax-supported debt to no more than three percent of the assessed value of taxable property; and annual debt service payments to
no more than 10 percent of County revenues. As of June 30, 2023, the amount of tax-supported debt outstanding represented 1.1 percent of
the total assessed valuation of taxable real and personal property of $93 billion at January 1, 2022, which is the valuation date to determine
fiscal year 2023 tax revenues. Annual debt service payments during fiscal year 2022 represented 5.4 percent of total revenues in compliance
with the County’s Principles (as depicted in Figure A-8, below). See Table 14 in the Statistical Section for further explanation of the calculations.
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ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES

The key economic factors affecting the County include the following:

In response to the COVID-19 global pandemic, the federal government made funding available through the American Rescue Plan Act of
2021 (ARPA) to continue to aid localities in their response to the health crisis and economic recovery. Expenditures of this federal
funding are subject to audit by the grantor under the Uniform Guidance, Title 2 of the Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, and the
County is contingently liable to refund amounts received in excess of allowable expenditures. In the opinion of the County’s
management, no material refunds will be required as a result of expenditures disallowed by the grantor. See the results of the Single
Audit in the County’s Compliance Report for further information, which will be issued at a later date.

The County is monitoring the economic impacts of the increasing inflation, having hit a 40-year high in recent months, and the
possibility of a recession on the horizon. The impact of this on property values and associated tax revenues will continue to be
monitored as the budget for the upcoming fiscal year is developed.

The Board of County Supervisors decreased the real estate tax rate to $1.0300 per $100 of assessed value in fiscal year 2023.

The real estate tax base has increased from $74.3 billion supporting fiscal year 2022, to $82.8 billion for fiscal year 2023, which is an

increase of 11.5 percent.

CONTACTING THE COUNTY’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and creditors with a general overview of the County’s
finances and to demonstrate the County’s accountability for the money received. Questions about this report or inquiries for additional
information may be addressed to the Office of the Finance Director, 1 County Complex Court, Prince William, Virginia, 22192-9201 or

financedirectorsoffice@pwcva.gov.
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he Basic Financial Statements include all funds, discretely presented component units and
notes to provide an overview of the financial position and the County’s operationl results as a
whole. They also serve as an introduction to the more detailed statements and schedules
that follow.



COUNTY OF PRINCE WILLIAM, VIRGINIA

Exhibit 1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of Net Position Page 1of2
June 30, 2023
(amounts expressed in thousands)
Primary Government
Governmental Business-Type Component Total
Activities Activities Total Units  Reporting Entity
ASSETS
Equity in pooled cash and investments 1,065,448 27,996 1,093,444 682,150 1,775,594
Cash held by other fiscal agents - - - 2,380 2,380
Investments 27,475 - 27,475 - 27,475
Property taxes receivable, net 18,987 - 18,987 - 18,987
Accounts receivable, net 26,929 391 27,320 3,237 30,557
Lease receivable, current 946 - 946 - 946
Interest receivable 8 - 8 - 8
Internal balances 344 (344) - - -
Due from other governmental units 105,312 99 105,411 52,683 158,094
Due from primary government - - - 17,938 17,938
Notes receivable, current - - - - -
Investment in direct financing leases 2,983 - 2,983 - 2,983
Inventory 697 3,649 4,346 6,940 11,286
Advances and prepaid items 1,253 20 1,273 3 1,276
Lease receivables, noncurrent 2,968 - 2,968 - 2,968
Net OPEB assets 851 - 851 9,143 9,994
Restricted assets:
Temporarily restricted:
Restricted cash and temporary investments 10,968 29,358 40,326 30,042 70,368
Restricted investments 1,250 - 1,250 - 1,250
Water and sewer availability credit 9,400 - 9,400 - 9,400
Capital assets:
Land and construction in progress 204,422 32,561 236,983 179,862 416,845
Buildings and other capital assets, net
of depreciation 542,155 19,738 561,893 1,779,721 2,341,614
Total assets 2,022,396 113,468 2,135,864 2,764,099 4,899,963
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Loss on refundings 22,003 5 22,008 - 22,008
Deferred outflows related to pensions 104,530 1,106 105,636 217,174 322,810
Deferred outflows related to OPEB 16,224 173 16,397 33,223 49,620
Total deferred outflows of resources 142,757 1,284 144,041 250,397 394,438
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 112,314 731 113,045 29,721 142,766
Wages and benefits payable 14,399 178 14,577 132,826 147,403
Due to other funds - - - -
Due to other governmental units 2,179 - 2,179 138 2,317
Due to component units 17,938 - 17,938 - 17,938
Accrued interest 13,178 36 13,214 - 13,214
Deposits and escrows 48,482 28 48,510 - 48,510
Prepaid taxes 346,003 - 346,003 - 346,003
Unearned revenue 118,319 6,200 124,519 14,372 138,891
Retainage 1,689 - 1,689 5,592 7,281
Noncurrent liabilities:
Due within one year 131,736 826 132,562 25,277 157,839
Due in more than one year 1,307,000 32,645 1,339,645 866,081 2,205,726
Total liabilities 2,113,237 40,644 2,153,881 1,074,007 3,227,888
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COUNTY OF PRINCE WILLIAM, VIRGINIA Exhibit 1
Statement of Net Position Page 2 of 2
June 30, 2023

(amounts expressed in thousands)

Primary Government

Governmental Business-Type Component Total
Activities Activities Total Units  Reporting Entity
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to leases 3,901 - 3,901 - 3,901
Deferred inflows related to pensions 68,293 759 69,052 147,239 216,291
Deferred inflows related to OPEB 11,621 95 11,716 38,571 50,287
Total deferred inflows of resources 83,815 854 84,669 185,810 270,479
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 669,445 49,057 718,502 1,959,583 2,706,832 A
Restricted for:
Capital projects - 29,054 29,054 23,533 23,840 A
Net OPEB assets 851 - 851 9,143 9,994
Special levy districts 42,707 - 42,707 - 42,707
Development fee services 13,757 - 13,757 - 13,757
Housing 8,305 - 8,305 - 8,305
Transient occupancy tax 8,572 - 8,572 - 8,572
Grantor's / deed tax 36,709 - 36,709 - 36,709
Internal service fund 10,530 - 10,530 - 10,530
Public safety 4,641 - 4,641 - 4,641
Grants 10,713 - 10,713 - 10,713
Donations 1,635 1,635 - 1,635
Water and sewer availability credit 9,400 - 9,400 - 9,400
Education - - - 152,090 152,090
Unrestricted (849,164) (4,857) (854,021) (389,670) (1,243,691)
Total net position / (deficit) S (31,899) 73,254 41,355 1,754,679 1,796,034

A The sum of the columns does not equal the Total Reporting Entity column by a difference of $851,205 because the debt related to the School Board
(5829,399) and the debt related to the Adult Detention Center ($21,806) is reflected in the primary government's general governmental activities rows
reducing the Net Investment in Capital Assets. The Total Reporting Entity column matches the asset with the debt and reports the net amount in the
component unit on the Net Investment in Capital Assets. The Net Investment in Capital Assets also increased by School Board's unspent bond proceeds of
(528,747) with a corresponding decrease in the Restricted Capital Projects row.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COUNTY OF PRINCE WILLIAM, VIRGINIA
Statement of Activities
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Exhibit 2
Page 1 of 2

(amounts expressed in thousands)

Program Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue

Operating Capital Total Primary Government
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-Type
Functions / Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities
Primary Government:
Governmental activities:
General government administration $ 138,072 1,737 10,846 - (125,489) -
Judicial administration 32,976 1,361 7,140 - (24,475) -
Public safety 386,346 14,239 16,185 11,235 (344,687) -
Public works 144,493 10,354 22,905 141,142 29,908 -
Health and welfare 155,569 1,159 83,822 - (70,588) -
Education 685,309 - 36,094 - (649,215) -
Parks, recreational and cultural 36,130 7,939 1,015 224 (26,952) -
Community development 77,383 19,732 42,777 - (14,874) -
Interest on long-term debt 43,134 - - - (43,134) -
Total governmental activities 1,699,412 56,521 220,784 152,601 (1,269,506) -
Business-type activities:
Public works 23,767 21,713 - 103 - (1,951)
Parks, recreational and cultural 5,975 4,484 - - - (1,491)
Community development 1,529 4,863 - - - 3,334
Total business-type activities 31,271 31,060 - 103 - (108)
Total primary government S 1,730,683 87,581 220,784 152,704 (1,269,506) (108)
Component Units:
School Board S 1,551,715 29,493 289,379 22,737 - -
Adult Detention Center 53,500 903 16,761 - - -
Total component units $ 1,605,215 30,396 306,140 22,737 - -
Total reporting entity S 3,335,898 117,977 526,924 175,441 (1,269,506) (108)
General revenues:
Taxes:
Real property S 868,571 -
Personal property 228,713 -
Local sales 93,246 -
Consumer's utility 15,408 -
Business, professional and occupational licenses (BPOL) 34,636 -
Food and beverage 41,127 -
Recordation 11,138 -
Motor vehicle licenses 12,947 -
Other local taxes 24,893 -
Payments from primary government - -
Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs:
Federal revenues 84 -
State revenues 69,422 -
Local revenues 8,873 -
Investment income 18,346 207
Miscellaneous 5,522 762
Transfers (282) 282
Total general revenues and transfers 1,432,644 1,251
Change in net position 163,138 1,143
NET POSITION, beginning of year (195,037) 72,111
NET POSITION, end of year (31,899) 73,254

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Exhibit 2
Page 2 of 2

and Changes in Net Position

Total Primary

Government
Government Total
Total Component Units Reporting Functions / Programs
Primary Government:
Governmental activities:
(125,489) - (125,489) General government administration
(24,475) - (24,475) Judicial administration
(344,687) - (344,687) Public safety
29,908 - 29,908 Public works
(70,588) - (70,588) Health and welfare
(649,215) - (649,215)  Education
(26,952) - (26,952) Parks, recreational and cultural
(14,874) - (14,874) Community development
(43,134) - (43,134) Interest on long-term debt
(1,269,506) - (1,269,506) Total governmental activities
Business-type activities:
(1,951) - (1,951) Public works
(1,491) - (1,491) Parks, recreational and cultural
3,334 - 3,334 Community development
(108) - (108) Total business-type activities

(1,269,614)

(1,269,614) Total primary government

Component Units:

- (1,210,106) (1,210,106) School Board
- (35,836) (35,836) Adult Detention Center
- (1,245,942) (1,245,942) Total component units

(1,269,614)

(1,245,942)

(2,515,556) Total reporting entity

General revenues:
Taxes:

868,571 - 868,571 Real property
228,713 - 228,713 Personal property
93,246 - 93,246 Local sales
15,408 - 15,408 Consumer's utility
34,636 - 34,636 Business, professional and occupational licenses (BPOL)
41,127 - 41,127 Food and beverage
11,138 - 11,138 Recordation
12,947 - 12,947 Motor vehicle licenses
24,893 - 24,893 Other local taxes
- 828,394 828,394 Payments from primary government
Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs:
84 974 1,058 Federal revenues
69,422 569,629 639,051 State revenues
8,873 5,848 14,721 Local revenues
18,553 2,326 20,879 Investmentincome
6,284 9,424 15,708 Miscellaneous
- - - Transfers
1,433,895 1,416,595 2,850,490 Total general revenues and transfers
164,281 170,653 334,934 Change in net position
(122,926) 1,584,026 1,461,100 NET POSITION, beginning of year
41,355 1,754,679 1,796,034 NET POSITION, end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COUNTY OF PRINCE WILLIAM, VIRGINIA Exhibit 3
Governmental Funds
Balance Sheet
June 30, 2023
(amounts expressed in thousands)
Capital Projects
Fund
Nonmajor Total
Streets & Governmental Governmental
General Fund Roads Funds Funds
ASSETS
Equity in pooled cash and investments $ 786,763 38,620 193,712 1,019,095
Restricted cash and temporary investments 21 219 1,448 1,688
Property taxes receivable, net 17,845 - 1,142 18,987
Accounts receivable, net 15,749 541 5,261 21,551
Due from other funds 344 - - 344
Due from other governmental units 25,605 77,602 1,686 104,893
Investment in direct financing leases 2,983 - - 2,983
Inventory 269 - 19 288
Advances and prepaid items - - 4 4
Total assets S 849,579 116,982 203,272 1,169,833
LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND FUND
BALANCE
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 86,176 14,853 7,339 108,368
Wages and benefits payable 13,671 - 469 14,140
Due to other governmental units 417 1,732 30 2,179
Deposits and escrows 48,439 - 43 48,482
Prepaid taxes 320,153 - 25,851 346,004
Unearned revenue 97,933 - 20,386 118,319
Retainage 21 220 1,448 1,689
Total liabilities 566,810 16,805 55,566 639,181
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to unavailable taxes 7,529 - 554 8,083
Deferred inflows related to unavailable settlements - - 3,135 3,135
Deferred inflows related to unavailable transportation revenues - 57,881 - 57,881
Deferred inflows related to direct financing arrangements 2,690 - - 2,690
Total deferred inflows of resources 10,219 57,881 3,689 71,789
FUND BALANCES
Non-spendable 269 - 23 292
Restricted 11,200 - 116,284 127,484
Committed 123,142 42,296 28,286 193,724
Assigned 27,152 - - 27,152
Unassigned 110,788 - (576) 110,212
Total fund balances 272,551 42,296 144,017 458,864
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and
fund balances $ 849,580 116,982 203,272 1,169,834

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COUNTY OF PRINCE WILLIAM, VIRGINIA

Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2023
(amounts expressed in thousands)

Exhibit 4

Fund balances--total governmental funds (Exhibit 3)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position (Exhibit 1) are
different because:
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization, used in governmental
activities are not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds (excludes
$11,388, related to Internal Service Fund assets, which is included in Internal Service Fund
net position below).

Deferred outflows of resources are not financial resources and, therefore, are not
reported in the funds:
Deferred loss on refundings
Deferred outflows related to pensions (excludes $3,630 related to Internal Service Fund)
Deferred outflows related to OPEB (excludes $507 related to Internal Service Fund)

Deferred inflows of resources are not available to pay for current-period expenditures:
Deferred inflows related to unavailable transportation revenues
Deferred inflows related to unavailable settlements
Deferred inflows related to unavailable taxes
Deferred inflows related to direct financing arrangements
Deferred inflows related to leases
Deferred inflows related to pensions (excludes $2,490 related to Internal Service Fund)
Deferred inflows related to OPEBs (excludes $273 related to Internal Service Fund)

Internal Service Funds are used by management to charge costs of certain activities such as
insurance, fleet operations, and data processing to individual funds. The assets anc
liabilities of the Internal Service Funds are included in governmental activities in the
Statement of Net Position. (Exhibit 7)

Interest on long-term debt is not accrued in governmental funds, but rather, is recognizec
as an expenditure when due (excluding $115 related to Internal Service Fund’

Sewer and water availability credits were not recognized in the governmental funds, but rather,
are recognized as an expenditure when used.

Assets are not due in the current period, and, therefore, are not reported in the funds
Lease receivables
Net OPEB assets

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current perioc
and, therefore, are not reported in the funds (Note 10):
Other long-term obligations (excludes $7,460 related to Internal Service Fund)
Bonds payable
School bonds payable
Capital debt liabilities
Lease liabilities
Software subscription liabilities (excludes $3,834 related to Internal Service Fund)
Compensated absences (excludes $2,066 related to Internal Service Fund)
Operating settlement - School Board
Premiums on bonds issued

Total long-term liabilities

Net position of governmental activities (Exhibit 1)

54,589

(13,064)

9,400

3,922
851

(202,283)
(146,787)
(829,398)
(34,475)
(29,374)
(3,715)
(50,122)
(17,938)
(96,915)

458,864

735,189

22,003
100,900
15,717

57,881
3,135
8,083
2,690

(3,901)

(65,803)

(11,348)

(1,355,309)

(31,899)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COUNTY OF PRINCE WILLIAM, VIRGINIA Exhibit 5
Governmental Funds
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023
(amounts expressed in thousands)
Capital Projects
Fund
Nonmajor Total
General Streets & Governmental Governmental
Fund Roads Funds Funds
REVENUES:
General property taxes 1,024,681 - 69,169 1,093,850
Other local taxes 224,859 - 8,537 233,396
Permits, privilege fees and regulatory licenses 1,951 - 22,977 24,928
Fines and forfeitures 1,927 - - 1,927
From use of money and property 4,271 (358) 1,506 5,419
Charges for services 12,069 - 17,597 29,666
Intergovernmental revenues:
Federal 35,296 19,069 92,379 146,744
State 147,031 43,222 8,960 199,213
Local 8,873 75,194 - 84,067
Donations 10,903 - 12 10,915
Miscellaneous 5,307 1,265 2,503 9,075
Total revenues 1,477,168 138,392 223,640 1,839,200
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
General government administration 96,847 - 8,708 105,555
Judicial administration 34,035 - - 34,035
Public safety 308,193 - 48,232 356,425
Public works 7,141 - 434 7,575
Health and welfare 150,524 - 6,840 157,364
Education 677,245 - - 677,245
Parks, recreational and cultural 64,325 - - 64,325
Community development 11,497 - 56,841 68,338
Debt service:
Principal retirement 102,575 - - 102,575
Interest and other debt costs 41,340 - - 41,340
Capital outlays - 139,448 133,213 272,661
Total expenditures 1,493,722 139,448 254,268 1,887,438
Deficiency of revenues under expenditures (16,554) (1,056) (30,628) (48,238)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers in 57,654 27,635 30,587 115,876
Transfers out (59,810) (16,456) (38,379) (114,645)
Issuance of debt - - 42,400 42,400
Premium on debt - - 2,409 2,409
Insurance claims and recoveries 17 - - 17
Sale of surplus property 196 - 58 254
Total other financing sources (uses), net (1,943) 11,179 37,075 46,311
Net change in fund balances (18,497) 10,123 6,447 (1,927)
FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 291,048 32,173 137,570 460,791
FUND BALANCE/(DEFICIT), end of year 272,551 42,296 144,017 458,864

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COUNTY OF PRINCE WILLIAM, VIRGINIA

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes
in Fund Balance of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

(amounts expressed in thousands)

Exhibit 6
Page 1of 2

Net change in fund balances--total governmental funds (Exhibit 5)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities (Exhibit 2) are different
because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures while governmental activities report
depreciation expense to allocate those expenditures over the life of the assets:
Add capital acquisitions (excludes $385 related to assets included in Internal Service Fund
Add donated infrastructure for public works
Add donated equipment for parks, recreation and cultural
Subtract depreciation and amortization (excludes ($3,205) related to assets included
in Internal Service Fund net position below)

In the Statement of Activities, only the gain / (loss) on capital assets is reported, while in the
governmental funds, the proceeds from the sale increase financial resources. Thus, the change
in net position differs from the change in fund balance by the net book value of the capital
asset disposal.

Revenues in the Statement of Activities that do not provide current financial resources are
not reported as revenues in the Funds:

Add revenues recognized for the water and sewer availability credits refunded
Add amortized premiums

Add current year's long-term lease receivables (Note 6)
Subtract prior year's long-term lease receivables

Add current year's deferred inflows related to direct financing arrangements
Subtract prior year's deferred inflows related to direct financing arrangements

Add current year's deferred inflows related to unavailable transportation revenue
Subtract prior year's deferred inflows related to unavailable transportation revenue

Add current year's deferred inflows related to uncollectible tax billings (Note 3)
Subtract prior year's deferred inflows related to uncollectible tax billings
Add current year's deferred inflows related to unavailable settlements

Bond proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but issuing debt increases
long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. Repayment of bond principal is an expenditure
in the governmental funds, but the repayments reduce long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net
Position. Also, governmental funds report the effect of premiums, discounts and similar items when
debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized in the statement of activities
(Note 12):

Add debt principal repayment

Subtract premium

Subtract issuance of debt

103,932
1,411
224

(48,018)

3,922
(548)

2,690
(3,850)

57,881
(56,014)

8,083
(4,650)

102,575
(2,409)
(42,400)

(1,927)

57,549

(252)

377

11,458

3,374

(1,160)

1,867

3,433
3,135

57,766



COUNTY OF PRINCE WILLIAM, VIRGINIA Exhibit 6
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes Page 2 of 2
in Fund Balance of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023
(amounts expressed in thousands)
Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current
financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds:
Lease interest expense (205)
Software subscription interest expense (excludes $8,890 related to Internal Service Fund) (74)
Amortized bond refunding losses (2,978)
Add prior year lease liabilities 30,732
Subtract current year's lease liabilities (29,374) 1,358
Add prior year's subscription liabilities, restated (excludes $7,165 for Internal Service Fund) 4,309
Subtract current year's subscription liabilities (excludes $5,322 for Internal Service Fund) (3,716) 593
Add prior year operating settlement - School Board 54,513
Subtract current year's operating settlement - School Board (17,938) 36,575
Add prior year deferred inflows related to leases 552
Subtract current year's deferred inflows related to leases (3,901) (3,349)
Add prior year's net pension accruals (excludes $5,260 for Internal Service Fund) 127,827
Subtract current year's net pension accruals (excludes $4,563 for Internal Service Fund) (121,915) 5,912
Add prior year's net OPEB accrual (excludes $1,612 for Internal Service Fund) 40,341
Subtract current year's net OPEB accrual (excludes $1,523 for Internal Service Fund) (40,046) 295
Add prior year's accrued interest liability 14,541
Subtract current year's accrued interest liability (13,063) 1,478
Add prior year's compensated absences liability (excludes $2,036 for Internal Service Fund) 43,133
Subtract current year's compensated absences liability (excludes $2,066 for Internal
Service Fund) (50,122) (6,989)
Internal Services funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain services to individual
funds. The net revenue / (expense) of the internal service funds are reported with governmental
activities:
Add Internal Service Fund's change in net position (Exhibit 8) (5,098)
Change in net position of governmental activities (Exhibit 2) 163,138



COUNTY OF PRINCE WILLIAM, VIRGINIA Exhibit 7
Proprietary Funds Page 1 of 2
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2023
(amounts expressed in thousands)
Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds Governmental
Activities -
Nonmajor Internal Service
Landfill Funds Total Funds
ASSETS
Current assets:
Equity in pooled cash and investments 12,875 15,121 27,996 46,352
Restricted cash and temporary investments 29,054 304 29,358 9,280
Investments - - - 27,475
Accounts receivable, net 309 82 391 5,378
Due from other governmental units 99 - 99 419
Inventory 14 3,635 3,649 408
Advances and prepaid items - 20 20 1,249
Total current assets 42,351 19,162 61,513 90,561
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted investments - - - 1,250
Capital assets:
Land and construction in progress 28,911 3,650 32,561 440
Buildings and other capital assets,
net of depreciation 18,615 1,123 19,738 10,948
Total noncurrent assets 47,526 4,773 52,299 12,638
Total assets 89,877 23,935 113,812 103,199
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Loss on refunding - 5 5 -
Deferred outflows related to pensions 1,042 64 1,106 3,630
Deferred outflows related to OPEB 162 11 173 507
Total deferred outflows of resources 1,204 80 1,284 4,137
91,081
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 551 180 731 3,944
Wages and benefits payable 73 105 178 259
Due to other funds - 344 344 -
Accrued interest - 36 36 115
Subscription liabilities - - - 1,488
Deposits and escrows - 28 28 -
Unearned revenues 5,958 242 6,200 -
Unpaid losses, related liabilities and IBNR - - - 7,036
Current portion of surplus distributions payable - - - 225
Current portion of bonds payable - 700 700 -
Current portion of bond premiums - 97 97 -
Current portion of compensated absences 28 1 29 147
Total current liabilities 6,610 1,733 8,343 13,214

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COUNTY OF PRINCE WILLIAM, VIRGINIA Exhibit 7
Proprietary Funds Page 2 of 2
Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2023

(amounts expressed in thousands)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds Governmental
Activities -
Nonmajor Internal Service
Landfill Funds Total Funds
Noncurrent liabilities:
Accrued closure liability 27,444 - 27,444 -
Subscription liabilities - - - 3,834
Unpaid losses, related liabilities and IBNR - - - 22,127
Surplus distributions payable - - - 1,430
Bonds payable, net of current portion - 2,160 2,160 -
Bond premiums, net of current portion - 290 290 -
Net pension liabilities 1,638 101 1,739 5,703
Net OPEB liabilities 591 39 630 1,757
Compensated absences 372 10 382 1,919
Total noncurrent liabilities 30,045 2,600 32,645 36,770
Total liabilities 36,655 4,333 40,988 49,984
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to pensions 715 44 759 2,490
Deferred inflows related to OPEB 89 6 95 273
Total deferred inflows of resources 804 50 854 2,763
NET POSITION
Net investments in capital assets 47,526 1,531 49,057 11,388
Restricted 29,054 - 29,054 10,530
Unrestricted (22,958) 18,101 (4,857) 32,671
Total net position S 53,622 19,632 73,254 54,589

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COUNTY OF PRINCE WILLIAM, VIRGINIA Exhibit 8
Proprietary Funds

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

(amounts expressed in thousands)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds Governmental
Activities -
Nonmajor Internal Service
Landfill Funds Total Funds
OPERATING REVENUES:
Charges for services 21,713 9,347 31,060 133,068
Intergovernmental revenues:
Federal 12 - 12 -
State 91 - 91 -
Miscellaneous 762 - 762 5,590
Total operating revenues 22,578 9,347 31,925 138,658
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Personnel expenses 5,218 1,459 6,677 17,018
Contractual services 5,645 4,008 9,653 30,456
Materials / supplies 4,023 848 4,871 10,292
Depreciation and amortization 2,061 152 2,213 3,205
Costs from sale of land - 839 839 -
Closure expenses 6,451 - 6,451 -
Claims and premiums - - - 65,663
OPEB costs - - - 5,067
Losses and loss adjustment expenses - - - 11,050
Other 290 45 335 827
Total operating expenses 23,688 7,351 31,039 143,578
Operating income / (losses) (1,110) 1,996 886 (4,920)
NON-OPERATING REVENUES / (EXPENSES):
Interest income and investment losses 60 147 207 1,444
Interest and other debt costs - (153) (153) (123)
Gain on sale of capital assets (79) - (79) 14
Total non-operating revenues / (expenses) (19) (6) (25) 1,335
Income / (loss) before transfers (1,129) 1,990 861 (3,585)
TRANSFERS:
Transfers in 63 1,722 1,785 1,483
Transfers out (1,503) - (1,503) (2,996)
Total transfers, net (1,440) 1,722 282 (1,513)
Change in net position (2,569) 3,712 1,143 (5,098)
NET POSITION, beginning of the year 56,191 15,920 72,111 59,687
NET POSITION, end of the year 53,622 19,632 73,254 54,589

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COUNTY OF PRINCE WILLIAM, VIRGINIA Exhibit 9
Proprietary Funds Page 1 of 2
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023
(amounts expressed in thousands)
Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds Governmental
Activities -
Nonmajor Internal
Landfill Funds Total Service Funds
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Cash received from customers 26,357 9,477 35,834 133,007
Cash received / (paid) from / (to) other entities 878 - 878 5,928
Payments for claims and premiums - - - (76,448)
Payments to suppliers for goods and services (10,345) (4,679) (15,024) (44,021)
Payments to employees for services (5,811) (1,497) (7,308) (18,207)
Payments of closure expenses (24) - (24) -
Net cash provided by / (used) by operating activities 11,055 3,301 14,356 259
CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from notes receivable 174 - 174 -
Transfers in 63 1,722 1,785 1,483
Transfers out (1,503) - (1,503) (2,991)
Net cash provided / (used) by non-capital financing
activities (1,266) 1,722 456 (1,508)
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING
ACTIVITIES:
Acquisition of capital assets - (120) (120) (390)
Proceeds from the sale of capital assets (2,048) - (2,048) 14
Principal paid on bonds, leases, subscriptions, and
other debt - (665) (665) (1,843)
Interest paid on bonds, leases, subscriptions, and other
debt costs - (257) (257) (8)
Net cash provided / (used) by capital and related
financing activities (2,048) (1,042) (3,090) (2,227)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from maturities of investments - - - 45
Purchases of investments - - - (1,815)
Interest and dividends received on investments 118 116 234 1,543
Net cash used by investing activities 118 116 234 (227)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 7,859 4,097 11,956 (3,703)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of year 34,070 11,328 45,398 59,335
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of year 41,929 15,425 57,354 55,632

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COUNTY OF PRINCE WILLIAM, VIRGINIA Exhibit 9
Proprietary Funds Page 2 of 2
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023
(amounts expressed in thousands)
Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds Governmental
Activities -
Nonmajor Internal
Landfill Funds Total Service Funds
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH
PROVIDED / (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operating income (1,110) 1,996 886 (4,920)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 2,061 152 2,213 3,205
Change in assets:
(Increase) / decrease in:
Accounts receivable (124) 98 (26) 107
Due from other governmental units 13 - 13 170
Inventory (4) 827 823 (69)
Change in deferred outflows of resources:
(Increase) / decrease in:
Loss on refunding - 1 1 -
Deferred outflows related to pensions 446 19 465 1,158
Deferred outflows related to OPEB 66 - 66 138
Change in liabilities:
Increase / (decrease) in:
Accounts payable and personnel costs (565) (142) (707) (1,870)
Due to other funds - 344 344 -
Unearned revenues 4,768 32 4,800 -
Accrued closure liability 6,427 - 6,427 -
Unpaid losses, related liabilities and IBNR - - - 5,131
Other noncurrent liabilities 387 41 428 1,903
Change in deferred inflows of resources:
Increase / (decrease) in:
Deferred inflows related to pensions (1,252) (66) (1,318) (3,838)
Deferred inflows related to OPEB (58) (2) (59) (147)
Total adjustments 12,165 1,305 13,470 5,179
Net cash provided by / (used) by operating activities 11,055 3,301 14,356 259

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
53




COUNTY OF PRINCE WILLIAM, VIRGINIA Exhibit 10
Fiduciary Funds

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

June 30, 2023

(amounts expressed in thousands)

Other
Post-Employment
Benefits
(OPEB) and Pension Custodial
Trust Funds Funds
ASSETS
Equity in pooled cash and investments S - 540
Cash held by other fiscal agents - 74
Restricted cash 1,441 -
Accounts receivable, net 87 2
Restricted investments:
Money market mutual funds 1,409 -
Equity investments 108,611 -
Real asset investments 6,054 -
Fixed income investments 60,308 -
Diversified investments 2,433 -
Life insurance annuity 22,245 -
Total investments 201,060 -
Total assets 202,588 616
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 4,835 6
Escrow and deposits - 456
Total liabilities 4,835 462
NET POSITION
Net position restricted for pensions 77,846 -
Net position restricted for OPEB 119,907 -
Net position restricted for other purposes - 154
Total net position S 197,753 154

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COUNTY OF PRINCE WILLIAM, VIRGINIA Exhibit 11
Fiduciary Funds
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023
(amounts expressed in thousands)
Other
Post-Employment
Benefits
(OPEB) and Pension Custodial
Trust Funds Funds
ADDITIONS
Contributions:
Member S 2,029 -
Employer 10,136 -
Total contributions 12,165 -
Collections on behalf of individuals for programs - 492
Sales taxes collected for other governments - 817
Investment loss:
Interest and dividends 5,533 6
Net depreciation in fair value of investments 9,316 -
Total investment loss 14,849 6
Less: investment expenses (316) -
Net investment loss 14,533 6
Total additions / (loss) 26,698 1,315
DEDUCTIONS
Pension and OPEB payments 8,667 -
Refund of members' contributions 269 -
Administrative expenses 278 -
Payments on behalf of individuals for programs - 544
Payments of sales taxes to other governments - 817
Miscellaneous expenses - 5
Total deductions 9,214 1,366
Change in net position 17,484 (51)
NET POSITION, beginning of year 180,269 205
NET POSITION, end of year S 197,753 154

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COUNTY OF PRINCE WILLIAM, VIRGINIA Exhibit 12
Component Units Page 1 of 2
Combining Balance Sheet
June 30, 2023
(amounts expressed in thousands)
Prince William Adult
County School Detention
Board Center Total
ASSETS
Equity in pooled cash and investments 662,472 19,678 682,150
Cash held by other fiscal agents - 2,380 2,380
Accounts receivable, net 3,226 11 3,237
Due from other governmental units 51,629 1,054 52,683
Due from primary government 17,938 - 17,938
Inventory 6,940 - 6,940
Advances and prepaid items 3 - 3
Net OPEB assets 8,969 174 9,143
Restricted assets:
Restricted cash and temporary investments 30,042 - 30,042
Capital assets:
Land and construction in progress 179,862 - 179,862
Buildings and other capital assets, net of depreciation 1,683,771 95,950 1,779,721
Total assets 2,644,852 119,247 2,764,099
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows related to pensions 208,409 8,765 217,174
Deferred outflows related to OPEB 31,583 1,640 33,223
Total deferred outflows of resources 239,992 10,405 250,397
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 28,400 1,321 29,721
Wages and benefits payable 132,252 574 132,826
Due to other governmental untis 138 - 138
Unearned revenues 14,372 - 14,372
Retainage 5,592 - 5,592
Noncurrent liabilities:
Due within one year 24,941 336 25,277
Due in more than one year 845,625 20,456 866,081
Total liabilities 1,051,320 22,687 1,074,007
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to pensions 141,611 5,628 147,239
Deferred inflows related to OPEB 37,097 1,474 38,571
Total deferred inflows of resources 178,708 7,102 185,810

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COUNTY OF PRINCE WILLIAM, VIRGINIA Exhibit 12
Component Units Page 2 of 2
Combining Balance Sheet
June 30, 2023
(amounts expressed in thousands)
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 1,863,633 95,950 1,959,583
Restricted for:
Capital projects 23,533 - 23,533
Food and nutrition services 83,936 - 83,936
Grants 56,753 - 56,753
Student activities 10,038 - 10,038
Other purposes 10,506 - 10,506
Unrestricted (393,583) 3,913 (389,670)
Total net position 1,654,816 99,863 1,754,679

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COUNTY OF PRINCE WILLIAM, VIRGINIA
Component Units

Combining Statement of Activities

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023
(amounts expressed in thousands)

Exhibit 13
Page 1 of 2

Program Revenues

Charges for

Operating
Grants and

Capital Grants
and

Functions / Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions
School Board:
Instruction S 982,466 2,700 238,830 126
Support services 560,697 25,221 45,558 22,611
Interest on long-term debt 555 - - -
Business-type activities 2,621 1,572 - -
Education foundation 5,376 - 4,991 -
School Board Total 1,551,715 29,493 289,379 22,737
Adult Detention Center 53,500 903 16,761 -
Total component units S 1,605,215 30,396 306,140 22,737

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Exhibit 13
Page 2 of 2

Net (Expense) / Revenue and Changes in Net Position

Adult
School Detention
Board Center Total Functions / Programs
School Board
(740,810) - (740,810) Instruction
(467,307) - (467,307) Support services
(555) - (555) Interest on long-term debt
(1,049) - (1,049) Business-type activities
(385) - (385) Education foundation
(1,210,106) - (1,210,106) School Board Total
- (35,836) (35,836) Adult Detention Center
(1,210,106) (35,836) (1,245,942) Total component units
General revenues:
797,629 30,765 828,394 Payment from primary government
974 - 974  Federal revenues
569,629 - 569,629 State revenues
- 5,848 5,848 Local revenues
2,219 107 2,326 Investment earnings
9,382 42 9,424  Miscellaneous
1,379,833 36,762 1,416,595 Total general revenues
169,727 926 170,653 Change in net position
1,485,089 98,937 1,584,026 NET POSITION, beginning of year
1,654,816 99,863 1,754,679 NET POSITION - end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS JUNE 30, 2023
(amounts expressed in thousands, except percentages, ratios and years)

The County of Prince William, Virginia (County) prepares its financial statements, commonly known as the Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report (ACFR), in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP). The Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the standard-setting body for governmental accounting and financial reporting. The accounting
and financial reporting framework and significant accounting principles and practices utilized by the County are discussed in
subsequent sections of this note. The remaining notes are organized to provide explanations, including required disclosures, of the
County’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023.

A. Principles Used to Determine the Reporting Entity

The County is organized under the County Executive form of government, as provided for by Commonwealth of Virginia (the
Commonwealth) law. Under this form of government, the policies concerning the financial and business affairs of the County are
determined by the Board of County Supervisors (Board). The Board is composed of eight elected members who serve four-year terms.
The Board appoints a County Executive who is the government’s chief administrative officer and executes the Board’s policies and
programs. The accompanying financial statements include the County’s primary government and component units over which the
County is financially accountable. Financial accountability is based primarily on operational or financial benefit/burden relationships
with the County (as distinct from legal relationships).

Due to restrictions of the State Constitution relating to the issuance of municipal debt, the County created public trusts to finance
County services with revenue bonds or other non-general obligation financing. Financing services provided by these public trusts are
solely for the benefit of the County. Public trusts created to provide financing services are blended into the County’s primary
government although retaining separate legal identity. Component units that do not meet the criteria for blending are reported
discretely.

Illustration 1-1 illustrates potential component units and the reporting method in the County’s ACFR.

Illustration 1-1
Potential Component Units

The following are blended component units included due to a financial benefit / burden relationship where the two Boards
are substantially the same:

Prince William Parkway Exercise the powers and duties enumerated in the Code of Virginia related to the
District transportation improvement district.
Authorized by the Code of Virginia and established by Board resolution. Set the appropriate
Route 234 Bypass District tax rate to fund improvements within the district and act on transportation matters within
the district.

The following separate legal entities are blended component units as the County has a financial benefit/burden relationship,
a majority of the Board is appointed by the County, and it is an integral part of the County's operations:

Self-Insurance Group Authorized by the Code of Virginia and licensed by the State Corporation Commission. Make
Workers’ Compensation available a long-term, stable source of cost-effective workers’ compensation insurance
Association protection for participating members.

Authorized by the Code of Virginia and licensed by the State Corporation Commission. Make
available a long-term, stable source of cost-effective casualty insurance protection for
participating members.

Self-Insurance Group
Casualty Pool

Prince William Self-Insurance Group Workers’ Compensation Association and the Prince William Self-Insurance Group Casualty
Pool, issue separately audited financial statements. Copies of these financial statements may be obtained by writing to the Prince
William County Finance Department, Office of Risk & Wellness Services, 4360 Ridgewood Center Drive, Suite 201, Prince William,
Virginia 22192.

(Amounts expressed in thousands)
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lllustration 1-1 (cont’d)
Potential Component Units

The following are discretely presented component units that are separate legal entities from the County where the County
can impose its will through the approval of each component unit's budget:

Authorized by the Code of Virginia and established by Board resolution to provide
educational services to the County's citizens. The School Board cannot issue bonded debt
and receives a large portion of its operating funds from the County. The County make
policies governing the school division.

School Board

The School Board issues separately audited financial statements. Copies of these financial statements may be obtained by writing
to the School Board’s Finance Division, P.O. Box 389, Manassas, Virginia 20118.

Authorized by the Code of Virginia. Establish policy for operation of Prince William County-
Adult Detention Center (ADC) Manassas regional adult detention center, providing care and confinement for County and
adjoining city prisoners.

The Adult Detention Center, a discretely presented component unit of the County, does not issue separately audited financial
statements.

The following are jointly governed organizations where none of the inclusion criteria have been met:

Agreement between the five northern Virginia jurisdictions (Prince William County, Fairfax
District Home Board County, Loudoun County, Fauquier County and City of Alexandria) pursuant to the Code of
Virginia. Establishes policy for operations of two district homes.

Board resolution created a commission for the operation of a nursing home pursuant to
Northern Virginia Health the Code of Virginia. Develops and establishes policies for the operation of a nursing home.
Center Commission Service agreement between five northern Virginia jurisdictions (Prince William County,
Fairfax County, Loudoun County, Fauquier County and City of Alexandria).

Agreement between Prince William County School Division and the Cities of Manassas and
Manassas Park to foster cooperation in the development and delivery of special education
programs and other appropriate educational services.

Northern Virginia Special
Education Regional Program

Agreement between Prince William County School Division and the Cities of Manassas and
Manassas Park to deliver an advanced and intensive program in science, technology,
engineering, and mathematics (STEM) for selected high school juniors and seniors.

Governor’s School
@Innovation Park

Agreement between Prince William County and the City of Manassas for the establishment

Manassas Regional Airport . . .
and operation of a regional airport.

The following are related organizations where none of the inclusion criteria have been met (see Note 19):

Authorized by the Code of Virginia and established by Board resolution. Promotes industry
and economic development by inducing businesses to locate or remain in the State and
County.

Industrial Development
Authority (IDA)

Authorized by the Code of Virginia and established by Board resolution. Provide water and

Service Authorit s .
y sewer utilities to County residents.

Northern Virginia Criminal
Justice Training Academy
(NVCITA)

Established by Board resolution. Construct an Emergency Vehicle Operations Center in
which the County has a 30% interest.

Northern Virginia
Transportation Authority
(NVTA)

Authorized by the Code of Virginia. Focused on delivering real transportation solutions and
value for Northern Virginia's transportation.

(Amounts expressed in thousands)
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lllustration 1-1 (cont’d)
Potential Component Units

The following are joint ventures where there is an ongoing financial responsibility, but no ongoing financial interest and no
explicit and measurable equity interest is deemed to exist (see Note 20):

Joint venture between Prince William County and Stafford County, the Cities of Manassas,

Potomac & Rappahannock Manassas Park and Fredericksburg. Manages and operates OmniRide (regional) and OmniLink
Transportation Commission (County-wide) bus system as well as the Virginia Railway Express (VRE), the regional train
(PRTC) system. Operations are funded by the State 2% Motor Fuel Tax. Each jurisdiction has a

representative on the PRTC Board. The County also funds PRTC's lease payments.

B. Basis of Presentation

The basic financial statementsinclude both fund financial statements which are based on major individual funds, and government- wide
financial statements, which are based on the County as a whole (see lllustration 1-2, below).

Illustration 1-2
Basis of Financial Statement Presentation

Modified Accru?l Basis of Accrual Basis of Accounting
Accounting

Governmental Funds Proprietary Funds Fiduciary Funds
@ General Fund Internal Service Enterprise Funds Pension / OPEB Trust
S Funds* Funds
£
[
s
» Capital Projects Funds Custodial Funds
5
f=
[1°}
i..E. Notincluded in
S Special Revenue Funds government-wide
2 financial statements

Entries to Reconcile to
Accrual Basis of
Accounting

Governmental Activities Business-Type

Activities Government-Wide
Financial Statements of
Government-Wide Financial Statements of the Primary Government Component Units

Government-Wide Financial Statements of the Total Reporting Entity

* The County's Internal Service Funds predominately serve other funds of the County.
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Fund Financial Statements:

At the most basic level, the financial transactions of the County are recorded in individual funds. Each fund is a separate accounting
entity with a self-balancing set of accounts that comprise the assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources, fund balance/net position (including reserves), revenues and expenditures / expenses related to a specific group of
activities of the government. Emphasis is on major funds in the governmental or proprietary categories. GAAP sets forth minimum
criteria for the determination of major funds. The nonmajor funds in each category are combined in a column in the fund financial
statements and detailed in the combining and individual fund statements and schedules section.

The following major funds are used by the County:

Governmental Funds:

The focus of governmental fund measurement in the fund financial statements is based on the determination of financial position and
changes in financial position (sources, uses, and balances of financial resources) rather than upon net income. The following is a
description of the major governmental funds of the County:

e  General Fund —The General Fund isthe primary operating unit of the County and accounts for its numerous primary services
including the County’s primary services (Police, Fire, Public Works, Community Development, Debt Service, etc.). It accounts
for all financial resources and services of the general government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

e  Streets and Roads Capital Projects Fund — The Streets and Roads Capital Projects Fund is used to account for the resources and
expenditures related to the construction of sidewalks and roads within the County.

The governmental fund financial statements are presented using a current financial resources measurement focus and the modified
accrual basis of accounting. This is the manner which GAAP has prescribed as the most appropriate to (a) demonstrate legal and
covenant compliance, (b) demonstrate the source and use of liquid financial resources, and (c) demonstrate how the County’s actual
experience conforms to the legally adopted budget. Since the governmental fund statements are presented on a different
measurement focus and basis of accounting than the governmental activities column on the government-wide financial statements,
reconciliations are presented which briefly explain the adjustments necessary to reconcile the governmental fund financial statements
to the government-wide financial statements.

Proprietary Funds:

The focus of proprietary fund measurement is based on the determination of operating income, changes in net position, financial
position, and cash flows, which is similar to a business enterprise. The following is a description of the major proprietary fund of the
County:

e Landfill Fund — The Prince William County Landfill provides refuse disposal services.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating revenues and expenses generally
result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with the proprietary fund’s principal ongoing
operations. The principal operating revenues of the Landfill Fund, the Innovation Technology Park Fund, Parks & Recreation Fund, and
the internal service funds are charges to customers for sales and services. Operating expenses of the enterprise funds and internal
service funds include the costs of providing services, such as personnel, contracting and supplies, as well as depreciation. Additionally,
landfill closure costs are included in operating expenses of the Landfill Fund. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are
reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.

The County’s enterprise funds, presented in the proprietary fund financial statements, are presented using the economic resources

measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. The County’s enterprise funds use the services of the internal service funds,

and these transactions are not eliminated when producing the government-wide statements.

In addition to the major funds discussed above, the County reports on the following internal service fund types:

e  The County operates a construction crew, an information technology program, and a fleet maintenance facility.

e In addition, the County operates four self-insurance funds — three for risk management services that provide insurance for
workers’ compensation, general liability, and other insurance needs of the County and the Adult Detention Center (ADC), and

one that provides health insurance for eligible participating County employees.

The County’s internal service funds (which typically provide services to other funds of the government) are presented in a consolidated
column in the proprietary funds’ financial statements. Since the principal users of these services are the County’s governmental
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activities, the financial statements of the internal service funds are consolidated into the governmental activities’ column in the
government-wide financial statements. The effect of inter-fund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial
statements. The excess revenues or expenses for the funds are allocated to the appropriate functional activity in the Government-
Wide Statement of Activities.

Fiduciary Funds:

Fiduciary funds are used to account for assets held by the government acting as a trustee or custodian for entities external to the
governmental unit. Trust funds and custodial funds are the two types of fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds activities include resources
held in a custodial capacity. They are presented using the economic resource measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.

e  Supplemental Pension Plan (SPP) Trust Fund — The County accounts for a defined benefit trust to provide Supplemental Pension
Plan benefits to sworn and uniformed police officers, fire fighters and Sheriff and Adult Detention Center personnel.

e  Lenth of Service Award Program (LoSAP) Pension Trust Fund — The County accounts for a length of service award program that
provides benefits for certified volunteer fire department and rescue squad members.

e  Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Master Trust Fund — The County uses this fund to account for post-employment benefits
other than pensions for eligible employees of the County and to account for post-employment benefits that provide death,
disability, and healthcare benefits for public safety employees and volunteer fire department and rescue squad members.

e  Custodial Funds — The County accounts for receipts and disbursements of monies for certain County welfare, mental health
services and federal self-sufficiency program recipients as well as shares a portion of the sales taxes collected with the Towns of
Dumfries, Quantico, Occoquan, and Haymarket.

The County’s fiduciary funds are presented in the fund financial statements by type (OPEB and Pension trust funds, and custodial
funds). Since by definition, assets of these funds are held for the benefit of a third party (pension participants, other post-employment
benefit participants, private parties, etc.) and cannot be used to satisfy obligations of the County, these funds are notincorporated into
the government-wide financial statements. Separate financial statements are not issued for the SPP Trust Fund, LoSAP Trust Fund
and OPEB Master Trust Fund.

Government-Wide Financial Statements:

The government-wide financial statements (Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities) report information on all the non-
fiduciary activities of the primary government and its component units. The focus of the government-wide financial statements is more
on sustainability of the County as an entity and the change in aggregate financial position resulting from activities of the fiscal period.
As a rule, the effect of inter-fund activity has been eliminated from these statements. Governmental activities, which are normally
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely, to a significant
extent, on fees and other charges for support. Likewise, the primary government is reported separately from the County’s discretely
presented component units.

In the government-wide Statement of Net Position, the governmental and business-type activities columns are presented on a
consolidated basis by column and are presented using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting,
which incorporates long-term assets as well as noncurrent liabilities. Inter-fund balances between governmental funds and inter-fund
balances between enterprise funds are included in the government-wide statement of net position.

The government-wide Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given functional category
(public safety, public works, etc.) or business-type activity (landfill, etc.) are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those
that are clearly identifiable with a specific functional category or business-type activity. Program revenues include 1) charges to
customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given functional
category or business-type activity and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meet the operational or capital requirements
of a particular functional category or business-type activity. Taxes and other items that are not properly included among program
revenues are reported instead as general revenues.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the County’s policy to use restricted resources first, then
unrestricted resources as they are needed.

C. Basis of Accounting

The basis of accounting refers to the point at which revenues or expenditures / expenses are recognized in the accounts and reported
in the financial statements. It relates to the timing of the measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus applied. The
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government-wide financial statements, the proprietary fund financial statements, the fiduciary fund financial statements, and the
component unit financial statements are presented on an accrual basis of accounting. The governmental fund financial statements are
presented on a modified accrual basis of accounting.

Accrual Basis of Accounting. Revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when incurred.

Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting. Revenues are recorded when susceptible to accrual, meaning that to be considered revenue of
the reporting period, the amount must be both measurable and available. “Available” means collectible within the current period or
soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the County considers the availability period
for all significant revenue sources to be 60 days after the end of the current fiscal period. Accordingly, real and personal property
taxes are recorded as revenues and receivables when billed, net of allowances for uncollectible amounts.

Property taxes billed prior to fiscal year end, but not collected within 60 days after year-end, are reflected as deferred inflows
of resources. Derived tax revenues, such as, sales and utility taxes that are collected by the Commonwealth or utility companies, and
subsequently remitted to the County, are recognized as revenues and receivables when the underlying exchange transaction occurs,
which is generally two months preceding receipt by the County. Licenses, permits and fines are recorded as revenues when received.
Intergovernmental revenues, consisting primarily of Federal, State, and other grants for the purpose of funding specific expenditures,
are recognized when earned or after all eligibility requirements have been satisfied, except for Streets and Roads Capital Projects
Fund that considers the availability period for all significant revenue sources to be 60 days after the end of the current fiscal period.
Revenues from general-purpose grants are recognized in the period to which the grant applies. Interest earnings are recorded as
earned.

Expenditures are generally recognized under the modified accrual basis of accounting when the related liability is incurred. The
exception to this general rule is that principal and interest on general obligation long-term debt is recognized when due.

D. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

Budgets for all governmental funds of the Primary Government and discretely presented component units of the County are adopted
by the Board annually on a non-GAAP basis which excludes the effects of fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of investments
(see Note 1.G).

Project length financial plans are adopted for all capital projects funds. However, the County’s Capital Improvement Plan is a five-
year plan identifying which projects the County is planning on initiating and the Board budgets and appropriates project length
budgets for new capital projects for the first year of the Plan. In mid-February, the County Executive submits to the Board, a proposed
operating budget for the fiscal year commencing the following July 1. The operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the
means of financing them.

The Board holds work sessions to review the proposed budget and conducts two public hearings to obtain taxpayer comments. The
budget is legally adopted by the Board within the timelines stipulated by the Code of Virginia § 15.2-2503, as amended.

The Board appropriates the budget on an annual basis. During the year, several supplemental appropriations are necessary. The
Board adopts resolutions for supplemental appropriations that increase or decrease the adopted budget. Departmental expenditures
may not exceed Board approved appropriations, which lapse at the end of the year.

The Board appropriates available balances from one fiscal year to the next resulting from projected surplus revenues and budget
savings generated during the year through departmental spending control efforts. The Board also authorizes the Director of Finance to
administratively reduce the amount of available balances approved should the actual funds to support the appropriation be
insufficient after completion of the County’s year end closing cycle.

The budget is controlled at certain legal as well as administrative levels. The Code of Virginia requires the County to annually adopt a
balanced budget. The Board’s Annual Adopted Budget resolution places legal restrictions on expenditures at the department level (i.e.,
the level at which expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations). Management approves budget transfers of any amount
between major expenditure categories within departments and in certain limited cases these are reviewed by the Board. Budget
transfers of twenty thousand dollars or more between departments are approved by the Board. The Board approves resolutions for
supplemental appropriations that increase or decrease (amend) the original budget. Only the Board can amend the budget. All
budgets and appropriations lapse at the end of each fiscal year.

Annual transfers out are appropriated in the General and Special Revenue Funds for the component units of the County. Expenditures
in all governmental funds of the County were within authorized budget limitations. Where required, the governmental fund financial
statements provide budgetary comparison schedules that demonstrate compliance at the legal level of budgetary control.
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E. Encumbrances

Encumbrance accounting, the recording of purchase orders, contracts, and other mandatory commitments for the expenditure of
monies to reserve that portion of the applicable appropriation, is employed as an extension of formal budgetary integration in all
governmental funds. Encumbrances outstanding at year-end are reported as restricted, committed, or assigned fund balance,
depending on the source of funding and/or the specific constraints on the funds encumbered, since they do not constitute
expenditures or liabilities. Encumbrances are normally re-appropriated each year by Board resolution. For more detailed information,
see Note 13.

F. Cash and Investments

For purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, all cash on hand, deposits, and highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less, as well as the County’s cash management pool, are grouped into equity in pooled cash and investments. These
pooled cash and investments, as well as restricted cash and temporary investments, are cash and cash equivalents.

The County invests in an externally managed investment pool, the State Treasurer’s Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP), which
is not SEC-registered. The Treasury Board of the Commonwealth of Virginia has regulatory oversight of the LGIP, which is managed
as a “2a-7 like pool”. The portfolio securities are valued by the amortized cost method with maturities of thirteen months or less. The
fair value of the County’s position in the LGIP is the same as the value of the pool shares. The LGIP does not have any limitations
or restrictions on participant withdrawals.

The County maintains a single cash and investment pool for use by all funds and component units, except for the SPP Trust Fund,
certain enterprise and internal service funds, the School Board Student Activity Fund, the School Education Foundation, and
the Community Services Board Payee Accounts. Each fund participates on a dollar equivalent and daily transaction basis. Interest
is distributed monthly based on average daily cash balances. A “zero balance account” mechanism provides for daily sweeps of
deposits made to the County’s checking accounts, resulting in an instantaneous transfer to the investment account. Hence, the
majority of the County’s funds are always invested.

Bond proceeds are maintained to comply with the provisions of the Tax Reform Act of 1986 or as required by various bond indentures.

Investments are carried at fair value based on quoted market prices. Interest earnings are allocated monthly to the respective funds
based on the percentage of each fund’s average daily balance of cash investments in the total pool. See Note 2 for more information.

G. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value was estimated for each class of financial instrument for which it was practical to estimate fair value. Fair value is defined as
the price in the principal market that would be received for an asset to facilitate an orderly transaction between market participants
on the measurement date. Market participants are assumed to be independent, knowledgeable, able, and willing to transact an
exchange and not acting under duress. Fair value hierarchy disclosures are based on the quality of inputs used to measure fair value.

The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 inputs) and
the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 inputs). Adjustments to transaction prices or quoted market prices may be required
in illiquid or disorderly markets to estimate fair value. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are defined as follows:

Level 1 —inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities traded in active markets.

Level 2 —inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for
identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, significant other observable inputs, inputs other than quoted prices
that are observable for the asset or liability, and market-corroborated inputs.

Level 3 — inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable for the asset or liability and are based on the best available
information.

H. Inventories and Prepaid Items

Inventory is valued at cost for all governmental funds and at lower of cost or market for all other funds using the first-in, first-
out method. Inventory in governmental funds, internal service funds, and enterprise funds consist of consumable supplies,
except for inventory in Innovation Technology Park Fund, which consists of land held for sale to be sold to attract new businesses to
the County that fulfill a specific target industry initiative. The cost is recorded as an expenditure / expense at the time individual
inventory items are consumed. Reported inventories for governmental funds are offset equally by a non-spendable fund balance,
which indicates they do not constitute available expendable resources, even though they are a component of assets.
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Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid items in the
government-wide and fund financial statements. Items are expended / expensed in the period they are used.

l. Due from Other Funds, Component Units and Governmental Units

Noncurrent portions of long-term inter-fund loans receivable (reported in due from accounts in the asset section) and amounts due
from other governments are equally offset by a committed fund balance account, which indicates that they do not constitute available
expendable resources and therefore are not available for appropriation.

J. Compensated Absences

In governmental funds, the cost of vacation and sick pay benefits (compensated absences) is recognized when payments are made to
employees. A liability for all governmental funds vested accrued vacation and sick pay benefits is recorded as noncurrent liabilities in
the government-wide statement of net position. Proprietary funds accrue vacation and sick leave benefits in the period they are
earned.

K. Self-Insurance and Health Insurance Long-Term Liabilities

The County and the Adult Detention Center component unit participate in the Prince William Self-Insurance Group Casualty Pool (the
Pool) and Workers' Compensation Association (the Association), which provide casualty insurance and workers' compensation
protection for the members. Only the County and its component units are participants. The County provides three self-insured health
insurance program options to its employees. Estimated liability for claims payable includes estimates of losses on claims reported and
actuarial determinations of claims incurred but not reported.

L. Capital Assets

The cost of capital assets acquired for general government purposes is recorded as an expenditure in the governmental funds and as
an asset in the government-wide financial statements to the extent the County’s capitalization threshold has been met. Capital assets
acquired by proprietary funds are recorded as assets in both the government-wide financial statements and in the proprietary fund
financial statements to the extent the County’s capitalization threshold has been met. The County capitalizes assets (tangible) costing
at least ten thousand dollars ($10,000) not funded by a grant or five-thousand dollars ($5,000) if grant funded and having an
estimated useful life longer than one year. The County capitalizes right-to-use subscription information technology arrangements
and software purchases costing at least one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000).

Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value as of the date of donation.

Maintenance, repairs, and minor renovations are charged to operations when incurred. Expenditures that materially increase values,
change capacities, or extend useful lives are capitalized. Upon sale or retirement, the cost and related accumulated depreciation
is eliminated from the respective accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is included in the determination of change in net position
for the period.

The County does not capitalize streets and roads as these are transferred to and become property of the Commonwealth of Virginia
upon completion.

Capital assets of the primary government and the Adult Detention Center component unit are depreciated or amortized using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of purchased, donated, and leased assets as follows:

Infrastructure 10-50 years
Buildings 20-40 years
Improvements to sites 2-50 years
Equipment 2-20 years
Vehicles 3-10 years
Library collections 5 years
Other Intangible assets 5-15 years

Right-to-use assets are amortized over the term of their arrangements.

Depreciation on the County’s solid waste landfill liner system is calculated based on the percentage of the landfill liner’s capacity used
each year.
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Impaired capital assets that are no longer used are reported at the lower of carrying value or fair value. An asset is considered impaired
if both (a) the decline in service utility of the capital asset is large in magnitude and (b) the event or change in circumstance is outside
the normal life of the capital asset.

For more information on capital assets, see Note 11.
M. Leases

Key estimates and judgments related to leases include how the County determines (1) the discount rate it uses to discount the
expected lease payments to present value, (2) lease term, and (3) lease payments.

The County uses the interest rate charged by the lessor as the discount rate. When the interest rate charged by the lessor is not
provided, the County generally uses its estimated incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate for leases.

Lessor: The County is a lessor in leases of real estate. The County recognizes a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources in
the government-wide and governmental fund financial statements.

At the commencement of a lease, the County initially measures the lease receivable at the present value of payments expected to
be received during the lease term. Subsequently, the lease receivable is reduced by the principal portion of lease payments received.

The deferred inflow of resources is initially measured as the initial amount of the lease receivable, adjusted for lease payments
received at or before the lease commencement date. Subsequently, the deferred inflow of resources is recognized as revenue over
the life of the lease term. The lease term includes the non-cancellable period of the lease. The lease receipts included in the
measurement of the lease receivable is comprised of fixed payments from the lessee.

The County monitors changes in circumstances that would require a remeasurement of its lease and will remeasure the
lease receivable and deferred inflows of resources if certain changes occur that are expected to significantly affect the amount of the
lease receivable.

Lessee: The County is a lessee in leases of real estate assets. The County recognizes a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use
lease asset (lease asset) in the government-wide financial statements. Lease assets are reported with other capital assets and lease
liabilities are reported with long-term debt on the Statement of Net Position.

The lease term includes the non-cancellable period of the lease. Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
are comprised of fixed payments and any purchase option price that the County is reasonably certain to exercise. In determining the
lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or
not exercise a termination option. Extension options are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be
extended.

The County monitors changes in circumstances that would require a remeasurement of its lease and will remeasure the lease asset
and liability if certain changes occur that are expected to significantly affect the amount of the lease liability. See Note 6 for more
information.

N. Software-Based Information Technology Arrangements (SBITAs)

Key estimates and judgments related to Software-Based Information Technology Arrangements (SBITAs) include how the County
determines (1) the discount rate it uses to discount the expected vendor payments to present value, (2) term, and (3) vendor
payments.

The County uses the interest rate charged by the vendor as the discount rate. When the interest rate charged by the vendor is not
provided, the County generally uses its estimated incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate for leases.

The County is a customer in agreements for various subscription-based information technology software assets. The County
recognizes a SBITA liability and an intangible right-to-use subscription asset in the government-wide financial statements. Subscription
assets are reported with other capital assets and SBITA liabilities are reported with long-term debt on the Statement of Net Position.

The agreement term includes the non-cancellable period of the arrangement. Vendor payments included in the measurement of the
SBITA liability are comprised of fixed payments and any other product costs that the County is reasonably certain to utilize. Payments
that are based on performance, usage or usage seats are considered variable and are not included in the calculation. Those payments
are expensed as incurred. In determining the subscription asset term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create
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an economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options are only included in
the agreement term if the subscription asset is reasonably certain to be extended.

The County monitors changes in circumstances that would require a remeasurement of its subscription assets and will remeasure the
subscription assets and liability if certain changes occur that are expected to significantly affect the amount of the lease liability. See
Note 7 for more information.

0. Deferred Outflows / Inflows of Resources

Deferred outflows of resources are reported in a separate section, immediately following assets, on the Statements of Net Position.
Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of net assets that benefit future period(s) and will be recognized in future
periods as an expenditure/expense when they are used. Prince William County has the following deferred outflows of resources:
deferred loss on refundings and deferred outflows related to pensions and OPEB.

Deferred inflows of resources are reported in a separate section, immediately following liabilities, on the Statements of Net Position.
Deferred inflows represent an acquisition of net assets that will be used in future reporting periods and will be recognized as revenues
in future periods. Prince William County has the following deferred inflows of resources: unavailable taxes, unavailable settlements,
unavailable transportation revenues, direct financing arrangements, lease revenues, pensions, and OPEB.

P. Pensions and OPEB

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and asset, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Prince William County’s defined
benefit pension plans and the additions to/deductions from the County’s defined benefit pension plan’s net fiduciary position have
been determined on the same basis as they were reported by the Virginia Retirement System (VRS), SPP and LoSAP Plans. For
this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance
with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. See Note 15 for more information.

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability and asset, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related
to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the County’s VRS OPEB Plans and the additions to/
deductions from the Prince William County’s OPEB Master Trust Fund net fiduciary position have been determined on the same basis
as they were reported by the VRS, Prince William County Premium Plan, Prince William County Retiree Health Insurance Credit
Plan (RHICP) and Prince William County Line of Duty Act (LODA) Plan. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds
of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at
fair value. See Note 16 for more information.

Q. Fund Balance

Non-spendable fund balances represent amounts that cannot be spent because they are not in spendable form. Restricted fund
balances represent those portions of fund balance which have constraints placed upon their use by either external sources
or imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Assigned fund balances represent resources that are
earmarked for a specific ongoing purpose. Committed fund balances represent resources that have been legally designated by the
Board of County Supervisors for a specific purpose, such as, various reserves. These funds cannot be used unless the Board of County
Supervisors budgets and appropriates the specific use of these funds in a separate legal action. Unassigned fund balance is the
residual classification for the General Fund.

The County’s highest level of decision-making authority is the Board of County Supervisors. The formal action required to establish,
modify, or rescind a fund balance commitment is a resolution of the Board of County Supervisors. Department directors have
the authority to approve the assignment of fund balance through encumbrance of funds, and the County Executive has the authority
to modify or rescind any fund balance assignment per §100.12(D)2.a of the County’s Purchasing Regulations. See Note 13 for more
information.

R. Deferred Loss on Debt Refundings
Losses resulting from advance or current refundings of debt in government-wide and proprietary statements are deferred and

recognized over the shorter of the life of the new debt or the remaining life of the old debt. The amount is deferred and reported as
a loss on refunding and is recognized as a component of interest expense. See Note 12 for more information.
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S. Implementation of GASB 96, Software-Based Information Technology Arrangements

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the County, Schools and ADC implemented the Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
No. 96, Software-Based Information Technology Arrangements (SBITAs), and are reflected in the financial statements. Issued in May
2020, the primary objective of this statement is to improve financial reporting and enhance comparability of financial statements
among governments by establishing a definition for SBITAs and provide uniform financial reporting for transactions that meet the
definition. Based on the principle, these agreements provide the government the right to use an underlying asset. Under this
Statement, a government is required to recognize a subscription liability and an intangible right- to-use subscription asset. See Note
7 for more information.

A.  Cash Deposits

All cash of the County is maintained in accounts collateralized in accordance with the Virginia Security for Public Deposits Act (the
Act), §2.2- 4400 through 2.2-4411 of the Code of Virginia. Under the Act, qualified public depositories shall elect to secure deposits
by either the pooled method or the dedicated method. Every qualified public depository shall deposit with a qualified escrow agent
eligible collateral equal to or in excess of the required collateral. If any qualified public depository fails, the collateral pool becomes
available to satisfy the claims of governmental entities. The Commonwealth Treasury Board is responsible for monitoring compliance
with the collateralization and reporting requirements of the Act. Funds deposited in accordance with the requirements of the Act are
considered fully secured and are not subject to custodial credit risk.

B. Investments
1. County Investments

Code of Virginia §2.2-4501 through 2.2-4600 authorizes the County to invest in obligations of the United States or agencies
thereof; obligations of the Commonwealth or political subdivisions thereof; obligations of other states not in default;
obligations of the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (World Bank); the Asian Development Bank, the
African Development Bank; “prime quality” commercial paper; negotiable certificates of deposits and negotiable bank notes;
corporate notes; banker's acceptances; overnight, term and open repurchase agreements; money market mutual funds; the
State Treasurer's Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP); non-negotiable certificates of deposit and deposits with federally
insured banks and savings institutions that are qualified to accept public deposits. However, in some instances, the County’s
own investment policy is more stringent as to authorized investments as discussed below.

Bond proceeds shall be invested in accordance with the requirements and restrictions outlined in bond documents. Bond
proceeds shall be invested in the Virginia State Non-Arbitrage Program (SNAP) (or its equivalent) or in individual portfolios that
aid local governments in the investment of bond proceeds and the preparation of rebate calculations in compliance with
treasury arbitrage rebate regulations in accordance with the Code of Virginia requirements and the County’s own investment
policy.

The County and its discretely presented component units’ investments are subject to interest rate, credit, custodial and
concentration of credit risks as described below:

° Interest Rate Risk — As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates, the
County’s investment policy states that at the time of purchase, the weighted average maturity of the portfolio as a
whole may not exceed five (5) years. Further, the County may not directly invest in securities maturing in more than
ten (10) years from the date of purchase (unless the investment is maturity matched to long term cash flow
requirements).

The weighted average maturity for the PWSIG Workers’ Compensation Association and Casualty Pool portfolios may
not exceed three (3) years except where to the extent that assets are purchased specifically for collateral deposits
with the Commonwealth of Virginia as required by the State Corporation Commission (SCC). The final maturity of any
individual security may not exceed five (5) years from the time of purchase, except where an asset is matched to a
specific obligation of the PWSIG.

Illustration 2-1 reflects the fair value and weighted average maturity (WAM) of the County’s investments as of June
30, 2023.
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Illustration 2-1
Fair Value and Weighted Average Maturity of Investments
June 30, 2023

Weighted
Average
Maturity
Investment Type Fair Value (Years)
Primary Government, School Board, and ADC
Money Markets and Money Market Mutual Funds:
Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) S 416,879 0.003
State Non-Arbitrage Program (SNAP) 28,747 0.003
PFM Money Market 10,524 0.003
Other Money Market 1,998 0.003
NOW Accounts 55,863 0.003
Commercial Paper 4,973 0.110
Certificate of Deposits 20,558 1.178
U.S. Treasury Notes 28,365 2.085
U.S. Government Agency Securities 763,998 3.899
Corporate Bonds 247,599 2.395
Municipal Bonds 285,623 4,533
Total Primary Government, School Board, and ADC 1,865,127
Total Reporting Entity Investments S 1,865,127 2.655

WAM expresses investment time horizons, the time when investments become due and payable, in years, weighted
to reflect the dollar size of the individual investments within an investment type. The portfolio’s WAM is derived by
dollar-weighting the WAM for each investment type. For purposes of the WAM calculation, the County assumes that
all its investments will be held to maturity.

Credit Risk — State statutes authorize the County to invest in various instruments as described above. The County’s
Investment Policy provides for investment in obligations of other states and political subdivisions outside of the
Commonwealth of Virginia rated at least AA by two Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organizations (NRSROs).
County policy permits investment in negotiable certificates of deposit issued by domestic banks and domestic offices
of foreign banks provided a minimum of two of the following ratings are present: at least P-1 by Moody's Investors
Service, at least A-1 by Standard and Poor's, or at least F1 by Fitch Ratings. The County may also invest in corporate
notes provided a minimum of two of the following ratings are present: at least Aa by Moody's Investors Service, at
least AA by Standard and Poor's, or at least AA by Fitch Ratings. Furthermore, the County will only invest in money
market or mutual funds with a rating of AAA by at least one NRSRO; “prime quality” commercial paper that has
received at least two of the following ratings: at least Prime-1 by Moody’s Investors Service , at least Al by Standard
& Poor’s, or at least F1 Fitch Ratings Inc., provided that at the time of any such investment the issuing corporation
has a net worth of at least $50 million and the net income of the issuing corporation, or its guarantor, has averaged
$3 million per year for the previous five years and all existing senior bonded indebtedness of the issuer, or its
guarantor, is rated A or its equivalent by at least two of the following: Moody’s Investors Service, Standard & Poor’s
or Fitch Ratings Inc.; and bankers’ acceptances with U.S. banks or domestic offices of international banks provided
that the bank’s assets exceed $500 million or $1 billion respectively.

Bond proceeds must be invested in accordance with the requirements and restrictions outlined in bond documents.
As such, bond proceeds, per County policy, are exempt from portfolio composition, individual issuers, and maturity
limitations set forth in the Investment Policy.

It is the PWSIG’s policy to invest in obligations issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government, an agency thereof, or
U.S. Government Sponsored Enterprises (GSEs); repurchase agreements collateralized by obligations issued or
guaranteed by the U.S. Government, an agency thereof, or GSEs; non-negotiable certificates of deposit and time
deposits of Virginia banks and savings institutions federally insured to the maximum extent possible and
collateralized under the Virginia Security for Public Deposits Act; municipal debt with a rating of at least AA by one
NRSRO, and a rating of at least AA by two NRSROs for municipal issuers outside of the Commonwealth of Virginia;
negotiable certificates of deposit and negotiable bank deposit notes of domestic banks and domestic offices of
foreign banks with a rating of at least P-1 by Moody’s Investors Service, and A-1 by Standard and Poor’s; bankers’
acceptances with major U.S. banks and domestic offices of international banks must have a rating of at least A-1 by
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Standard and Poor’s and P-1 by Moody’s Investors Service and the bank’s assets exceed $500 million or $1 billion
respectively; “prime quality” commercial paper rated by at least two of the following: P-1 by Moody’s Investors
Service, A-1 by Standard & Poor’s or F-1 by Fitch Ratings Inc; corporate notes with at least two of the following ratings:
Aa by Moody’s Investor’s Services and AA by Standard & Poor’s; money market, mutual funds or the LGIP with a
minimum credit rating of AAA by at least one NRSRO.

During the year, the County made investments in money market mutual funds, LGIP, SNAP, PFM Asset Management,
U.S. Government Agency Securities, U.S. Treasury Notes, NOW Accounts, Certificates of Deposit, Corporate Bonds,
Commercial Paper and Municipal Bonds.

The County’s investment ratings as of June 30, 2023, are presented in illustration 2-2.

Illustration 2-2
Primary Government, School Board, and ADC Investment Credit Risk
June 30, 2023

Credit Exposure as a % of Total
Investment Type Credit Quality (Rating) Investments

Money Markets and Money Market Mutual Funds:

Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) AAA 22.35%
State Non-Arbitrage Program (SNAP) AAA 1.54%
PFM Money Market AAA 0.56%
Other Money Market AAA 0.11%
NOW Accounts Not applicable 3.00%
Commercial Paper A-1+ 0.27%
Certificate of Deposits Not applicable 1.10%
U.S. Treasury Notes AA or higher 1.52%
U.S. Government Agency Securities Aa+or Higher 40.96%
Corporate Bonds AA- or Higher 13.28%
Municipal Bonds AA- or Higher 15.31%
100.00%

Custodial Credit Risk — Custodial risk is the risk that in the event of the failure of the counter party, the County will
not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside
party. However, the County’s investment policy requires that all securities purchased by the County be properly and
clearly labeled as an asset of Prince William County, collateralized, and held in safekeeping by a third-party custodial
bank or institution in compliance with §2.2-4515 of the Code of Virginia. Therefore, the County has no custodial credit
risk.

Concentration of Credit Risk — To minimize credit risk, the County’s Investment Policy seeks to diversify its portfolio
by limiting the percentage of the portfolio that may be invested in any one type of instrument at the time of purchase
as follows: 100% for U.S. Government/Treasury Obligations, 100% for Federal Agencies/GSEs (not to exceed 40% for
any one agency); 35% for any municipal issuance outside of the Commonwealth of Virginia (not to exceed 5% in any
one issuer); 35% for “prime quality” commercial paper (not to exceed 5% in any one issuer); 40% for negotiable
certificates of deposit (not to exceed 5% for any one issuer); 40% for bankers’ acceptances (not to exceed 5% for any
one issuer); 30% for repurchase agreements (not to exceed 30% with the County’s primary bank and 10% with any
other institution/dealer); 60% for money market funds (not to exceed 20% in any one money market fund); 35% for
corporate notes (not to exceed 5% for any one issuer); 40% for non-negotiable certificates of deposit (not to exceed
15% for any one issuer); and no more than 50% in Local Government Investment Pools (LGIP).

The PWSIG Investment Policy seeks to diversify its portfolio by security type and by issuer by limiting the percentage
of the portfolio that may be invested at the time of purchase in any one type of instrument as follows: 100% for U.S.
Treasury and Agency securities; 50% municipal debt (not to exceed 10% per Virginia Issuer, 5% in any non-Virginia
issuer and no more than 10% of non-Virginia issuance); 50% for repurchase agreements (not to exceed 20% per
issuer); 30% for bankers’ acceptances, negotiable certificates of deposit and / or negotiable bank deposit notes (not
to exceed 5% per issuer); 35% for commercial paper (not to exceed 5% per issuer); 40% for non-negotiable certificates
of deposit (not to exceed 10% per issuer); 25% for corporate notes (not to exceed 10% per issuer) and 80% for money
market funds/investment pools (not to exceed 40% per issuer).
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2. Supplemental Pension Plan Investments

§51.1-803 of the Code of Virginia authorizes the County’s Supplemental Pension Plan to invest its funds with the care, skill,
prudence and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiar with
such matters would use in the conduct of an enterprise of like character and with the same aims. Such investments are not

subject to custodial credit risk.

The County’s Supplemental Pension Plan’s investments are subject to interest rate, credit and concentration of credit risk as

described below:

e Interest Rate Risk — In accordance with state statute and the policy of the Supplemental Pension Plan (SPP),
investments of the Plan are diversified to minimize the risk of large losses unless under the circumstances it is clearly
not prudent to do so. The SPP contains primarily mutual fund type assets of varying characteristics. The specific
content of each fund can change daily and is managed by the director / manager of each fund. Consequently, the

ability to quantify interest rate risk at the SPP level is not possible.

Illustration 2-3 reflects the fair value and the duration of the County’s SPP fixed income investments as of June 30,
2023. Weighted- average maturity expresses investment time horizons, the time when investments become due and
payable, in years, weighted to reflect the dollar size of the individual investments within an investment type. Duration
is @ measure of a fixed income’s cash flows using present values, weighted for cash flows as a percentage of the
investment’s full price. Modified duration estimates the sensitivity of a bond’s price to interest rate changes.

lllustration 2-3

Supplemental Pension Plan Fair Value and Weighted Average Maturity/Duration of Investments

June 30, 2023

Weighted-
Average
Maturity(a)/
Modified
Duration (b)
Investment Type Fair Value (Years)
SPP Trust Fund Investments:
Money Market Mutual Funds S 682 0.101 (a)
U.S. Treasury Notes 4,208 9.79 (b)
US Government Agency Securities 6,646 6.66 (b)
Corporate Bonds 1,475 5.43 (b)
Tactical Asset Allocation Funds 2,433 Not applicable
Equity Mutual Funds 32,627 Not applicable
Real Assets 6,054 Not applicable
Total Supplemental Pension Plan Trust Fund Investments S 54,125

e  Credit Risk — The SPP investment policy is silent as to credit risk. The Board of Trustees is ultimately responsible for
making the decisions that affect its investments. An independent investment advisor assists with the attainment of
the Plan’s objectives and monitors the SPP’s compliance with stated investment policies. During the year, the SPP

invested in money market, fixed income bond funds, equity mutual funds and real assets.
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The SPP’s investment rating as of June 30, 2023, is presented in Illustration 2-4.

Illustration 2-4
Supplemental Pension Plan Credit Risk
June 30, 2023

Credit Exposure as a %
Investment Type Credit Quality (Rating) of Total Investments

SPP Trust Fund Investments:

Money Market Mutual Funds AAA 1.26%
U.S. Treasury Notes AAA 7.77%
US Government Agency Securities AAA 12.28%
Corporate Bonds Al or higher 2.73%
Tactical Asset Allocation Funds Not rated 4.50%
Equity Mutual Funds Not rated 60.27%
Real Assets Not rated 11.19%

100.00%

Concentration of Credit Risk — The long-term objective of the SPP is to achieve a total return equivalent to or greater
than the SPP’s long-term benefit obligation over the time horizon. The Board of Trustees has adopted an asset
allocation policy designed to achieve a return equal to or greater than the long-term objective. The excess return over
the long- term objective is designed both to reduce the probability of missing the target return over the long-term and
to provide for any future growth or benefit enhancements desired.

The Board of Trustees will seek to limit the overall level of risk, as defined by tracking error or the standard deviation
of excess return, relative to the comparison benchmark and volatility, as measured by standard deviation, consistent
with the chosen asset allocation policy.

Illustration 2-5 shows permissible asset classes, with target investment percentages.

Illustration 2-5
Statement of Investment Policy
Supplemental Pension Plan Concentrations

June 30, 2023

Policy Target  Policy Range Percent Actual
Asset Class Percent (+/-) Percentage

SPP Trust Fund Investments:
Diversified 5% 5% 5%
Equity 60% 10% 57%
Real Assets 10% 5% 13%
Fixed Income 25% 5% 24%
Cash Equivalents 0% 0% 1%
100% 100.00%

For Domestic Equity, International Equity and Real Assets the maximum weighting, on a fair value basis, in any one
company for active Investment Managers is 5% of the portfolio value. Real Assets include investments in Real Estate
Investment Trusts (REITs), timber, commodities, multiple limited partnerships (primarily energy investments) and
agriculture holdings. For domestic fixed income, international fixed income, hedge funds and cash equivalents the
maximum weighting, on a fair value basis, in any one security for active Investment Managers is 2% of the portfolio
value. This does not apply to U.S. government and agency issues. It is desirable to rebalance the portfolio periodically
to minimize deviations from the asset allocation mix. The Plan shall be rebalanced in the event any individual asset
class allocation differs from the permissible range described in the asset allocation.

Concentrations — As of June 30, 2023, the SPP’s investments were in money market, bond and equity mutual funds
and therefore not subject to concentration of credit risk.
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3. Prince William County Volunteer Fire and Rescue Personnel Length of Service Award Program (LoSAP) Investments

The County has appointed a Board of Trustees to oversee certain policies and procedures related to the operation and
administration of the LoSAP Trust and has the authority to invest the funds in the best interest of the Trust to satisfy the purpose
of the Trust.

Illustration 2-6 reflects the fair value of the County’s LoSAP Trust investments as of June 30, 2023.

Illustration 2-6
LoSAP Fair Value and Weighted Average Maturity/Duration of Investments
June 30, 2023

Weighted-Average

Maturity (a) / Modified
Investment Type Fair Value Duration (b) (Years)
LoSAP Trust Fund Investments:
Money Market Mutual Funds 51 0.003
Life Insurance Funds - Mass Mutual Annuity S 22,245 Not Applicable

22,296

e  Concentration of Credit Risk — As of June 30, 2023, the LoSAP Trust’s investments were 100% invested in an insurance
annuity fund and are not subject to concentration of credit risk.

4. Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Master Trust Investments

The County has appointed a Finance Board (Trustees) pursuant to the Code of Virginia §15.2-1547 to oversee certain policies
and procedures related to the operation and administration of the OPEB Master Trust. The Finance Board has the authority to
implement the investment policy and guidelines in the best interest of the Trust to best satisfy the purposes of the Trust.

§51.1-803 of the Code of Virginia authorizes the County’s OPEB Master Trust to invest its funds with the care, skill, prudence
and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiar with such
matters would use in the conduct of an enterprise of like character and with the same aims. Such investments are not subject
to custodial credit risk.

Illustration 2-7 reflects the fair value of the County’s OPEB Master Trust fixed income investments as of June 30, 2023. Weighted-
average maturity expresses investment time horizons, the time when investments become due and payable, in years, weighted
to reflect the dollar size of the individual investments within an investment type. Duration is a measure of a fixed income’s cash
flows using present values, weighted for cash flows as a percentage of the investment’s full price. Modified duration estimates
the sensitivity of a bond’s price to interest rate changes.
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lllustration 2-7
Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Master Trust Fair Value and Weighted Average Maturity/Duration of Investments

June 30, 2023
Weighted-
Average
Maturity(a)/
Modified
Duration (b)
Investment Type Fair Value (Years)
Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Master Trust Fund Investments:
Money Market Mutual Funds S 676 0.003(a)
Equity Mutual Funds 75,984 Not applicable
Bond Funds:
Baird Core Plus Bond S 13,131 6.06(b)
BBH Limited Duration 1,092 0.85(b)
DoubleLine Core Fixed Income 5,745 6.30(b)
ishares Core total US Aggregate 6,999 6.30(b)
iShares 5-10 Year IG Corporate Bond 2,507 6.18(b)
MainStay MacKay High Yield Corp Bond Fund 2,105 3.41(b)
PGIM Total Return Bond 10,670 6.10(b)
Voya Intermediate Bond 5,730 6.42(b)
Total Bond Funds 47,979
Total OPEB Master Trust Fund Investments S 124,639

The OPEB Master Trust’s rating and credit exposure as of June 30, 2023, is shown in illustration 2-8.

Illustration 2-8
Other Post-Employment Benefits Master Trust (OPEB) Credit Risk
June 30, 2023
Credit Exposure as
a % of Total

Investment Type Credit Quality (Rating) Investments

OPEB Master Trust Fund Investments:

Money Market Mutual Funds AAA 0.54%
Equity Mutual Funds Not rated 60.96%

Bond Funds:
Baird Core Plus Bond A 10.54%
BBH Limited Duration A 0.88%
DoubleLine Core Fixed Income A 4.61%
ishares Core total US Aggregate AA 5.62%
iShares 5-10 Year IG Corporate Bond A 2.00%
MainStay MacKay High Yield Corp Bond Fund BB 1.69%
PGIM Total Return Bond AA 8.56%
Voya Intermediate Bond A 4.60%
100.00%

(Amounts expressed in thousands)
76



. Concentration of Credit Risk — The Permissible asset classes, with target investment percentages are shown in
illustration 2-9.

Illustration 2-9
Statement of Investment Policy
Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Master Trust Fund Concentrations
June 30, 2023

Policy Target Policy Range Actual
Asset Class Percent Percent Percent
OPEB Master Trust Fund Investments:
Domestic Equity 39% 19% - 59% 40%
International Equity 21% 1% - 41% 20%
Other Growth Assets 0% 0% - 20% 0%
Fixed Income 40% 20% - 60% 39%
Other Income Assets 0% 0% - 20% 0%
Real Assets 0% 0% - 20% 0%
Cash Equivalents 0% 0% -20% 1%
100% 100.00%

No more than the greater of 5% or weighting in the relevant index (Russell 3000 Index for U.S. issues and MSCI ACWI ex-
U.S. for non- U.S. issues) of the total equity portfolio valued at market may be invested in the common equity of any one
corporation; ownership of the shares of one company shall not exceed 5% of those outstanding; and not more than 40%
of equity valued at market may be held in any one sector, as defined by the Global Industry Classification Standard (GICS).
Fixed income securities of any one issuer shall not exceed 5% of the total bond portfolio at time of purchase. The 5%
limitation does not apply to issues of the U.S. Treasury or other Federal Agencies. Alternatives may consist of non-
traditional asset classes such as hedge funds, private equity, real estate and commodities, when deemed appropriate. The
total allocation to this category may not exceed 30% of the overall portfolio. For purposes of asset allocation targets and
limitations, single strategy hedge funds will be categorized under the specific asset class of the fund. On June 30, 2023, the
OPEB Master Trust Fund’s investments were in money market, bond and equity mutual funds and therefore not subject to
concentration of credit risk.

There are no investments other than those issued or explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. Government that represent 5% or
more of the OPEB Master Trust fiduciary net position.
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Reconciliation of Cash and Investments

Reconciliation of total cash and investments to the government-wide financial statements on June 30, 2023, is shown in
Illustration 2- 10.

lllustration 2-10
Reconciliation of Cash and Investments to Government-Wide Financial Statements
June 30, 2023

Investments

Primary Government and Component Units S 1,865,127
SPP Trust Fund 54,125
LoSAP Trust Fund 22,296
OPEB Master Trust Fund 124,639
Total Investments 2,066,187
Add: Cash on hand 41
Deposits 13,954
Total Cash and Investments 2,080,182
Less: SPP Trust Fund’s cash and investments (55,566)
LoSAP Trust Fund cash and investments (22,296)
OPEB Master Trust Fund cash and investments (124,639)
Custodial Funds equity in pooled cash and investments (614)
Total Reporting Entity cash and investments S 1,877,067
Business- Total
Governmental Type Component Reporting
Activities  Activities Total Units Entity

Primary Government, School Board, ADC
Equity in Pooled Cash and Investments S 1,065,448 27,996 1,093,444 682,150 1,775,594
Cash held by other fiscal agents - - - 2,380 2,380
Investments 27,475 - 27,475 - 27,475
Restricted Cash and Temporary Investments 10,968 29,358 40,326 30,042 70,368
Restricted Investments 1,250 - 1,250 - 1,250
Total Cash and Investments S 1,105,141 57,354 1,162,495 714,572 1,877,067

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value was estimated for each class of financial instrument for which it was practical to estimate fair value. Fair value is
defined as the price in the principal market that would be received for an asset to facilitate an orderly transaction between
market participants on the measurement date. Market participants are assumed to be independent, knowledgeable, able
and willing to transact an exchange and not acting under duress. Fair value hierarchy disclosures are based on the quality
of inputs used to measure fair value.

The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level
1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). Adjustments to transaction prices
or quoted market prices may be required in illiquid or disorderly markets to estimate fair value. The three levels of the fair
value hierarchy are defined as follows:

e Level 1 —inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities traded
in active markets.

e Level 2 —inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets,
quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices
that are observable for the asset or liability and market-corroborated inputs.

e Level 3 —inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable for the asset or liability and are significant to the fair
value measurement. Fair values of the County’s investment portfolio are estimated using unadjusted prices obtained
by its investment manager from third party pricing services, where available. For securities where the County is unable
to obtain fair values from a pricing service or broker, fair values are estimated using information obtained from the
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County’s investment manager.

The County has evaluated the various types of securities in its investment portfolio to determine an appropriate fair value
hierarchy level based upon trading activity and the observability of market inputs. The methods described above may
produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future fair values.
Furthermore, while the County believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market
participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair values of certain financial instruments
could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date. Due to the relatively short-term nature of cash and
cash equivalents their carrying amounts are reasonable estimates of fair value.

Illustration 2-11 shows the fair value levels used by the County to value investments.

lllustration 2-11
Fair Value - Primary Government, School Board and ADC
June 30, 2023

Fair Value Measurement Using:

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Primary Government, School Board, ADC
Investments by Fair Value
US Treasury Notes S 28,365 28,365 - -
US Government Agency 763,998 - 763,998 -
Corporate Bonds 247,599 - 247,599 -
Municipal Bonds 285,623 - 285,623 -
1,325,585 28,365 1,297,220 -
Investments by Amortized Cost
LGIP 416,879
SNAP 28,747
PFM Money Market 10,524
Other Money Market Accounts 1,998
Commercial Paper 4,973
Certificate of deposits 20,558
483,679
Cash and Cash Equivalents Now Accounts 55,863
Total S 1,865,127
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Illustration 2-12 shows the fair value levels used in the SPP Trust Fund, LoSAP Trust Fund and OPEB Master Trust Fund to
value investments.

lllustration 2-12
Fair Value - Primary Government, School Board and ADC
June 30, 2023
Fair Value Measurement Using:

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Fair Value - SPP Trust Fund
Investments by Fair Value
US Treasury Notes S 4,208 4,208 - -
US Government Agency 6,646 - 6,646 -
Corporate Bonds 1,475 - 1,475 -
Tactical Asset Allocation Funds 2,433 2,433 -
Equity Mutual Funds 32,627 32,627 - -
Real Assets 6,054 - - 6,054
53,443 39,268 8,121 6,054
Investments by Amortized Cost
Money Market Mutual Funds 682
54,125
Fair Value - LoSAP Trust Fund
Investments by Amortized Cost
Money Market Mutual Funds 51
Life Insurance Funds - Mass Mutual Annuity 22,245
22,296
Fair Value - OPEB Master Trust Fund
Investments by Fair Value
Equity Mutual Funds 75,984 75,984 - -
Bond Mutual Funds 47,979 - 47,979 -

123,963 75,984 47,979 -

Investments by Amortized Cost
Money Market Mutual Funds 676
124,639
Total S 201,060
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Restricted cash and investments consist of a closure fund required by the Virginia Resource Authority (VRA) for the Landfill,
unspent debt proceeds required to be used for capital projects, and retainages as depicted in lllustration 2-13.

lllustration 2-13
Restricted Cash and Investments
June 30, 2023

Restricted Cash & Temporary

Investments Restricted Investments
Primary Government
General Fund:
Retainage S 21 S -
Total General Fund 21 -
Streets & Roads Capital Projects Funds:
Retainage 219 -
Total Capital Projects Funds 219 -
Nonmajor Governmental Funds:
Retainage 1,448 -
Total Other Governmental Funds 1,448 -
Enterprise Funds:
Landfill VRA Closure Fund 29,054 -
Nonmajor Enterprise Funds 304 -
Total Enterprise Funds 29,358 -
Internal Service Funds:
PWSIG 9,280 -
Insurance Pool Collateral - 1,250
Total Internal Service Funds 9,280 1,250
Total Primary Government 40,326 1,250
Component Units
School Board:
School Bonds 28,747 -
Education Foundation 1,295 -
Total School Board 30,042 -
Total Component Units 30,042 -
Total Reporting Entity S 70,368 S 1,250

The County's real estate and personal property taxes are levied respectively as of the July 1, 2023, tax levy, on the assessed value as
of the prior January 1, for all property located in the County. Real estate taxes are due in two installments on July 15 and December
5 and personal property taxes are due on October 5, 2023. After October 5, personal property taxes are due 30 days following the
levy date until the end of the fiscal year. Penalties and interest are assessed on taxes not paid by the due dates. Property tax levies
are recorded as receivables and revenue, net of allowance for estimated uncollectible on the payment due dates. Property taxes due,
but not collected within 60 days after fiscal year-end, are reflected as deferred inflows of resources.

Assessed values are established at 100% of appraised fair value. The personal property tax is limited to vehicles and all business
property. A valuation of all property is completed annually. The assessed value of real and personal property on January 1, 2022,
upon which the July 1, 2022, levy was based, was approximately $83 billion.

Current real estate and personal property tax collections for the year ended June 30, 2023, were 91.2% and 97.8%, respectively of
the July 1, 2022, tax levy. Real property taxes attach an enforceable lien on property if not paid on the due date. Collections received
on or before June 30, 2023, related to property taxes due on July 17, 2023 of the following fiscal year are recorded as deferred inflows
of resources on June 30, 2023.
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The County calculates its allowance for uncollectible accounts using historical collection data. Taxes receivable as of June 30, 2023,
is detailed in Illustration 3-1.

Illustration 3-1
Property Taxes Receivable
June 30, 2023

Gross Tax Allowance for Net Tax

Receivable Uncollectible Accounts Receivable

Real estate taxes S 17,067 2,549 14,518
Personal property taxes 11,694 7,225 4,469
Total S 28,761 9,774 18,987

Accounts receivables are recorded net of allowance for uncollectible accounts as shown in lllustration 3-2 as of June 30, 2023.

lllustration 3-2
Accounts Receivable

June 30, 2023

Component Units
Primary School Reporting
Government Board ADC Entity Total
Accrued interest S 5,627 - - 5,627
Enterprise operations 734 - - 734
Utility / consumption taxes 3,709 - - 3,709
Transient occupancy taxes 2,000 - - 2,000
Stormwater management fees 157 - - 157
Other post-employment benefits 4,892 - - 4,892
Other 11,977 3,226 11 15,214
Total accounts receivable 29,096 3,226 11 32,333
Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,776) - - (1,776)
Total Accounts Receivables, Net S 27,320 3,226 11 30,557

The County has investments in direct financing arrangements with various volunteer fire and rescue companies and other
organizations operating within the County. Under the terms of these financing arrangements, the County obtains leasehold interests
in specific properties, and uses those leasehold interests as collateral to obtain financing. The County uses the proceeds from these
financings to reimburse the organizations for capital expenses related to the renovation or construction of facilities. In separate-but-
related agreements, the County subleases the original leasehold interests and any existing and future improvements back to the
organizations; each sublease contains a clause which transfers title of the properties, as well as any existing and future improvements
of the properties back to each respective organization at the time the related debt is fully extinguished.

Illustration 4-1 shows the investment in direct financing leases as of June 30, 2023.

lllustration 4-1
Investment in Direct Financing Arrangements
June 30, 2023

Volunteer Fire & Rescue

Companies
Total minimum payments to be received S 2,983
Less: Unearned revenue (293)
Net investment in direct financing agreements 2,690

(Amounts expressed in thousands)
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Illustration 4-2 shows the scheduled minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2023.

lllustration 4-2
Investment in Direct Financing Arrangements Scheduled Minimum Payments

Fiscal Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest Total
2024 S 845 110 955
2025 540 78 618
2026 445 53 498
2027 440 31 471
2028 210 15 225
2029 thru 2032 210 6 216
Total S 2,690 293 2,983

Unearned revenue, as shown in lllustration 5-1, represents amounts for which asset recognition criteria were met, but for which
revenue recognition criteria were not met.

lllustration 5-1
Unearned Revenue
June 30, 2023
Primary Government
Other Unearned Revenue — Prepaid recreation fees, developer fees, health premiums and other S 124,519
Total Primary Government 124,519

Component Unit

School Board 14,372
Total Component Unit 14,372
Total Reporting Entity S 138,891

Deferred inflows of resources, as shown in lllustration 5-2, represents amounts for which asset recognition criteria where met, but
which were not available to finance expenditures of the current period under the accrual basis of accounting.

lllustration 5-2
Deferred Inflows of Resources

June 30, 2023

Primary Government
Deferred inflows related to leases (Note 6) S 3,901
Deferred inflows related to pensions (Note 15) 69,052
Deferred inflows related to OPEB (Note 16) 11,716
Total Primary Government 84,669
Component Units
Deferred inflows related to pensions (Note 15) 147,239
Deferred inflows related to OPEB (Note 16) 38,571
Total Component Unit 185,810

Total Reporting Entity S 270,479

Deferred inflows of resources for Governmental Fund represents amounts for which the revenue recognition was not met under
the modified accrual basis of accounting for the period ended June 30, 2023.

(Amounts expressed in thousands)
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lllustration 5-3
Governmental Funds’ Deferred Inflows of Resources

June 30, 2023
General Fund
Unavailable taxes — Taxes not paid within sixty days of June 30, 2023 S 7,529
Deferred inflows related to direct financing arrangements (Note 4) 2,690
Total General Fund 10,219
Streets and Roads Capital Projects Fund
Unavailable transportation revenue -- Revenue not received within sixty day of June 30, 2023 57,881
Total Street and Roads Capital Projects Fund 57,881
Other Governmental Funds
Unavailable taxes — Taxes not paid within sixty days of June 30, 2023 554
Unavailable settlements 3,135
Total Other Governmental Fund 3,689
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources of Governmental Funds S 71,789

Leases Receivable: The County leases land and buildings to third parties. The balance of these leases is reported in Governmental
Activities at June 30, 2023, and are detailed in lllustration 6-1.

lllustration 6-1
Governmental Activities’ Lease Receivables
June 30, 2023

Lease Term Revenues

Balance at Due

Discount Beginning June 30, Within
Beginning Ending Rate Balance 2023 One Year Lease Interest
Land (Cell Tower) 7/1/2021 11/30/2026 0.52% $ 163 124 40 37 1
Land (Cell Tower) 7/1/2021 11/30/2031 1.03% 161 167 17 21 2
Land (Cell Tower) 7/1/2021 10/31/2023 0.18% 45 - - 38 -
Building 7/1/2021 11/7/2038 0.13% 178 168 10 11 2

Building 6/1/2023 7/31/2026 2.91% - 2,700 849 73

Land 7/1/2021 2/22/2041 1.64% - 755 30 83 22
S 547 3,914 946 263 33

The County has real estate leases as a lessor for which the lease payments received are variable based on a percentage of gross revenue
received on communication sites. Total inflows of resources recognized during the reporting period for variable payments not
included in the lease receivable were $208 for the year ended June 30, 2023.

(Amounts expressed in thousands)
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Lease Payable: The County has entered into lease agreements for land and office space. The land lease is presented with interest at a
rate of 0.18%, while the buildings and office space leases range from 0.18% to 2.93% depending on the term of the lease agreement.
Illustration 6-2 is a summary by function of the lease liabilities related to these agreements at June 30, 2023.

lllustration 6-2
Governmental Activities’ Lease Liabilities
June 30, 2023

Beginning Balance at Due Within
Commencement Termination Balance June 30, 2023 One Year
Land leases:

General government administration 7/1/2021 6/30/2023 S 7 - -

Building leases:
General government administration 7/1/2021 3/31/2031 26,692 22,281 5,254
Public works 7/1/2021 6/30/2026 7,901 4,585 1,734
Health and welfare 7/1/2021 9/30/2023 63 12 12
Community development 7/1/2021 5/31/2023 175 2,496 287
Total building leases 34,831 29,374 7,287
Total lease liabilities S 34,838 29,374 7,287

The future minimum principal and interest lease payments as of June 30, 2023, are as follows:

Governmental Activities

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total
2024 S 7,287 S 246 S 7,533
2025 6,338 200 6,538
2026 5,131 157 5,288
2027 2,957 123 3,080
2028 1,991 97 2,088
2029-2033 5,670 156 5,826
S 29,374 S 979 S 30,353

SBITA Payable: The County has entered into arrangements to utilize various subscription-based information technology software licenses. The
agreements are presented with interest rates ranging from 1.60% to 2.76% depending on the term of the agreement and the
incremental borrowing rate at the commencement of the agreement term.

Illustration 7-1 is a summary by function of the SBITA liabilities related to these agreements at June 30, 2023.

lllustration 7-1
Governmental Activities’ SBITA Liabilities
June 30, 2023

Due
Balance Within
Initial at June One
Commencement  Termination Liability 30, 2023 Year

Software-Based Information Technology Agreements:
General government administration 7/1/2022 6/30/2027 S 7,165 5,323 1,488
Public safety 7/1/2022 6/30/2027 3,768 3,090 672
Parks & Recreation 7/1/2022 6/30/2031 541 625 196
Total SBITA liabilities S 11,474 9,038 2,356
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The future minimum principal and interest agreement payments as of June 30, 2023, were as follows:

Governmental Activities

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total
2024 S 2,356 176 2,532
2025 2,179 122 2,301
2026 2,167 72 2,239
2027 1,504 27 1,531
2028 199 22 221

2029-2030 633 31 664

S 9,038 450 9,488

Amounts due from other governmental units as of June 30, 2023, are detailed in lllustration 8-1.

lllustration 8-1
Due from Other Governmental Units
June 30, 2023
PRIMARY GOVERNMENT
General Fund:

From other localities S 98
From the Federal Government 3,163
From the Commonwealth
Local sales taxes 15,615
Other 6,729
Street & Road Capital Projects Fund:
From the Federal Government 18,134
From the Commonwealth 30,939
From other localities 28,529

Nonmajor Governmental Funds:
From the Federal Government 1,356
From the Commonwealth 330

Landfill Enterprise Fund:
From other localities 99

Internal Service Funds:
From other localities 419

Total Primary Government

COMPONENT UNITS

School Board:

From the Federal Government 29,938
From the Commonwealth 21,691

Adult Detention Center:
From other localities 1,054

Total Component Units

Total Reporting Entity

(Amounts expressed in thousands)
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Illustration 8-2 details the amounts due to other governmental units as of June 30, 2023.

Due to Other Governmental Units

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT
General Fund:

To Other Localities

To the Federal Government

Streets & Roads Capital Projects Fund:
To Other Localities

Nonmajor Governmental Funds:
To the Commonwealth

Total Primary Government

Total Reporting Entity

Illustration 8-2

June 30, 2023

329
88 $ 417
1,732 1,732
30 30
2,179
$ 2,179

Interfund transfers are used to provide funding for operations and capital projects. Transfers move revenue from the fund the
appropriated budget requires to collect it to the fund that the appropriated budget requires to expend it as well as use unrestricted
revenues collected in the General Fund to fund operations accounted for in other funds in accordance to the adopted budget.
Illustration 9-1 details the transfers between funds for the year ended June 30, 2023.

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Transfer to General Fund from:

Illustration 9-1
Inter-fund Transfers

Transfer from General Fund to:

Streets & Roads - Capital Projects Fund S 16,456 S 27,293  Streets & Roads — Capital Projects Fund
Nonmajor Governmental Funds 36,699 30,587 Nonmajor Governmental Funds
Landfill - Enterprise Fund 1,503 63  Landfill - Enterprise Fund
Nonmajor Enterprise Funds - 1,722 Nonmajor Enterprise Funds
Internal Service Funds 2,996 145 Internal Service Funds

Total General Fund Transfers In 57,654 59,810 Total General Fund Transfers Out
Transfer to Streets & Roads - Capital Projects Fund Transfer from Streets & Roads - Capital Projects Fund
from: to:
General Fund 27,293 16,456  General Fund
Nonmajor Governmental Funds 342 - Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Total Streets & Roads - Capital Projects Fund

Total Streets & Roads - Capital Projects Fund Transfers In 27,635 16,456  Transfers Out
Transfer to Nonmajor Governmental Funds from: Transfer from Nonmajor Governmental Funds to:
General Fund 30,587 36,698 General Fund
Streets & Roads - Capital Projects Fund - 342  Streets & Roads - Capital Projects Fund
Internal Service Funds - 1,339 Internal Service Funds

Total Nonmajor Governmental Funds Transfers In 30,587 38,379 Total Nonmajor Governmental Fund Transfers Out
Transfers to Landfill Enterprise Fund from: Transfers from Landfill Enterprise Fund to:
General Fund 63 1,503 General Fund

Total Landfill Enterprise Fund Transfers In 63 1,503 Total Landfill Enterprise Fund Transfers Out
Transfers to Nonmajor Enterprise Fund from: Transfers from Nonmajor Enterprise Fund to:
General Fund 1,722 - General Fund

Total Nonmajor Enterprise Funds Transfers In 1,722 - Total Nonmajor Enterprise Funds
Transfers to Internal Service Funds from: Transfers from Internal Service Funds to:
General Fund 145 2,996 General Fund
Nonmajor Governmental Funds 1,338 - Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Total Internal Service Funds Transfers In 1,483 2,996 Total Internal Service Funds Transfers Out

Total Primary Government Transfers In S 119,144 S 119,144 Total Primary Government Transfers Out

(Amounts expressed in thousands)
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Receivables/payables transactions between the primary government and component units are generally made for the purpose of
providing operational support for the receiving fund. As of June 30, 2023, amounts reported as due from the primary government
and due to the component units were $17,938.

Illustration 11-1 summarizes the changes in capital assets of the governmental activities for the year ended June 30, 2023.

Illustration 11-1
Governmental Activities — Changes in Capital Assets

June 30, 2022
as previously July 1,2022 Additions/ Deletions/
reported as restated* Transfers Transfers  June 30, 2023

Governmental Activities
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land S 131,149 131,149 30,005 (1,368) 159,786
Construction in progress 48,212 42,688 59,699 (57,751) 44,636
Total capital assets not being depreciated 179,361 173,837 89,704 (59,119) 204,422

Capital assets being depreciated/amortized:

Buildings and improvements to sites 378,337 378,337 42,189 (804) 419,722
Equipment 107,441 107,441 6,873 (7,022) 107,292
Vehicles 75,325 75,325 13,648 (1,767) 87,206
Infrastructure 257,546 257,546 1,411 - 258,957
Library collections 14,635 14,635 1,687 (1,317) 15,005
Other Intangibles 66,416 63,500 295 (2,853) 60,942
Intangible right-to-use assets:
Land 13 13 - (13) -
Buildings 38,027 38,027 6,853 (529) 44,351
Software subscriptions - 19,913 213 - 20,126
Total depreciable capital assets 937,740 954,737 73,169 (14,305) 1,013,601

Less accumulated depreciation/amortization for:

Buildings and improvements to sites (154,220) (154,220) (12,237) 98 (166,359)
Equipment (84,053) (84,053) (10,380) 6,554 (87,879)
Vehicles (51,171) (51,171) (6,890) 1,767 (56,294)
Infrastructure (76,651) (76,652) (5,689) - (82,341)
Library collections (12,285) (12,285) (1,142) 1,317 (12,110)
Other Intangibles (50,041) (49,464) (2,296) 5,188 (46,572)
Intangible right-to-use assets:
Land (6) (6) (7) 13 -
Building (7,775) (7,775) (8,400) 466 (15,709)
Software subscriptions - (583) (3,599) - (4,182)
Total accumulated (436,202) (436,209)  (50,640) 15,403 (471,446)
depreciation/amortization
Total depreciable capital assets, net 501,538 518,528 22,529 1,098 542,155
Capital assets, net S 680,899 692,365 112,233 (58,021) 746,577

*Restatement of capital assets as of July 1, 2022 is a result of implementing GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology
Arrangements, during fiscal year 2023. For additional information, see Note 1N and 7
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Depreciation and amortization expense was charged to the following functions of the governmental activities:

General government administration

Judicial administration

Public safety

Public works

Health and welfare

Parks, recreational and cultural

Community development

Capital assets held by the internal service funds
Total

lllustration 11-2 summarizes the changes in capital assets of the business-type activities for the year ended June 30, 2023.

lllustration 11-2

Business-type Activities — Changes in Capital Assets

19,159

1,016

10,511

4,263

369
5,828
6,289
3,205

50,640

(Amounts expressed in thousands)
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Additions/ Deletions/
June 30, 2022 Transfers Transfers June 30, 2023
Business-Type Activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land S 31,554 - - 31,554
Construction in progress 6,318 - (5,311) 1,007
Total capital assets not being depreciated 37,872 - (5,311) 32,561
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements to sites 73,270 4,953 - 78,223
Equipment 9,114 2,122 (530) 10,706
Vehicles 3,327 497 (575) 3,249
Infrastructure 1,566 - - 1,566
Total depreciable capital assets 87,277 7,572 (1,105) 93,744
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements to sites (64,614) (1,194) - (65,808)
Equipment (5,307) (730) 358 (5,679)
Vehicles (2,376) (211) 575 (2,012)
Infrastructure (429) (78) - (507)
Total accumulated depreciation (72,726) (2,213) 933 (74,006)
Total depreciable capital assets, net 14,551 5,359 (172) 19,738
Capital assets, net S 52,423 5,359 (5,483) 52,299
Depreciation expense was charged to the following functions of business-type activities:
Landfill S 2,061
Parks, recreational and cultural 152
Total $ 2,213



Illustration 11-3 summarizes the changes in capital assets of the Adult Detention Center component unit activities for the year ended

June 30, 2023.

lllustration 11-3

Adult Detention Center Component Unit — Changes in Capital Assets

Additions / Deletions /
June 30, 2022 Transfers Transfers June 30, 2023
Adult Detention Center:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land S 31 - - 31
Construction in progress - 170 (170) -
Total capital assets not being depreciated 31 170 (170) 31
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements to sites 130,645 896 - 131,541
Equipment 3,357 12 - 3,369
Vehicles 816 - - 816
Total depreciable capital assets 134,818 908 - 135,726
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements to sites (33,523) (3,347) (38) (36,908)
Equipment (1,619) (547) - (2,166)
Vehicles (667) (66) - (733)
Total accumulated depreciation (35,809) (3,960) (38) (39,807)
Total depreciable capital assets, net 99,009 (3,052) (38) 95,919
Capital assets, net $ 99,040 (2,882) (208) 95,950
Depreciation expense was charged to the following functions of the Adult Detention Center:
Public safety S 3,960
Total $ 3,960
Illustration 11-4 summarizes the construction in progress of governmental activities.
Illustration 11-4
Construction in Progress
June 30, 2023
Amount Expended Project
Authorized to Date Balance
PRIMARY GOVERNMENT
Potomac Heritage National Scenic Trial - Featherstone Segment S 873 674 199
Potomac Heritage National Scenic Trail - Heritage Harbor 100 6 94
Broad Run Trail 780 699 81
Lake Ridge Trail 1,812 1,292 520
Neabsco Trail 637 336 301
Neabsco Commuter Garage/Potomac Town Center Commuter Lot 53,074 10,439 42,635
Rollins Ford Park - Phase Il 10,086 8,540 1,546
Courthouse Security System 3,309 3,028 281
Animal Service Center Expansion 1,278 6 1,272
Human Capital Management System Replacement 8,208 285 7,923
Dove's Landing Park Improvements 2,481 17 2,464

(Amounts expressed in thousands)
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lllustration 11-4 (cont'd)
Construction in Progress
June 30, 2023

Amount Expended Project
Authorized to Date Balance

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT (cont'd)
Potomac Heritage National Scenic Trail - Neabsco Creek Wetlands Boardwalk 1,204 621 583
Potomac Heritage National Scenic Trail - Rippon Landing 505 366 139
Security at County Facilities 545 535 10
Covered Storage - Parks 450 81 369
Orchard Bridge Park Field Improvements 51 28 23
Lake Ridge Marina - Dock Replacement 625 28 597
Howison Park Improvements 397 296 101
Cloverdale Park Improvements 352 347 5
Long Park Improvements 350 206 144
Marumsco Acres Park ADA Access 225 8 217
Automated Flood Warning Systems 60 2 58
Trails, Open Space and Access 1,350 19 1,331
Howison Park Improvements 6,013 41 5,972
Hellwig Park Artificial Turf 263 189 74
Catharpin Baseball ADA Sidewalk Improvements 160 15 145
Cloverdale ADA Site Improvements (Phase I) 850 706 144
Forest Greens Disc Golf 117 106 11
Juvenile Services Center 3,000 180 2,820
Homeless Navigation Center-East 2,000 333 1,667
Fire & Rescue Station 27 1,400 219 1,181
Public Safety Training Center 3,000 180 2,820
Park Entry Sign Refreshes 1,000 16 984
Broad Run Greenway Improvements 550 13 537
Prince William Golf Course Bunker Replacement 500 9 491
Prince William Golf Course Cart Path Paving 250 218 32
Braemar Park Improvements 575 8 567
Pat White Elevator 978 171 807
Ellis Baron Park 450 18 432
Catharpin Park Parking Lot Paving 750 363 387
Birchdale Park Playground/Shelter Replacement 500 6 494
Cloverdale Comfort Station Improvements 500 4 496
Ali Krieger Site Improvements 250 10 240
Forest Greens Golf Course Cart Replacement 450 2 448
Anne Moncure Wall Park Improvements 350 60 290
Brittany Park Improvements 150 98 52
Forest Greens Irrigation Pump Replacement 150 146 4
Locust Shade Maintenance Building 1,700 433 1,267
Veterans Park Improvements Phase I 600 177 423
Marumsco Acre Lake Upgrades Phase 547 642 (95)
Emergency Operations Center 5,000 467 4,533
Crisis Receiving and Stabilization Center 27,373 1,396 25,977
Chinn Aquatic Fitness Center Sauna Renovation 374 355 19
Judicial Center Renovation 21,703 772 20,931
Judicial Center Building Management System Replacement 137 128 9
Mike Pennington Scenario Based Training Center 2,204 112 2,092
Broadcast Production System 1,250 10 1,240
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG) 111 111 -
Fire & Rescue Vehicles 7,101 7,101 -
Other Improvements and Equipment 2,706 1,619 1,087
IT Equipment 287 287 -
S 185,351 44,636 140,715

(Amounts expressed in thousands)
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Construction in progress for business-type activities as of June 30, 2023, is $1,006. This amount was recorded in the Landfill enterprise
fund and represents capital improvements at the Landfill complex, including the construction and installation of landfill liners and
wetland mitigation to improve the landfill and protect public health, ground water and the environment. The $5,312 deletion of the
construction in progress as of June 30, 2023, recorded in the Public Works (Landfill) enterprise fund includes capitalization of Landfill Liner Phase III,
CellA.

Illustration 11-5 summarizes the changes in capital assets of the School Board component unit activities for the year ended June 30, 2023.

Illustration 11-5
School Board Component Unit — Changes in Capital Assets

Additions / Deletions /

June 30, 2022 Transfers Transfers June 30, 2023
School Board:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land S 110,879 9,848 - 120,727
Construction in progress 90,436 93,798 (125,099) 59,135
Total capital assets not being depreciated 201,315 103,646 (125,099) 179,862
Capital assets being depreciated/amortized:
Buildings and improvements to sites 2,135,187 93,212 - 2,228,399
Equipment 55,128 1,493 (415) 56,206
Vehicles 116,712 7,369 (4,769) 119,312
Library collections 3,890 1,172 (758) 4,304
Intangibles - software 5,840 - - 5,840
Intangible - right to use assets - 31,886 - 31,886
Total depreciable capital assets 2,316,757 135,132 (5,942) 2,445,947
Less accumulated depreciation/amortization for:
Buildings and improvements to sites (601,835) (41,372) - (643,207)
Equipment (42,868) (2,159) 296 (44,731)
Vehicles (59,400) (8,171) 4,467 (63,104)
Library collections (2,007) (862) 758 (2,111)
Intangibles - software (4,955) (332) - (5,287)
Intangibles - right to use assets - (3,736) - (3,736)
Total accumulated depreciation/amortization (711,065) (56,632) 5,521 (762,176)
Total depreciable capital assets, net 1,605,692 78,500 (421) 1,683,771
Capital assets, net S 1,807,007 182,146 (125,520) 1,863,633

(Amounts expressed in thousands)
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Depreciation and amortization expense was charged to the following School Board component unit functions:

Instruction:
Regular S 40,711
Special 1,066
Other 4
Support Services:
General administration 1,017
Student services 9
Curricular/staff development 12
Pupil transportation 8,429
Maintenance 369
Central business services 4,737
Food and nutrition services 94
Business-Type Activities:
Aquatics Center 184

Total S 56,632

The following debt was issued during fiscal year 2023:

On October 11, 2022, the Board of County Supervisors approved Resolution No. 22-476 to authorize the issuance of one or more
General Obligation School Bonds of the County sold by the Virginia Public School Authority (VPSA) in an aggregate amount not to
exceed $185,695 to finance various capital Schools improvement projects. On November 10, 2022, the County sold the VPSA Special
Obligation School Financing Bonds Series VPSA 2022 in the amount of $42,400 par.

Unless otherwise noted, the County offers its debt through public sales. Official Statements describing the terms, collateral, and
remedies are prepared in conjunction with each sale and are reviewed by the County Attorney prior to the issuance of debt.
Depending on the type of debt, different remedies may be pursuable under Virginia law. The County’s Official Statements can be
found on the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board’s website at https://emma.msrb.org/.

Bonds Payable:

The majority of the County’s bonds payable are general obligations of the County and are secured by its full faith and credit. Some of
the County’s bonds are subject to arbitrage, and as such, actuarial calculations are made, and liabilities are recorded annually.

The Commonwealth imposes no legal debt limitation on counties. Except for VPSA general obligation issuances, a referendum must
be approved by the voters prior to the issuance of new money general obligation bonds. The County established a self-imposed limit
onits total bonded debt of 3% of the net assessed valuation of taxable property. The County includes general obligation
bonds, appropriation debt supported by tax revenue, and School Board bonds in its determination of total bonded debt. Additionally,
there are several limitations and restrictions contained in the various bond indentures. The County follows all such limitations
and restrictions.

The County's general obligation bonds, which also include, the County's Build America Bonds (BABs), Qualified School Construction
Bonds (QSCBs), and refunding bonds are subject to the State Aid Intercept Provision as per §15.2-2659 of the Code of Virginia, 1950,
as amended, which in the event of the County defaulting, provides the Commonwealth the ability to step in and work with the County
to make the bondholders whole.

Revenue bonds issued through the Prince William County Industrial Development Authority (IDA) are subject to terms that allow the
IDA’s Revenue Bond Trustees to accelerate all outstanding bond payments immediately due and payable without advance notice if a
default occurs.

(Amounts expressed in thousands)
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The annual debt service requirements of general obligation and lease revenue bonds outstanding in governmental funds as of June
30, 2023, including interest payments, are shown in lllustration 12-1.

Illustration 12-1
Governmental Activities — Debt Service Requirements — General Obligation and Revenue Bonds

Designated for Roads, Parks & Other General County

Projects Principal Interest Total
Fiscal Year Ending June 30:

2024 S 16,784 4,875 21,659

2025 15,785 4,097 19,882

2026 12,865 3,444 16,309

2027 12,840 2,906 15,746

2028 11,150 2,437 13,587

2029 thru 2033 45,234 7,197 52,431

2034 thru 2038 25,427 1,776 27,203

2039 thru 2043 6,702 208 6,910

Subtotal 146,787 26,940 173,727

Designated for School Board Projects
Fiscal Year Ending June 30:

2024 74,796 30,942 105,738

2025 70,910 27,464 98,374

2026 68,520 24,197 92,717

2027 65,450 21,142 86,592

2028 61,815 17,768 79,583

2029 thru 2033 265,066 53,808 318,874

2034 thru 2038 173,598 18,502 192,100

2039 thru 2043 49,243 2,538 51,781

Subtotal 829,398 196,361 1,025,759
Total S 976,185 223,301 1,199,486

The annual debt service requirements of all bonds outstanding in business-type activities as of June 30, 2023, including
interest payments, are shown in lllustration 12-2.

Illustration 12-2
Business-type Activities — Debt Service Requirements — Revenue Bonds

Fiscal Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2024 S 700 126 826

2025 725 90 815

2026 765 53 818

2027 670 17 687

Subtotal 2,860 286 3,146
Add: unamortized premium on issuance of revenue bonds 387
Total S 3,247

The County’s capital debt obligations are issued through the Virginia Resource Authority (VRA), who has the authority to declare all
outstanding bond payments immediately due and payable without advance notice if a default occurs. The principal and interest on
the VRA capital debt are not subject to acceleration upon the event of a default. These obligations are also subject to the State Aid
Intercept Provision as per §15.2-2659 of the Code of Virginia, 1950, as amended, which if the County defaults, the Commonwealth can
step in to work with the County to make creditors whole. Additionally, the County participates in some leasehold interest leasing
agreements attached to some of the County’s facilities. In the event the County defaults on its obligations under this type of lease, the
creditor has the right to accelerate the payment of all unpaid principal and interest balances immediately as a remedy.
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Illustration 12-3 presents a summary of minimum capital debt obligations.

lllustration 12-3

Capital Debt Obligations

Fiscal Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest Total
2024 8,465 1,454 9,919
2025 8,160 1,057 9,217
2026 6,100 694 6,794
2027 5,105 419 5,524
2028 2,395 237 2,632
2029 thru 2031 4,250 153 4,403
Total 34,475 4,014 38,489
Changes in Long-Term Liabilities:
Changes in long-term liabilities of governmental activities for the year ended June 30, 2023, are shown in Illustration 12-4.
Illustration 12-4
Governmental Activities — Changes in Long-Term Liabilities
June 30, 2023
June 30, Duein Due
2022 as July 1, More Within
previously 2022 as June 30, Than One
reported restated* Additions Reductions 2023 One Year Year
General obligation bonds:
Designated for Roads, Parks and Other
General County projects 163,505 163,505 - (16,718) 146,787 130,003 16,784
Designated for School Board projects 862,595 862,595 42,400 (75,597) 829,398 754,602 74,796
Subtotal general obligation bonds 1,026,100 1,026,100 42,400 (92,315) 976,185 884,605 91,580
Unamortized premium on issuance
of general obligation bonds 100,091 100,091 2,409 (10,149) 92,351 82,308 10,043
General obligation bonds, net 1,126,191 1,126,191 44,809 (102,464) 1,068,536 966,913 101,623
Capital debt obligations 44,735 44,735 - (10,260) 34,475 26,010 8,465
Unamortized premium on issuance
of capital debt obligations 5,875 5,875 - (1,311) 4,564 3,417 1,147
Capital debt obligations, net 50,610 50,610 - (11,571) 39,039 29,427 9,612
Surplus distribution payable 1,655 1,655 - - 1,655 1,430 225
Lease liabilities (Note 6) 30,732 30,732 6,227 (7,585) 29,374 22,087 7,287
Subscription liabilities (Note 7)* - 11,474 213 (2,649) 9,038 6,682 2,356
Net pension liabilities (Note 15) 101,978 101,978 396,404 (335,666) 162,716 162,716 -
Net OPEB liabilities (Note 16) 46,642 46,642 4,335 (3,952) 47,025 47,025 -
Unpaid losses and related liabilities (Note 17) 24,032 24,032 65,450 (60,319) 29,163 22,127 7,036
Compensated absences 45,169 45,169 27,926 (20,905) 52,190 48,593 3,597
Total 1,427,009 1,438,483 545,364 (545,111) 1,438,736 1,307,000 131,736

* Restatement of capital assets and subscription liabilities as of July 1, 2022 is a result of implementing GASB Statement No. 96, Software-Based

Information Technology Agreements during fiscal year 2023. For additional information see Notes 1N and 7.

Long-term liabilities of governmental activities are generally liquidated by the General Fund. 3.39% of compensated absences were
paid for using internal service funds during fiscal year 2023.
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Changes in long-term liabilities of business-type activities for the year ended June 30, 2023, are shown in illustration 12-5.

Illustration 12-5
Business-Type Activities — Changes in Long-Term Liabilities
June 30, 2023

Duein Due

Beginning Ending More Than Within

Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year One Year

Revenue bonds S 3,525 - (665) 2,860 2,160 700
Unamortized premium on

issuance of revenue bonds 483 - (96) 387 290 97

Revenue bonds, net 4,008 - (761) 3,247 2,450 797

Accrued closure liabilities (Note 14) 21,017 6,427 - 27,444 27,444 -

Net pension liabilities (Note 15) 1,221 1,861 (1,343) 1,739 1,739 -

Net OPEB liabilities (Note 16) 720 117 (207) 630 630 -

Compensated absences 459 1,014 (1,062) 411 382 29

Total S 27,425 9,419 (3,373) 33,471 32,645 826

Changes in deferred outflows of resources of governmental activities for the year ended June 30, 2023, are shown in lllustration 12-6.

lllustration 12-6

Governmental Activities — Changes in Deferred Outflows of Resources

June 30, 2023
Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Reductions Balance
Loss on refundings S 24,981 - (2,978) 22,003
Related to pensions (Note 15) 123,169 104,530 (123,169) 104,530
Related to OPEB (Note 16) 19,754 16,224 (19,754) 16,224
S 167,904 120,754 (145,901) 142,757

Changes in deferred outflows of resources of business-type activities for the year ended June 30, 2023, are shown in lllustration 12-7.

Illustration 12-7

Business-Type Activities — Changes in Deferred Outflows of Resources

June 30, 2023
Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Reductions Balance
Unamortized loss on refunding S 6 - (1) 5
Related to pensions (Note 15) 1,571 1,106 (1,571) 1,106
Related to OPEB (Note 16) 239 174 (240) 173
Total S 1,816 1,280 (1,812) 1,284
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Changes in long-term liabilities of the component units for the year ended June 30, 2023, are shown in illustration 12-8.

Illustration 12-8
Component Units — Changes in Long-Term Liabilities

June 30, 2023
Duein
More Due
Than  Within
Beginning Ending One One
Balance Additions Reductions Balance Year Year
School Board:

Pollution remediation S 893 1,312 (1,559) 646 - 646
Subscription liabilities - 31,886 (4,234) 27,652 22,900 4,752
Claims liabilities 15,150 114,032 (112,656) 16,526 5,575 10,951
Net pension liabilities (Note 15) 520,382 567,853 (431,715) 656,520 656,520 -
Net OPEB liabilities (Note 16) 127,138 39,532 (40,786) 125,884 125,384 -
Compensated absences 41,229 10,765 (8,656) 43,338 34,746 8,592
Total School Board component unit 704,792 765,380 (599,606) 870,566 845,625 24,941

Adult Detention Center:
Net pension liabilities (Note 15) 8,245 25,163 (20,902) 12,506 12,506 -
Net OPEB liabilities (Note 16) 4,194 541 (941) 3,794 3,794 -
Compensated absences 4,060 1,630 (1,198) 4,492 4,156 336
Total Adult Detention Center 16,499 27,334 (23,041) 20,792 20456 336

component unit
Total S 721,291 792,714 (622,647) 891,358 866,081 25,277

Defeasance of Long-Term Debt:

In the current and prior years, the County defeased certain bonds, some of which have been called and repaid. Accordingly, the trust
account assets and the liability for the defeased bonds were not included in the County’s financial statements. For the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2023, $92,425 in principal of bonds outstanding is considered defeased by the County.

A. Component Unit Debt

The Code of Virginia establishes the School Board as a legal entity holding title to all school assets but having no taxing authority. The
County must issue debt through bond referendum, Virginia Public School Authority or Literary Fund.

Therefore, the School Board assets are included in the component unit column while the debts related to those assets are included in
the Primary Government — Governmental Activities column on Exhibit 1. On June 30, 2023, the County has outstanding debt of
$829,398 reflected in the Primary Government — Governmental Activities column on Exhibit 1 as a reduction to the unrestricted net
position of the County.

Similarly, assets of the Adult Detention Center are included in the component unit column, while the debts related to those assets
are included in the Primary Government — Governmental Activities column on Exhibit 1. On June 30, 2023, the County has outstanding
debt of $21,806 reflected in the Primary Government — Governmental Activities column on Exhibit 1 as a reduction to the unrestricted
net position of the County, respectively that relates to the Adult Detention Center.

To assist the readers in understanding this relationship and to reflect the total entity’s financial condition more accurately, a total
Reporting Entity column has been added to match the asset and related debt information.
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Illustration 13-1 details the fund balances of the County's Governmental funds and Adult Detention Center (ADC) component unit on
June 30, 2023.

Illustration 13-1
Fund Balances
June 30, 2023

Governmental Funds

Capital
Projects Fund
Nonmajor Total ADC
General Streets Governmental Governmental Component
Fund & Roads Funds Funds Unit
Nonspendable Fund Balance:
Inventory S 269 - 19 288 -
Advances and prepaids - - 4 4 -
Total Nonspendable Fund Balance 269 - 23 292 -
Restricted Fund Balance:
Grants 10,713 - - 10,713 -
General government administration - - 45,470 45,470 -
Public safety - - 38,456 38,456 -
Public works - - 9,247 9,247 -
Health and welfare - - 9,345 9,345
Parks 487 - - 487 -
Community development - - 13,766 13,766 -
Total Restricted fund balance 11,200 - 116,284 127,484 -
Committed Fund Balance:
Capital reserve 89,413 - - 89,413 -
Revenue stabilization reserve 29,543 - - 29,543 -
Economic development opportunity fund (EDOF) 4,586 - - 4,586 -
General government administration 22,370 - - 22,370 -
Judicial administration 916 - - 916 -
Public safety - - - - -
Public works 19,971 42,296 - 62,267 -
Health and welfare - - 11,563 11,563 -
Education 20,242 - - 20,242 -
Parks, recreational, and cultural 5,031 - 6,092 11,123 -
Community development 1,205 - 10,631 11,836 -
Mark to Market Adjustment (70,135) - - (70,135) -
Total Committed Fund Balance 123,142 42,296 28,286 193,724 -
Assigned Fund Balance:
General government administration 9,422 - - 9,422 -
Judicial administration 583 - - 583 -
Public safety 5,428 - - 5,428 1,978
Public works 765 - - 765 -
Health and welfare 7,460 - - 7,460 -
Parks, recreational, and cultural 2,498 - - 2,498 -
Community development 996 - - 996 -
Total Assigned Fund Balance 27,152 - - 27,152 1,978
Total Unassigned Fund Balance 110,788 - (576) 110,212 19,250
Total Fund Balance S 272,551 42,296 144,017 458,864 21,228

For further information about each classification of fund balance, see Note 1.
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Fund Balance Classification. The County considers restricted amounts to have been spent first when both restricted and unrestricted
fund balance is available. When amounts from multiple fund balance classifications are eligible to be expended, the County considers
the amounts to be spent first from the category with the most stringent constraints and last from the category with the least stringent
constraints.

Non-spendable Fund Balance. The amounts that are either not in spendable form or are legally or contractually required to be
maintained intact.

Restricted Fund Balances. The portion of fund balance appropriated for expenditures or legally segregated for a specific future use.
The County’s restricted fund balance includes amounts restricted for unspent bond proceeds, cash equivalents, grants, debt service,
net pension assets, and revenues from Special Revenue funds.

Committed Fund Balance. The County’s highest level of decision-making authority is the Board of County Supervisors. The formal
action required to establish, modify, or rescind a fund balance commitment is a resolution of the Board of County Supervisors.

Assigned Fund Balance. Assignment of fund balance occurs only through the encumbrance of funds for specific future transactions
identified during the current fiscal year and are not related to transactions captured in restricted or committed fund balances.
Department directors have the authority to approve such encumbrances; the County Executive has the authority to modify or rescind
any fund balance assignment per §100.12(D)2. (a) of the County’s Purchasing Regulations.

Unassigned Fund Balance. Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the general fund.

Illustration 13-2 details the encumbrances of the County’s Governmental funds and Adult Detention Center (ADC) component unit
on June 30, 2023.

lllustration 13-2
Encumbrances
June 30, 2023

Governmental Funds

Capital
Projects
Funds
Nonmajor Total ADC
Streets & Governmental Governmental Component
General Fund Roads Funds Funds Unit

Encumbrances S 27,152 93,449 43,742 164,343 1,990

In fiscal year 2023, the Landfill enterprise fund had no outstanding debt and there were no bond coverage requirements.

State and federal laws and regulations require the County to place a final cover on its Independent Hill landfill site when it stops
accepting waste and to perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the site for 30 years after closure. Although closure
and post closure care costs will be paid only near or after the date that the landfill stops accepting waste, the County reports a portion
of these closure and post closure care costs as an operating expense in each period based on landfill capacity used as of each financial
statement date. The $27,444 reported as landfill closure and post closure care liability at June 30, 2023, represents the cumulative
amount reported to date based on the use of 100% of the Phase | landfill, and 52.2% of Phases Il and Il of the landfill, which are the
only remaining disposal phases in the southern portion of the landfill. The total landfill capacity for the southern portion, which
includes Phases |, Il, and Ill for post closure is 69.0%.

The total maximum exposure liability for closure and post closure care for Phases Il and Il of the landfill is estimated at $54,257 at
June 30, 2023. The County has paid $3,525 of closure costs as of June 30, 2023. The County will recognize the remaining total
estimated cost of closure and post closure care for the southern portion of the landfill of $23,288 as the remaining estimated capacity
of the southern portion of the landfill is filled. These amounts are based on what it would cost to perform all closure and post closure
care in 2023. The County expects to complete filling the southern portion of the landfill site in the year 2033 and to close the
remaining phases of the southern portion of the landfill by 2038. The northern portion of the landfill is estimated to be
closed during 2060-2065. The total current cost of landfill closure and post closure care is an estimate and subject to changes
resulting from inflation, deflation, technology, or changes in applicable laws or regulations.
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1. Prince William County Pension Plans
The County maintains three pension plans for its employees:

e  Virginia Retirement System (VRS) Pension Plan

e  Prince William County Supplemental Plan for Sworn and Uniformed Public Safety Personnel (Supplemental Pension Plan or
SPP)

e Prince William County Volunteer Fire and Rescue Personnel Length of Service Award Program (LoSAP)

The aggregate amount of net pension liability, related deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, and pension
expense for the County’s pension plans as of June 30, 2023, with measurement date of June 30, 2022, are summarized in lllustration
15- 1 below.

Illustration 15-1
Prince William County Defined Benefit Pension Plans
Net Pension Liability and Related Amounts
June 30, 2023

Deferred Deferred
Net Pension Outflows of Inflows of Pension
MEASUREMENT DATE 6/30/22 Liability Resources Resources Expense
Virginia Retirement System S 166,581 106,007 72,757 42,048
Supplemental Pension Plan 1,670 6,809 1,910 4,859
Length of Service Award Program 8,710 1,584 13 786
Total Pension S 176,961 114,400 74,680 47,693
Primary Government:
Governmental Activities S 157,013 100,900 65,803 42,032
Intra-County Services 5,433 3,458 2,372 1,530
Health Insurance 270 172 118 76
Total Governmental Activities 162,716 104,530 68,293 43,638
Parks 101 64 44 28
Landfill 1,638 1,042 715 461
Total Proprietary Funds 1,739 1,106 759 489
Total Primary Government (A) 164,455 105,636 69,052 44,127
Component Unit:
Adult Detention Center (B) 12,506 8,764 5,628 3,566
Total Pension - County Funded (A+B) S 176,961 * 114,400 74,680 47,693
School District’s Pensions Plans (C)** S 656,520 208,410 141,611 44,206
Total Component Units (B+C) 669,026 217,174 147,239 47,772
Total Reporting Entity (A+B+C) S 833,481 * 322,810 216,291 91,899

Note: Amounts are allocated to the funds based on proportion of pension contributions paid.
*Supplemental Pension Plan net pension assets cannot be netted against net pension liabilities of other pension plans.
** Please see lllustration 15-25 for further information on Schools pension plans.
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A. County’s Virginia Retirement System (VRS)

Plan Description and Administration. The County and the Adult Detention Center component unit contribute to the Virginia
Retirement System (VRS), a multi-employer, agent pension plan administered by the Virginia Retirement System (the “System”), along
with plans for other employer groups in the Commonwealth of Virginia.

Professional and non-professional employees of the School Board are also covered by the VRS. Professional employees participate in
a VRS statewide teacher cost-sharing pool, and non-professional employees participate as a separate group in the multi-employer,
agent retirement system. The Prince William County Public Schools retirement plans are reported separately in their audited financial
statements. Copies of these financial statements may be obtained by writing to the School Board’s Finance Division at P.O. Box 389,
Manassas, Virginia 20108.

All full-time, salaried permanent employees of the County are automatically covered by a VRS Retirement Plan upon employment.
This plan is administered by the Virginia Retirement System (the System) along with plans for other employer groups in the
Commonwealth of Virginia. Members earn one month of service credit for each month they are employed and for which they and
their employer pay contributions to VRS. Members are eligible to purchase prior service, based on specific criteria as defined in the
Code of Virginia, as amended. Eligible prior service that may be purchased includes prior public service, active military service, certain
periods of leave, and previously refunded service.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. The Virginia Retirement System (VRS) Prince William County Retirement Plan is a multi-
employer, agent plan. For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the County Retirement Plan and
the additions to/deductions from the County Retirement Plan’s net fiduciary position have been determined on the same basis as they
were reported by the Virginia Retirement System (VRS). For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

Benefits Provided. The System administers three different benefit structures for covered employees — Plan 1, Plan 2, and a Hybrid
Retirement Plan. Each of these benefit structures has different eligibility criteria. The specific information for each plan and the
eligibility for covered groups within each plan are discussed in Illustration 15-2.

Illustration 15-2
Prince William County - Virginia Retirement System (VRS) Pension Plan VRS Retirement Plan Provisions

VRS Plan 1 VRS Plan 2 Hybrid Retirement Plan
About the Plans

Plan 1is a defined benefit plan. The Same as Plan 1. The Hybrid Retirement Plan combines the
retirement benefit is based on a features of a defined benefit plan and a defined
member’s age, service credit and contribution plan.

average final compensation at The defined benefit is based on a member’s age,
retirement using a formula. service credit and average final compensation at

retirement using a formula.

The benefit from the defined contribution
component of the plan depends on the member
and County contributions made to the plan and
the investment performance of those
contributions.

In addition to the monthly benefit payment
payable from the defined benefit plan at
retirement, a member may start receiving
distributions from the balance in the defined
contribution account, reflecting the
contributions, investment gains or losses, and
any required fees.
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lllustration 15-2 (cont’d)

Prince William County - Virginia Retirement System (VRS) Pension Plan VRS Retirement Plan Provisions

VRS Plan 1

Eligible Members

Eligible Members:

Employees are in Plan 1 if their
membership date is before July 1, 2010,
and were vested as of January 1, 2013,
and they have not taken a refund.

Hybrid Opt-In Election:

VRS non-hazardous duty covered Plan 1
members were allowed to make an
irrevocable decision to opt into the
Hybrid Retirement Plan during a special
election window held January 1 through
April 30, 2014. The Hybrid Retirement
Plan’s effective date for eligible Plan 1

members who opted in was July 1, 2014.

If eligible deferred members returned to
work during the election window, they
were also eligible to opt into the Hybrid
Retirement Plan.

Members who were eligible for an
optional retirement plan (ORP) and had
prior service under Plan 1 were not
eligible to elect the Hybrid Retirement
Plan, and remain as Plan 1 or ORP.

Retirement Contributions

Employees contribute 5% of their
compensation each month to their
member contribution account through a
pretax salary reduction. Member
contributions are tax-deferred until they
are withdrawn as part of a retirement
benefit or as a refund. The County and
Schools make a separate actuarially
determined contribution to VRS for all
covered employees. VRS invests both
member, County, and School
contributions to provide funding for the
future benefit payment.

VRS Plan 2

Eligible Members:

Employees are in Plan 2 if their
membership date is on or after July 1,
2010, (and for school division employees
have not taken a refund) or their
membership date is before July 1, 2010,
and they were not vested as of January 1,
2013.

Hybrid Opt-In Election:

Eligible Plan 2 members were allowed to
make an irrevocable decision to opt into
the Hybrid Retirement Plan during a
special election window held January 1
through April 30, 2014. The Hybrid
Retirement Plan’s effective date for
eligible Plan 2 members who opted in
was July 1, 2014.

If eligible deferred members returned to
work during the election window, they
were also eligible to opt into the Hybrid
Retirement Plan.

County members who were eligible for
an optional retirement plan (ORP) and
have prior service under Plan 2 were not
eligible to elect the Hybrid Retirement
Plan, and remain as Plan 2 or ORP.

Same as Plan 1.
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Hybrid Retirement Plan

Eligible Members:

Employees are in the Hybrid Retirement
Plan if their membership date is on or after
January 1, 2014. This includes:

County employees*

School division employees

Members in Plan 1 or Plan 2 who elected to
opt into the plan during the election
window held January 1- April 30, 2014; the
plan’s effective date for opt-in members
was July 1, 2014.

*Non-Eligible Members:

Some employees are not eligible to
participate in the Hybrid Retirement Plan.
They include:

County employees who are covered by
enhanced benefits for hazardous duty
employees.

Those County employees eligible for an
optional retirement plan (ORP) must elect
the ORP plan or the Hybrid Retirement
Plan. If these members have prior service
under Plan 1 or Plan 2, they are not eligible
to elect the Hybrid Retirement Plan and
must select Plan 1 or Plan 2 (as applicable)
or ORP.

A member’s retirement benefit is funded
through mandatory and voluntary
contributions made by the member, the
County, and Schools to both the defined
benefit and the defined contribution
components of the plan. Mandatory
contributions are based on a percentage of
the employee’s creditable compensation
and are required from both the member,
the County, and Schools.

Additionally, members may choose to make
voluntary contributions to the defined
contribution component of the plan, the
County, and Schools is required to match
those voluntary contributions according to
specified percentages.



lllustration 15-2 (cont’d)

Prince William County - Virginia Retirement System (VRS) Pension Plan VRS Retirement Plan Provisions

VRS Plan 1

Service Credit

Service credit includes active service.
Members earn service credit for each month
they are employed in a covered position. It
also may include credit for prior service the
member has purchased or additional service
credit the member was granted. A member’s
total service credit is one of the factors used
to determine their eligibility for retirement
and to calculate their retirement benefit. It
also may count toward eligibility for the
health insurance credit in retirement, if the
County and Schools offers the health
insurance credit.

Vesting

Vesting is the minimum length of service a
member needs to qualify for a future
retirement benefit. Members become vested
when they have at least five years (60 months)
of service credit. Vesting means members are
eligible to qualify for retirement if they meet

the age and service requirements for their plan.

Members also must be vested to receive a full
refund of their member contribution account
balance if they leave employment and request
a refund.

Members are always 100% vested in the
contributions that they make.

VRS Plan 2

Same as Plan 1.

Same as Plan 1.
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Hybrid Retirement Plan

Defined Benefit Component:

Under the defined benefit
component of the plan, service credit
includes active service. Members
earn service credit for each month
they are employed in a covered
position. It also may include credit for
prior service the member has
purchased or additional service credit
the member was granted. A
member’s total service credit is one
of the factors used to determine their
eligibility for retirement and to
calculate their retirement benefit. It
also may count toward eligibility for
the health insurance credit in
retirement, if the County and Schools
offers the health insurance credit.

Defined Contributions Component:
Under the defined contribution
component, service credit is used to
determine vesting for the County and
Schools contribution portion of the
plan.

Defined Benefit Component:

Defined benefit vesting is the
minimum length of service a member
needs to qualify for a future
retirement benefit. Members are
vested under the defined benefit
component of the Hybrid Retirement
Plan when they reach five years (60
months) of service credit. Plan 1 or
Plan 2 members with at least five
years (60 months) of service credit
who opted into the Hybrid
Retirement Plan remain vested in the
defined benefit component.

Defined Contributions Component:
Defined contribution vesting refers to
the minimum length of service a
member needs to be eligible to
withdraw the County and Schools
contributions from the defined
contribution component of the plan.

Members are always 100% vested in
the contributions that they make.



lllustration 15-2 (cont’d)

Prince William County - Virginia Retirement System (VRS) Pension Plan VRS Retirement Plan Provisions

VRS Plan 1 VRS Plan 2

Vesting (cont’d)

Calculating the Benefit

The basic benefit is determined using the See definition under Plan 1.
average final compensation, service credit and

plan multiplier. An early retirement reduction

is applied to this amount if the member is

retiring with a reduced benefit. In cases

where the member has elected an optional

form of retirement payment, an option factor

specific to the option chosen is then applied.

Average Final Compensation

A member’s average final compensationis the A member’s average final compensation

average of the 36 consecutive months of is the average of the 60 consecutive

highest compensation as a covered employee. = months of highest compensation asa
covered employee.

Service Retirement Multiplier

VRS: The retirement multiplier is a factor used = VRS: Same as Plan 1 for service earned,
in the formula to determine a final retirement ~ purchased or granted prior to January 1,
benefit. The retirement multiplier for non- 2013. For non-hazardous duty members
hazardous duty members is 1.70%. the retirement multiplier is 1.65% for
service credit earned, purchased or
granted on or after January 1, 2013.
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Hybrid Retirement Plan

Defined Benefit Component (cont’d):
Upon retirement or leaving covered
employment, a member is eligible to
withdraw a percentage of County and
Schools contributions to the defined
contribution component of the plan,
based on service.

After two years, a member is 50%
vested and may withdraw 50% of
County and Schools contributions.
After three years, a member is 75%
vested and may withdraw 75% of
County and Schools contributions.
After four or more years, a member is
100% vested and may withdraw 100%
of County and Schools contributions.

Distributions not required, except as
governed by law.

Defined Benefit Component:
See definition under Plan 1.

Defined Contribution Component:
The benefit is based on contributions
made by the member and any
matching contributions made by the
County and Schools, plus net
investment earnings on those
contributions.

Same as Plan 2. It is used in the
retirement formula for the defined
benefit component of the plan.

Defined Benefit Component:
VRS: The retirement multiplier for the
defined benefit component is 1.00%.

For members who opted into the
Hybrid Retirement Plan from Plan 1
or Plan 2, the applicable multipliers
for those plans will be used to
calculate the retirement benefit for
service credited in those plans.



lllustration 15-2 (cont’d)

Prince William County - Virginia Retirement System (VRS) Pension Plan VRS Retirement Plan Provisions

VRS Plan 1
Service Retirement Multiplier (cont’d)

Sheriffs and regional jail

superintendents: The retirement multiplier for
sheriffs and regional jail superintendents is
1.85%.

County hazardous duty employees: The
retirement multiplier of eligible County
hazardous duty employees other than sheriffs
and regional jail superintendents is 1.70% or
1.85% as elected by the County

Normal Retirement Age
VRS: Age 65.

County hazardous duty employees:
Age 60.

Earliest Unreduced Retirement Eligibility

VRS: Age 65 with at least five years (60
months) of service credit or at age 50 with at
least 30 years of service credit.

County hazardous duty employees:

Age 60 with at least five years of service credit
or age 50 with at least 25 years of service
credit.

Earliest Reduced Retirement Eligibility

VRS: Age 55 with at least five years (60
months) of service credit or age 50 with at
least 10 years of service credit.

County hazardous duty employees:
Age 50 with at least five years of service credit.

VRS Plan 2

Sheriffs and regional jail superintendents:

Same as Plan 1.

County hazardous duty employees:
Same as Plan 1.

VRS: Normal Social Security retirement
age.

County hazardous duty employees:
Same as Plan 1.

VRS: Normal Social Security retirement
age with at least five years (60 months)
of service credit or when their age and
plus service credit equals 90.

County hazardous duty employees:
Same as Plan 1.

VRS: Age 60 with at least five years (60
months) of service credit.

County hazardous duty employees:
Same as Plan 1.
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Hybrid Retirement Plan

Sheriffs and regional jail
superintendents: Not applicable.

County hazardous duty employees:
Not applicable.

Defined Contribution Component:
Not applicable.

Defined Benefit Component: VRS:
Same as Plan 2.

County hazardous duty employees:
Not applicable.

Defined Contribution Component:
Members are eligible to receive
distributions upon leaving
employment, subject to restrictions.

Defined Benefit Component:

VRS: Normal Social Security
retirement age and have at least five
years (60 months) of service credit or
when their age plus service credit
equals 90.

County hazardous duty employees:
Not applicable.

Defined Contribution Component:
Members are eligible to receive
distributions upon leaving
employment, subject to restrictions.

Defined Benefit Component:
VRS: Age 60 with at least five years (60
months) of service credit.

County hazardous duty employees:
Not applicable.

Defined Contribution Component:
Members are eligible to receive
distributions upon leaving
employment, subject to restrictions.



lllustration 15-2 (cont’d)
Prince William County - Virginia Retirement System (VRS) Pension Plan VRS Retirement Plan Provisions

VRS Plan 1 VRS Plan 2 Hybrid Retirement Plan
Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA) in Retirement
The Cost-of-Living Adjustment (COLA) The Cost-of-Living Adjustment (COLA) Defined Benefit Component:
matches the first 3% increase in the Consumer = matches the first 2% increase in the CPI-  Same as Plan 2.
Price Index for all Urban Consumers (CPI-U) U and half of any additional increase (up

and half of any additional increase (up to 4%) to 2%), for a maximum COLA of 3%.

up to a maximum COLA of 5%.
Defined Contribution Component: Not

applicable.

Eligibility: Eligibility: Eligibility:

For members who retire with an unreduced Same as Plan 1. Same as Plan 1 and Plan 2.
benefit or with a reduced benefit with at least

20 years of service credit, the COLA will go into

effect on July 1 after one full calendar year

from the retirement date.

For members who retire with a reduced
benefit and who have less than 20 years of
service credit, the COLA will go into effect on
July 1 after one calendar year following the
unreduced retirement eligibility date.

Exceptions to COLA Effective Dates: Exceptions to COLA Effective Dates: Exceptions to COLA Effective Dates:
The COLA is effective July 1 following one full Same as Plan 1. Same as Plan 1 and Plan 2.
calendar year (January 1 to December 31)

under any of the following circumstances:

The member is within five years of qualifying

for an unreduced retirement benefit as of

January 1, 2013.

The member retires on disability.

The member retires directly from short- term
or long-term disability.

The member is involuntarily separated from
employment for causes other than job
performance or misconduct and is eligible to
retire under the Workforce Transition Act or
the Transitional Benefits Program.

The member dies in service and the member’s
survivor or beneficiary is eligible for a monthly
death-in-service benefit.

The COLA will go into effect on July 1 following
one full calendar year (January 1 to December
31) from the date the monthly benefit begins.
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lllustration 15-2 (cont’d)
Prince William County - Virginia Retirement System (VRS) Pension Plan VRS Retirement Plan Provisions

VRS Plan 1 VRS Plan 2 Hybrid Retirement Plan

Disability Coverage

Members who are eligible to be considered Members who are eligible to be Employees of the County and Schools

for disability retirement and retire on considered for disability retirement (including Plan 1 and Plan 2 opt-ins)

disability, the retirement multiplieris 1.70% on  and retire on disability, the retirement  participate in the Virginia Local

all service, regardless of when it was earned, multiplier is 1.65% on all service, Disability Program (VLDP) unless the

purchased or granted. regardless of when it was earned, County or Schools provide an
purchased or granted. employer- paid comparable program

for its members.

Hybrid members (including Plan 1 and
Plan 2 opt-ins) covered under VLDP are
subject to a one-year waiting period
before becoming eligible for non-work-
related disability benefits.

Purchase of Prior Service

Members may be eligible to purchase service ~ Same as Plan 1. Defined Benefit Component:

from previous public employment, active-duty
military service, an eligible period of leave or
VRS refunded service as service credit in their
plan. Prior service credit counts toward

Same as Plan 1, with the following
exception:

Hybrid Retirement Plan members are
ineligible for ported service.

vesting, eligibility for retirement and the
health insurance credit. Only active members
are eligible to purchase prior service.
Members also may be eligible to purchase
periods of leave without pay.

Defined Contribution Component:
Not applicable.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms. As of June 30, 2022, actuarial valuation, the following County employees were covered by benefit
terms of the pension plan in lllustration 15-3.

lllustration 15-3
Prince William County - Virginia Retirement System (VRS) Pension Plan
Plan Membership as of the Valuation Date of June 30, 2022

Inactive plan members or their beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 2,699
Inactive members:

Vested inactive members 873

Non-vested inactive members 1,608

Inactive members active elsewhere in VRS 747

Total inactive members 3,228

Active employees 4,335

Total covered members 10,262

Contributions. The VRS contribution requirement for active employees is governed by §51.1-145 of the Code of Virginia, as amended,
but may be impacted as a result of funding options provided to political subdivisions by the Virginia General Assembly.

Employees are required to contribute 5.00% of their compensation toward their retirement. The County’s contractually required
employer contribution rate for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, was 15.74% of the covered employee compensation. This rate was
based on an actuarially determined rate from an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2021. This rate, when combined with employee
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contributions, was expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance
any unfunded accrued liability. Contributions to the VRS pension plans from the County were $52,826 and $45,866 for the years ended
June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, respectively.

Net Pension Liability. The County's net pension liability (NPL) is calculated separately for each employer and represents the County's
total pension liability determined in accordance with GAAP, less the County's fiduciary net position. For the County,
the NPL was measured as of June 30, 2022. The total pension liability used to calculate the NPL was determined by an actuarial
valuation performed as of June 30, 2021, using updated actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement
and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2022.

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability for employees in the County’s VRS pension plan was based on an actuarial valuation
as of June 30, 2021, using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method and the assumptions displayed in Illustration 15-4, applied to

all periods included in the measurement and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2022.

Illustration 15-4

Prince William County - Virginia Retirement System Pension Plan

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions as of the Valuation Date of June 30, 2022

Actuarial Cost Method
Amortization Method
Asset Valuation Method
Investment Rate of Return
Inflation

Payroll Growth Rate

Cost-of Living Increase

General Employees:
Salary Increase
Mortality Rates
Mortality:

Pre-Retirement

Post-Retirement

Post-Disablement

Beneficiaries and Survivors

Mortality Improvement

Entry Age Normal
Level percent closed
5-year smoothed fair value
6.75%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation*
2.50%
3.50%-5.35%, includes inflation
2.50% Plan 1; 2.25% all other members

3.50%-5.35%, includes inflation

20% of deaths are assumed to be service related

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Employee Rates projected generationally; 95% of
rates for males; 105% of rates for females set forward 2 years

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Healthy Retiree Rates projected generationally; 110%
of rates for males; 105% of rates for females set forward 3 years

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted General Disabled Rates projected generationally; 95% of
rates for males set back 3 years; 90% of rates for females set back 3 years

Pub-2010 Amount Weight Safety Contingent Annuitant Rates projected generationally;
110% of rates for males and females set forward 2 years

Rates projected generationally with Modified MP-2020 Improvement Scale that is 75% of
the MP-2020 rates
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lllustration 15-4 (cont'd)
Prince William County - Virginia Retirement System Pension Plan
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions as of the Valuation Date of June 30, 2022

Public Safety Employees with Hazardous Duty Benefits:

Salary Increase 3.50% - 4.75%, including inflation
Mortality Rates 70% of deaths are assumed to be service related
Mortality:

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Employee Rates, projected generationally with a
Pre-Retirement Modified MP-2020 Improvement Scale; 95% of rates for males; 105% of rates for females
set forward 2 years
Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Healthy Retiree Rates projected generationally with a
Post-Retirement Modified MP-2020 Improvement Scale; 110% of rates for males; 105% of rates for
females set forward 3 years

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted General Disabled Rates projected generationally with a
Post-Disablement Modified MP-2020 Improvement Scale; 95% of rates for males set back 3 years; 90% of
rates for females set back 3 years
Pub-2010 Amount Weight Safety Contingent Annuitant Rates projected generationally
Beneficiaries and Survivors with a Modified MP-2020 Improvement Scale; 110% of rates for males and females set
forward 2 years
Rates projected generationally with Modified MP-2020 Improvement Scale that is 75% of

Mortality Improvement the MP-2020 rates

* Administrative expenses as a percent of the fair value of assets for the last experience study were found to be approximately
0.06% of the assets for all of the VRS plans. This would provide an assumed investment return rate for GASB purposes of slightly
more than the assumed 6.75%. However, since the difference was minimal, and a more conservative 6.75% investment return
assumption provided a projected plan net position that exceeded the projected benefit payments, the long-term expected rate of
return on investments was assumed to be 6.75% to simplify preparation of pension liabilities.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2021, valuation was based on the results of an actuarial experience study for the period
from July 1, 2016, through June 30, 2020, except the change in the discount rate, which was based on VRS Board action effective July
1, 2019.

Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms. Changes to the actuarial assumptions as a result of the experience study and VRS Board
action are as follows:

Actuarial Assumptions — General Employees

Mortality Rates (Pre-retirement, post-retirement Update to PUB2010 public sector mortality tables. For future mortality

healthy, and disabled) improvements, replace load with a modified Mortality Improvement Scale
MP- 2020

Retirement Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience for Plan 1; set separate rates based
on experience for Plan 2/Hybrid; changed final retirement age

Withdrawal Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience at each year age and service through
9 years of service

Disability Rates No change

Salary Scale No change

Line of Duty Disability No change

Discount Rate No change
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Actuarial Assumptions Public Safety Employees with Hazardous Duty Benefits

Mortality Rates (Pre-retirement, post-retirement Update to PUB2010 public sector mortality tables. Increased disability life

healthy, and disabled) expectancy. For future mortality improvements, replace load with a
modified Mortality Improvement Scale MP-2020

Retirement Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience and changed final retirement age
from
65 to 70

Withdrawal Rates Decreased rates

Disability Rates No change

Salary Scale No change

Line of Duty Disability No change

Discount Rate No change

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return. The long-term expected rate of return on pension System investments was determined using a
log-normal distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension
System investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-
term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by
adding expected inflation. The target asset allocation and best estimate of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are

summarized in lllustration 15-5.

lllustration 15-5
Prince William County - Virginia Retirement System Pension Plans
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Weighted
Arithmetic Long-Term Average Long-

Expected Rate of Term Expected

Asset Class (Strategy) Target Allocation Return Rate of Return *
Public Equity 34.00% 5.71% 1.94%
Fixed Income 15.00% 2.04% 0.31%
Credit Strategies 14.00% 4.78% 0.67%
Real Assets 14.00% 4.47% 0.63%
Private Equity 14.00% 9.73% 1.36%
MAPS - Multi-Asset Public Strategies 6.00% 3.73% 0.22%
PIP - Private Investment Partnership 3.00% 6.55% 0.20%
Total 100.00% 5.33%
Inflation 2.50%
Expected arithmetic nominal return ** 7.83%

* The above allocation provides a one-year expected return of 7.83%. However, one-year returns do not take into account the
volatility present in each of the asset classes. In setting the long-term expected return for the System, stochastic projections
are employed to model future returns under various economic conditions. These results provide a range of returns over various
time periods that ultimately provide a median return of 6.72%, including expected inflation of 2.50%.

**0n October 10, 2019, the VRS Board elected a long-term rate of return of 6.75%, which was roughly at the 40th percentile
of expected long-term results of the VRS fund asset allocation at that time, providing a median return of 7.11%, including
expected inflation of 2.50%.

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.75%. The projection of cash flows used to determine
the discount rate assumed that System member contributions will be made per the VRS Statutes and the County’s contributions will
be made in accordance with the VRS funding policy at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates
adopted by the VRS Board of Trustees and the member rate. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the rate contributed by the
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County's VRS Retirement Plan will be subject to the portion of the VRS Board certified rates that are funded by the Virginia General
Assembly. From July 1, 2022, on, participating employers are assumed to continue to contribute 100% of the actuarially determined
contribution rates. Based on those assumptions, the VRS plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all
projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return was
applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Changes in Net Pension Liability. llustration 15-6 presents the changes in net position liabilities from June 30, 2021 to June 30, 2022,
which is the measurement date for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023.

lllustration 15-6
Prince William County - Virginia Retirement System Pension Plan
Changes in Net Pension Liability

Plan Fiduciary

Total Pension Net Position- Net Pension
Liability Increase (Decrease) Liability
Balances on June 30, 2021 for FY 2022 S 1,626,093 1,524,195 101,898
Changes for the year:
Service cost 44,387 - 44,387
Interest 110,266 - 110,266
Differences between expected
and actual experience (30,830) - (30,830)
Contributions - employer - 45,826 (45,826)
Contributions - employee - 16,005 (16,005)
Net investment income - (1,778) 1,778
Benefit payments, including refunds
of employee contributions (73,804) (73,804) -
Administrative expenses - (945) 945
Other changes - 32 (32)
Net changes 50,019 (14,664) 64,683
Balances on June 30, 2022 for FY 2023 1,676,112 1,509,531 166,581

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate. lllustration 15-7 presents the net pension liability of the County
measured as of June 30, 2022, for the fiscal year ended as of June 30, 2023, using the discount rate of 6.75%, as well as the County’s
net pension liability if calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (5.75%) or one percentage point higher
(7.75%) than the current rate.

Illustration 15-7
Prince William County - Virginia Retirement System Pension Plan
Sensitivity of Net Pension Liability (Asset) to Changes in the Discount Rate
June 30, 2023

1.00% Decrease Current Discount Rate 1.00% Increase
(5.75%) (6.75%) (7.75%)
County's Net Pension Liability S 392,374 166,581 (18,537)
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Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions. For the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2023, and measured as of June 30, 2022, the County recognized pension expense of $42,048. On June 30, 2023, the County
reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pension from the sources displayed in Illustration
15-8.

Illustration 15-8
Prince William County - Virginia Retirement System Pension Plan
Deferred Outflows and (Inflows) of Resources
June 30, 2023

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience S 11,636 29,913

Change in actuarial assumptions 41,545 -

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension i 42 844
plan investments !

Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 52,826 -

Total 106,007 72,757

$52,826 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from the County’s contributions to the VRS subsequent
to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024.

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized
in pension expense in future reporting periods as displayed in lllustration 15-9.

Illustration 15-9
Prince William County - Virginia Retirement System Pension Plan
Amortization of Deferred Outflows and (Inflows) of Resources

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,

2024 S 1,296
2025 (9,726)
2026 (28,205)
2027 17,059
2028 -
Thereafter -

Total $ (19,576)

Pension Plan Data. Information about the VRS Political Subdivision Retirement Plan is also available in the separately issued VRS 2022
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR). A copy of the 2022 VRS Annual Report may be downloaded from the VRS website at
varetire.org/pdf/publications/2022-annual-report.pdf, or by writing to the System’s Chief Financial Officer at P.O. Box 2500, Richmond,
VA, 23218-2500.

B. Prince William County Supplemental Pension Plan for Sworn & Uniformed Public Safety

Plan Description and Administration. The Supplemental Pension Plan is a single employer defined benefit pension plan administered by
the Plan’s Board of Trustees. Terms and provisions of the Plan may be recommended for amendment to the Board of County
Supervisors by the Plan’s Board of Trustees. The Supplemental Pension Plan was amended per Resolutions No. 20-540 on July 21, 2020,
and 21-297 on May 18, 2021, by the Board of County Supervisors. The plan does not issue a stand-alone financial report.

Each police officer and uniformed Fire & Rescue Department personnel employed by the County prior to July 1, 1985, is eligible to
participate in the Plan as of July 1, 1985, if they were covered by and participating in the VRS and elected to participate in the Plan.
Each police officer and uniformed Fire & Rescue Department personnel, hired after June 30, 1985, becomes a participant on his or her
date of employment. The Supplemental Pension Plan provides retirement and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. The
2019 Plan amendment extended Plan benefits to sworn and uniformed employees of the Sheriff’s Office and the Prince William-
Manassas Regional Adult Detention Center effective on the later of the employee’s date of hire or July 1, 2019.
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Benefits Provided. The Plan is designed to provide a benefit upon the retirement of participants, the amount of which considers the length
of service and the compensation paid by the County to such employees with recognition given to the benefits that will be provided by
the VRS. The normal retirement date is the earlier of the participant’s 55th birthday or the completion of 25 years of credited service.
Benefits, at the participants’ irrevocable election, are i) the larger of 1.5% of the participant’s final average annual compensation times
credited service or 1.65% of the participant’s final average compensation in excess of $1.2 multiplied by the years of credited service;
ii) for Participants whose most recent date of hire is prior to January 1, 2018 and who have Credited Service on or after March 30,
2001, a guaranteed monthly benefit of $0.64 thousand for 180 months; for Participants whose most recent date of hire is on or after
January 1, 2018 and who retire with at least twenty-five (25) years of Credited Service, a guaranteed monthly benefit of $0.64 thousand
for 180 months; for Participants with Credited Service on or after July 1, 2021, the benefit shall be applied by substituting $0.79 thousand
for $0.64 thousand; or iii) a lump sum benefit of the participant’s contribution with interest plus the employer's contributions during
the period of employment. Final average compensation for participants hired or rehired before July 1, 2010, is the highest
compensation received during the 36 consecutive calendar months producing the highest average, or if the participant has less than
36 consecutive months of credited service, it is the average annual compensation received during the entire period of credited service
prior to the termination of employment. Final average compensation for participants hired after June 30, 2010, is the highest
compensation received during the 60 consecutive calendar months producing the highest average or if the participant has less than 60
consecutive months of credited service, it is the average annual compensation received during the entire period of credited service
prior to the termination of employment.

Participants shall vest 100% in the benefit provided under the Plan upon attainment of the participant’s normal retirement date.
Participants are considered vested and eligible for early retirement after 20 years of credited service. Early retirement benefits at the
participants’ election are i) for Participants whose most recent date of hire is prior to January 1, 2018 and who have Credited Service
on or after March 30, 2001, a guaranteed monthly benefit of $0.32 thousand for 180 months; for Participants whose most recent date
of hire is on or after January 1, 2018 and who retire with at least twenty-five (25) years of Credited Service, a guaranteed monthly
benefit of $0.32 thousand for 180 months; for Participants with Credited Service on or after July 1, 2021, the benefit shall be applied
by substituting $0.395 thousand for $0.32 thousand; or ii) the withdrawal benefit plus an employer match equal to 100% multiplied by
the ratio of number of completed years of service at early retirement to 25 years. Any participant or spouse receiving a monthly benefit
for at least one year is eligible for the pension increase each July 1st. For participants hired before July 1, 2010, the benefit will be
increased by 100% of the first 3% increase in the cost-of-living index plus 50% of the increase in the cost-of-living index in excess of
3%. Increases in the cost-of-living index in excess of 7% are not recognized, for a maximum increase under the Plan of 5%. For
participants hired after June 30, 2010, the benefit will be increased by 100% of the first 2% increase in the cost-of-living index plus
50% of the increase in the cost-of-living index in excess of 2%. Increases in the cost- of-living index in excess of 6% are not recognized,
for a maximum increase under the Plan of 4%. Increases do not apply to supplemental benefits or early retirement pensions.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms. The Supplemental Pension Plan membership covered by the benefit terms as of the July 1, 2021
actuarial valuation, is presented in Illustration 15-10.

Illustration 15-10
Prince William ounty - Supplemental Pension Plan
Plan Membership as of June 30, 2021

Inactive plan members or their beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 204
Inactive members not currently receiving benefits:

Vested inactive members 556

Non-vested inactive members 139

Total inactive members 695

Active employees 1,684

Total covered members 2,583

Contributions. The Plan’s Board of Trustees establishes rates based on an actuarially determined rate recommended by an independent
actuary. The County is not required to contribute the difference between the actuarially determined rate and the contribution rate of
plan members to the Plan Trust Fund. However, as specified in the County’s Principles of Sound Financial Management, the County
intends to make the entire recommended contribution amount each year. For the year ended June 30, 2023, the average contribution
rate was 1.44% of annual payroll.

This rate, when combined with employee contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by the employee during
the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. Contributions to the Supplemental Pension Plan by the
County were $2,163 and $2,521 for the years ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, respectively.
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Net Pension Liability. The County’s net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022. The total pension liability used to calculate
the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed as of July 1, 2021, using actuarial assumptions,
applied to all periods included in the measurement and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2022. Pension liabilities
were calculated using sworn police and fire participants’ data as of June 30, 2021, and including Sheriff or ADC
participants who entered the plan on July 1, 2020, with no prior service credits. The discount rate assumption used in the valuation
at June 30, 2021, was 6.75%.

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability for employees in the Supplemental Pension Plan was based on an actuarial valuation
as of July 1, 2021, using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method and the assumptions displayed in lllustration 15-11, applied to all
periods included in the measurement and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2022.

lllustration 15-11
Prince William County - Supplemental Pension Plan
Actuarial Valuation Methods and Assumptions as of June 30, 2021

Actuarial Cost Method Aggregate

Amortization Method Level percentage of projected payroll

Asset smoothing method. Spreading the investment gains or losses in excess of the

Asset Valuation Method )
assumed rate over a 5-year period

Investment Rate of Return 6.75%, net of pension plan investment expense
Salary Increase 4.50%, including inflation
Inflation 3.00%
RP-2000 Combined Healthy table with Blue Collar adjustment with generational
Mortality Rates projection by Scale AA. 20% of active participant deaths are assumed to be line-of-
duty.

Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms. There were no changes to the actuarial assumptions related to the net pension liability
that was measured as of June 30, 2022.

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the pension
plan’s target asset allocation as of June 30, 2023, are summarized in lllustration 15-12. Also see the discussion of the pension plan’s
investment policy in Note 2.

Illustration 15-12
Prince William County - Supplemental Pension Plan
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Long Term Real

Asset Class Target Allocation Benchmark Index Annualized Return*

Domestic Equity 40.0% Russell 3000 8.7%

International Equity Developed 17.0% Blended Developed 6.0%

International Equity Emerging 8.0% MSCI Emerging Markets 8.1%

Real assets 10.0% NCREIF NFI-ODCE 6.1%

Fixed Income US Investment Grade 25.0% Bloomberg Int. Gov/Cred 1.2%
100.0% 5.6%

*For illustrative purposes, historical long-term average returns have been used as a reasonable expectation of returns. The returns
presented are nominal, 20-year arithmetic means of the corresponding benchmark, less 2.8% to account for expected rate of
inflation. Based on the 65.0% Equity, 10.0% Real Assets, and 25.0% Fixed Income policy target allocation of the Plan, we are
comfortable with a long-term net return of 6.75%. For the short term, we assumed that the current volatility in the markets could
persist and assigned a 50% discount to long-term expectations.
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Money-Weighted Rate of Return. For the year ended June 30, 2023, the annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plan
investments, net of pension plan investment expense, was 7.69%. The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment
performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts invested.

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.75% for the measurement date as of June 30, 2021.
The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current
contribution rate and that County contributions will be made at rates equal to the member rate. Based on those assumptions, the
pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on the Plan’s investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit
payments to determine the total pension liability.

Changes in Net Pension Liability. llustration 15-13 presents the changes in net pension liability from June 30, 2021, to June 30, 2022,
which is the measurement date for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023.

Illustration 15-13
Prince William County - Supplemental Pension Plan
Changes in Net Pension Liability (Asset)

Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Total Pension Net Position - Liability
Liability Increase (Decrease) (Asset)
Balances on June 30, 2021 for FY 2022 S 44,916 55,732 (10,816)
Changes for the year:
Service cost 2,954 - 2,954
Interest 2,934 - 2,934
Differences between expected and
actual experience 4,026 - 4,026
Contributions - employer - 1,953 (1,953)
Contributions - employee - 1,953 (1,953)
Net investment income - (6,278) 6,278
Benefit payments, including refunds of
employee contributions (2,895) (2,895) -
Administrative expenses - (200) 200
Net changes 7,019 (5,467) 12,486
Balances on June 30, 2022 for FY 2023 S 51,935 50,265 1,670

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate. |llustration 15-14 presents the net pension liability of the County
measures as of June 30, 2022, for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023, using the discount rate of 6.75% for the measurement date as of
June 30, 2022. Therefore, both discount rates are used in the sensitivity analysis to calculate the County’s net pension liability one
percentage point lower (5.75%) and one percentage point higher (7.75%) from the current discount rate (6.75%).

Illustration 15-14
Prince William County - Supplemental Pension Plan
Sensitivity of Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

1.00% Decrease Current Discount 1.00% Increase

Fiscal Year Ended: (5.75%) Rate (6.75%) (7.75%)
June 30, 2023 S 3,913 (105) (3,775)
June 30, 2022 S 5,588 1,670 (1,900)

(Amounts expressed in thousands)
115



Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions. For the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2023, and measured as of June 30, 2022, the County recognized pension expense of $4,859. On June 30, 2023, the County
reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the sources displayed in lllustration
15-15.

Illustration 15-15
Prince William County - Supplemental Pension Plan
Deferred Outflows and (Inflows) of Resources
June 30, 2023

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
MEASUREMENT DATE 6/30/22 of Resources of Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience S - 1,910
Changes of assumptions 396 -
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments 4,250 -
Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 2,163 -
Total S 6,809 1,910

The $2,163 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from the County’s contributions to the Plan
subsequenttothe measurement date, June 30,2022, will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2024. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will
be recognized in pension expense as displayed in lllustration 15-16.

lllustration 15-16
Prince William County - Supplemental Pension Plan
Amortization of Deferred Outflow and (Inflow) of Resources
Fiscal Year Ending June 30,

2023 S 637
2024 621
2025 215
2026 1,850
2027 (196)
Thereafter (391)

Total S 2,736

Fiduciary Net Position. The components of the net pension liability for the Supplemental Pension Plan as of June 30, 2023, are shown
in lllustration 15-17.

Illustration 15-17
Prince William County - Supplemental Pension Plan
Supplemental Pension Plan Net Pension Liability / (Asset)

Net Pension
Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Liability / Net Position as % of Total
Fiscal Year as of: Liability Net Position (Asset) Pension Liability
June 30, 2023 S 55,479 55,584 (105) 100.19%
June 30, 2022 S 51,935 50,264 1,670 96.78%

C. Prince William County Volunteer Fire and Rescue Personnel Length of Service Award Program LoSAP)

Plan Description and Administration. The LoSAP plan is a single employer defined benefit pension plan that provides benefits for certified
volunteer fire department and rescue squad members and is administered by the LoSAP’s Board of Trustees. The benefit provisions,
and the contributions required to pay them, are established, and may be amended by the Board of County Supervisors and additionally,
administered by the LoSAP’s Board of Trustees. The LoSAP was authorized by the Board of County Supervisors on October 22, 1991
and became effective July 1, 1997. The LoSAP plan was amended and restated by the Board of County Supervisors on May 10, 2016,
via Resolution No. 16-464 to update the LoSAP plan documents, governance structure, and other structural changes to the plan.
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However, there was no change in eligibility requirements or benefits. The LoSAP Pension Trust Plan does not issue a stand-alone
financial report.

Certified active-duty fire department and rescue squad volunteers are eligible to participate in LoSAP upon attainment of the minimum
age of 21 years, and a minimum of ten months of service credit (30 hours per month), or a minimum of 360 hours of service credit. Each
certified active-duty fire department and rescue squad volunteer becomes a participant on July 1 coinciding with or the next following
year when all the eligibility requirements are met. The LoSAP plan provides retirement and death benefits to plan members and
beneficiaries.

Benefits Provided. LoSAP is designed to provide a benefit upon the retirement of participants, the amount of which considers the length
of service. Normal retirement date is first day of the month coinciding with or next following attainment of age 60. Benefits are $10.00
monthly times years of service with a 50% joint and survivor annuity. Normal Retirement Benefit accrues based on service to date. The
LoSAP plan also provides a pre-retirement death benefit or disability benefit after a minimum service of five years. The pre-retirement
death benefit provides a life annuity to the surviving spouse equal to 50% of the accrued benefit. For non- married participants, a life
annuity to a named beneficiary equal to 25% of the accrued benefit. Additional death benefit for active members, $10.00 is provided
to designated beneficiary. The disability benefit provides an immediate annuity equal to 100% of the accrued benefit.

Participants shall vest upon termination after five years of service, a percentage, ranging from 50% for five years of service to 100%
for ten or more years of service, of the accrued benefit, deferred to normal retirement date.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms. The LoSAP plan membership covered by the benefit terms as of the July 1, 2022, actuarial valuation,
is presented in Illustration 15-18.

lllustration 15-18
Prince William County - LoSAP Plan
Plan Membership as of July 1, 2022

Inactive plan members or their beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 291
Inactive members not currently receiving benefits:

Vested inactive members 1,268

Total inactive members 1,268

Active participants 333

Total covered members 1,892

Contributions. The LoSAP Board of Trustees recommends the contribution amount based on an actuarially determined contributions
calculated by an independent actuary for approval by the County’s Board of Supervisors during the Budget approval process each year.
The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by plan members during
the year and is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by the employee during the year. However, specified in the
County’s Principles of Sound Financial Management, the County intends to make the entire contribution amount each year. The County
paid contributions on behalf of each of the Volunteer Fire and Rescue Companies according to their respective actuarial
valuations. Contributions to the LoSAP plan by the County were $1,561 and $1,529 for the years ended June 30, 2023, and
June 30, 2022, respectively.

Net Pension Liability. The County’s net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2023. The total pension liability used to calculate
the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed as of July 1, 2022, using actuarial assumptions, applied
to all periods included in the measurement and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2023.

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability for employees in the LoSAP plan was based on an actuarial valuation as of July 1,
2022, using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method and the assumptions displayed in Illustration 15-19, applied to all periods
included in the measurement and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2023.
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lllustration 15-19
Prince William County- LoSAP Plan
Actuarial Valuation Methods and Assumptions as of July 1, 2022

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal
Amortization Method Level dollar, including inflation
Asset Valuation Method Fair Value
Investment Rate of Return 3.00%
Discount Rate 3.00%
Tax-ex.ernpt, high-.quality general obligation N/A
municipal bond index rate (20-year)
Salary Increase N/A *
Inflation 2.50%
Retirement age Low to Medium Rates between Ages 60 and 69; 100% at age 70

Society of Actuaries Public Safety (Above-Median Income) Mortality
Table adjusted by Scale MP-2021

Disability rates N/A
Withdrawal rates 10.00%-17.50% depending on age

Mortality Rates

* Salary has no impact on the funding since employees do not contribute a portion of their salary to fund the LoSAP plan.

Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms. There were no changes to the actuarial assumptions related to the net pension liability
that was measured as of June 30, 2023.

Long-term Expected Rate of Return. On June 30, 2023, the LoSAP Trust Fund’s investments were 100% invested in a general investment
account at Mass Mutual with a guaranteed 3.00% investment return.

Money-Weighted Rate of Return. For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023, the annual money-weighted rate of return of LoSAP plan’s
investments, net of pension plan investment expense, as of the measurement date of June 30, 2023, was 3.01%. The money- weighted
rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts invested.

Discount Rate. The discount rate is the single rate that reflects the long-term expected rate of return of the LoSAP plan’s investments
expected to be used to finance the payment of benefits, to the extent that the LoSAP plan’s fiduciary net position is projected to be
sufficient to make projected benefit payments and the LoSAP plan’s assets are expected to be invested using a strategy to achieve that return.
However, in the case where the LoSAP plan’s fiduciary net position does not sufficiently cover the projected benefit payments within
the period, a yield or index rate for 20-year, tax-exempt general obligation municipal bonds with an average rating of AA/Aa or higher
(or equivalent quality on another scale is used instead of the long-term expected rate of return. It is the County’s intension to pay the
full recommended actuarial contribution amount each year.

The discount rate to measure the total pension liability was estimated to be 3.00%. The projection of cash flows used to determine
the discount rate assumed that the County’s contributions will be made each year as recommended by the actuarially determined
contribution amount.
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Changes in Net Pension Liability. Illustration 15-20 presents the changes in net pension liability from June 30, 2021 to June 30, 2022,
which is the measurement date for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023.

lllustration 15-20
Prince William County - LoSAP Plan
Changes in Net Pension Liability

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Net Pension
Liability Increase (Decrease) Liability
Balances on June 30, 2021 for FY 2022 S 29,061 19,516 9,545
Changes for the year:
Service cost 370 - 370
Interest 873 - 873
Differences between expected and
actual experience (173) - (173)
Changes of assumptions 53 - 53
Contributions - employer - 1,524 (1,524)
Net investment income - 582 (582)
Benefit payments, including refunds of
employee contributions (695) (695) -
Administrative expenses - (148) 148
Net changes 428 1,263 (835)
Balances on June 30, 2022 for FY 2023 S 29,489 20,779 8,710

Sensitivity of the Net pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate. lllustration 15-21 presents the net pension liability of the County
measured as of Jun 30, 2023, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, using the discount rate of 3.00%, as well as the County’s net position
liability calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (2.00%) and one percentage point higher (4.00%) than the
current rate.

Illustration 15-21
Prince William County - LoSAP Plan
Sensitivity of Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

1.00% Decrease Current Discount Rate 1% Increase

Measurement Date (2.00%) (3.00%) (4.00%)
June 30, 2023 S 14,038 7,941 3,256
June 30, 2022 S 14,844 8,710 4,015

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions. For the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2023, and measured as of June 30, 2023, the County recognized pension expense of $786 and deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the sources displayed in lllustration 15-22.

lllustration 15-22
Prince William County - LoSAP Plan
Deferred Outflows and (Inflows) of Resources

June 30, 2023
Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience S 19 -
Change in actuarial assumptions 4 13
Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 1,561 -
Total S 1,584 13
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$1,561 was contributed to the LoSAP plan subsequent to the measurement date of June 30, 2023, and is reported as a deferred outflow
of resources, which will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024. Other amounts
reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense
as displayed in lllustration 15-23.

lllustration 15-23
Prince William County - LoSAP Plan
Amortization of Deferred Outflow and (Inflow) of Resources
Fiscal Year Ending June 30,

2023 $ (3)
2024 5
2025 5
2026 3
2027 -
Thereafter -
Total S 10

Fiduciary Net Position. The components of the net pension liability for the LoSAP Pension Plan as of June 30, 2023, are shown in Illustration
15-24.

lllustration 15-24
Prince William County - LoSAP Plan
LoSAP Plan Net Position Liability

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Net Pension Net Position as % of

Measurement Date Liability Position Liability Total Pension Liability
June 30, 2023 S 30,167 22,226 7,941 73.68%
June 30, 2022 S 29,489 20,779 8,710 70.46%

D. Prince William County’s 401(a) Money Purchase Plan

Plan Description and Administration. The 401(a) Money Purchase Plan (the Plan) is a defined contribution plan to provide County
employees an additional way to save for retirement. On September 17, 2019, the Board of County Supervisors established a Board of
Trustees per Resolution No. 19-444, adopted Bylaws, and appointed Trustees to serve as the investment fiduciary responsible for the
selection and retention of professional advisors for the Plan’s portfolio. The Chief Financial Officer and the Human Resources Benefits
Manager serve as non-rotating Trustees for the Plan in addition to four current employees and one retiree, who are nominated by the
County Executive to the Board of County Supervisors to each serve a three-year term. Empower administers the Plan under the purview
of the Trustees, who have administrative oversight and to ensure the proper administration of the Plan. In fiscal year 2023, the County
contributed $1,717 towards County employee’s 401(a) accounts.

Benefits Provided. All full-time and part-time active employees who work at least 15 hours per week are eligible to participate in the
Plan. Employees have a one-time, irrevocable opportunity to enroll upon commencement of employment. The Plan includes a 0.5%
contribution from employees’ gross salary on a pre-tax basis and receive an equal County match. Contributions may increase and
decrease each fiscal year if approved by the Board of County Supervisors.

Employees who separate service with the County and withdraw funds from their account prior to age 59 % may incur an additional 10%
tax penalty. Upon separation from the County, employees may elect to have their leave payout rolled into the Plan. As of July 2021,
employees can borrow funds from their account in the Plan for any reason for as little as $1,000 or up to 50% of their contributions.
However, the employee must repay the loan via payroll deductions no later than 5 years with after-tax dollars. Additionally, the loan
incurs interest at a rate of 1% above the prime rate and is deposited in the employee’s account.

E. Prince William County Schools (PWCS) Pension Plans
Prince William County Schools, a component unit of the County, also participates the VRS Pension plans. The aggregate amount of net

pension liability related deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources, and pension expense for the Schools’ pension
plans are summarized in Illustration 15-25.
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lllustration 15-25
Prince William County Schools - Virginia Retirement System Plans
Net Pension Liability and Related Amount

June 30, 2023
Net Deferred Deferred

Pension Outflows of Inflows of Pension
Asset Resources Resources Expense

Virginia Retirement System Plans
VRS Pension Plans — For Non-Professional Group 3,665 8,615 7,595 41,993
VRS Pension Plans — For Professional Group 652,855 199,795 134,016 2,213
Total Schools’ Pension Plans S 656,520 208,410 141,611 44,206

Schools' Virginia Retirement System (VRS) Plans - Professional Group & Non-Professional Group

Plan Descriptions and Administration. All full-time, salaried permanent (professional) employees of public-school divisions are
automatically covered by VRS Teacher Retirement Plan upon employment.

The VRS administers three different benefit structures for covered employees in both employee groups: Plan 1, Plan 2, and the Hybrid
Retirement Plan (Hybrid Plan). Each of these benefit structures have different eligibility criteria. The specific information for each plan and
the eligibility for covered groups within each plan are outline in detail in Illustration 15-2, with the exception of the following Provision
which is different for school division employee.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms. As of the June 30, 2021 actuarial valuations, the following employees of the non- professional
group were covered by the benefit terms of the pension plan as displayed by Illustration 15-26.

lllustration 15-26
Schools’ VRS Pension Plan — For Non-Professional Group
Plan Membership as of the Valuation Date of June 30, 2021

Inactive members or their beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 1,036

Inactive members:

Vested inactive members 275
Non-vested inactive members 640
Inactive members active elsewhere in VRS 263
Total inactive members 1,178

Active members 1,746
Total covered employees 3,960

Contributions. The contribution requirement for active employees is governed by §51.1-145 of the Code of Virginia, as amended, but
may be impacted as a result of funding options provided to the non-professional and professional groups by the Virginia General
Assembly. Employees are required to contribute 5.0% of their compensation toward their retirement.

Non-professional group. The non-professional group’s contractually required contribution rate for the year ended June 30, 2023, was
6.07% of covered employee compensation. This rate was based on an actuarially determined rate from an actuarial valuation as of
June 30, 2021. This rate, when combined with employee contributions, was expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by
employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. Contribution to the pension plan
from the non- professional group were $4,137 and $3,752 for the years ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, respectively.

Professional group. Each professional group’s contractually required contribution rate for the year ended June 30, 2023, was 16.62%
of covered employee compensation. This rate was based on an actuarially determined rate from an actuarial valuation as of June 30,
2021. The actuarially determined rate, when combined with employee contributions was expected to finance the costs of benefits
earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. Contribution to the pension
plan from the professional group were $119,545 and $106,712 for the years ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2021, respectively.
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Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability for general employees in the non-professional and professional group was based on
an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2021, using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method and the following assumptions, applied
to all periods included in the measurement and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2022.

Inflation

Salary increases, including inflation (non-professional)

Investment rate of return

Mortality rates:

Pre-Retirement:

Post-Retirement:

Post-Disablement:

Beneficiaries and Survivors:

Mortality Improvement:

2.5%

3.5% - 5.95%

3.5% - 5.35% Salary increases, including inflation (professional)

6.75%, net pension plan investment expense, including inflation*

Non-hazardous Duty for
Non-professional Group

Professional Group

15% of deaths are assumed to be service related.

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Employee
Rates projected generationally; 95% of rates for
males; 105% of rates for females set forward 2
years.

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Healthy
Retiree Rates projected generationally; 110% of
rates for males; 105% of rates for females set
forward 3 years.

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted General Disabled
Rates projected generationally; 95% of rates for
males set back 3 years; 90% of rates for females
set back 3 years.

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Contingent
Annuitant Rates projected generationally; 110%

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Teachers
Employee Rates projected generationally;
110% of rates for males.

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Teachers
Healthy Retiree Rates projected
generationally; males are forward 1 year;
105% of rates for females.

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Teachers
Disabled Rates projected generationally;
110% of rates for males and females.

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Teachers
Contingent Annuitant Rates projected

of rates for males and females set forward 2 years.Generationally.

Rates projected generationally with Modified MP- Rates projected generationally with

2020 Improvement Scale that is 75% of the MP-
2020 rates.

Modified MP-2020 Improvement Scale
that is 75% of the MP-2020 rates.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2021, valuation was based on the results of an actuarial experience study for the period
from July 1, 2016, through June 30, 2020, except the change in the discount rate, which was based on VRS Board action effective as of

July 1, 2019.

Non-hazardous Duty for
Non-professional Group

Professional Group

Mortality Rates (Pre-retirement, post- Update to PUB2010 public sector mortality

retirement healthy, and disabled)

Retirement Rates:

Withdrawal Rates:

Disability Rates:
Salary Scale:

Line of Duty Disability:

Discount Rate

tables. For future mortality improvements,
replace load with a modified Mortality
improvement Scale MP-2020.

Adjusted rates to better fit experience for Plan
1; set separate rates based on experience for
Plan 2/Hybrid; changed final retirement age.

Adjusted rates to better fit experience at each
year age and service through 9 years of service.

No change
No change

No change

No Change
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No Change



Long-Term Expected Rate of Return. The long-term expected rate of return on pension VRS investments was determined using a log-
normal distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension
VRS investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term
expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding
expected inflation. The target asset allocation and best estimate of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are
summarized in Illustration 15-27.

lllustration 15-27
Prince William County Schools - Virginia Retirement System Pension Plans
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

*Weighted

Average Long-

**Arithmetic Long-Term Term Expected

Asset Class (Strategy) Target Allocation Expected Rate of Return Rate of Return
Public Equity 34.00% 5.71% 1.94%
Fixed Income 15.00% 2.04% 0.31%
Credit Strategies 14.00% 4.78% 0.67%
Real Assets 14.00% 4.47% 0.63%
Private Equity 14.00% 9.73% 1.36%
MAPS - Multi-Asset Public Strategies 6.00% 3.73% 0.22%
PIP - Private Investment Partnership 3.00% 6.55% 0.20%
Total 100.00% 5.33%
Inflation 2.50%
Expected arithmetic nominal return ** 7.83%

* The above allocation provides a one-year expected return of 7.83%. However, one-year returns do not take into account the
volatility present in each of the asset classes. In setting the long-term expected return for the System, stochastic projections
are employed to model future returns under various economic conditions. These results provide a range of returns over various
time periods that ultimately provide a median return of 6.72%, including expected inflation of 2.50%.

**0n October 10, 2019, the VRS Board elected a long-term rate of return of 6.75%, which was roughly at the 40th percentile of
expected long-term results of the VRS fund asset allocation at that time, providing a median return of 7.11%, including expected
inflation of 2.50%.

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.75%. The projection of cash flows used to determine
the discount rate assumed that VRS member contributions will be made per the VRS Statutes, and the employer contributions will be
made in accordance with the VRS funding policy at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates
adopted by the VRS Board of Trustees and the member rate. Consistent with the phased-in funding provided by the General Assembly
for state and teacher employer contributions; political subdivisions were also provided with an opportunity to use an alternate employer
contribution rate. For the year ended June 30, 2023, the alternate rate was the employer contribution rate used in FY 2012 or 100%
of the actuarially determined employer contribution rate from June 30, 2021, actuarial valuations, whichever was greater. From July
1, 2022, on, school divisions are assumed to continue to contribute 100% of the actuarially determined contribution rates. Based on
those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit
payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return was applied to all periods of
projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Net Pension Liability. On June 30, 2023, the professional group reported a liability of $652,855 for its proportionate share of the net
pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net
pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2021, and rolled forward to the measurement date of June
30, 2022. The professional group’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on the professional group’s actuarially determined
employer contributions to the pension plan for the year ended June 30, 2023, relative to the total of the actuarially determined employer
contributions for all participating employers. On June 30, 2022, the professional group’s proportion was 6.87% as compared to 6.76%
on June 30, 2021.
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The non-professional net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. The total pension
liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed as of June 30, 2021, using updated
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2022.

Changes in Net Pension Liability — Non-Professional Group. lllustration 15-28 presents the change in the net pension liability from
June 30, 2021 to June 30, 2022, which is the measurement date for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023.

lllustration 15-28
Schools’ VRS Pension Plan — For Non-Professional Group
Changes in Net Pension Liability

Plan Fiduciary Net

Total Pension  Position - Increase Net Pension
Liability (Decrease) Liability
Balances on June 30, 2021 for FY 2022 S 249,016 262,283 (13,267)
Changes for the year:
Service cost 4,842 - 4,842
Interest 16,709 - 16,709
Differences between expected
and actual experience P 1,070 ) 1,070
Contributions — employer - 3,263 (3,263)
Contributions - employee - 2,827 (2,827)
Net investment income - (242) 242
Benefit payments, ir.lclu.ding refunds (12,631) (12,631) i
of employee contributions
Administrative expenses - (164) 164
Other changes - 5 (5)
Net changes 9,990 (6,942) 16,932
Balances on June 30, 2022 for FY 2023 S 259,006 255,341 3,665

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate— Non-Professional Group. |llustration 15-29 presents the net
pension liability of the non-professional group measured as of June 30, 2022, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, using the discount
rate of 6.75%, as well as the non-professional group’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is
one percentage point lower (5.75%) and one percentage point higher (7.75%) than the current rate.

lllustration 15-29
Schools’ VRS Pension Plan — For Non-Professional Group
Sensitivity of Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

1.00%

Decrease Current Discount 1.00% Increase
9 0,
(5.75%) Rate (6.75%) (7.75%)
Schools' Non-Professional Group’s Net Pension
Liability / (Asset) $ 37,295 3665 3777)

Illustration 15-30 presents the professional group’s proportionate share of the net pension liability measured as of June 30, 2022, for
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, using the discount rate of 6.75%, as well as the professional group’s proportionate share of the
net pension liability calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (5.75%) and one percentage point higher (7.75%)
than the current rate.
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lllustration 15-30
Schools’ VRS Pension Plan — For Professional Group
Sensitivity of Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

1.00% Decrease Current Discount Rate 1.00% Increase
(5.75%) (6.75%) (7.75%)

Schools' Professional Group’s
Proportionate Share of the VRS S 1,166,049 652,855 235,002

Teacher Employee Retirement Plan
Net Pension Liability

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions— Non-Professional
Group. For the year ended June 30, 2023, the non-professional group recognized pension expense of $2,213. On June 30, 2023, the
non- professional group reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the
sources displayed in Illustration 15-31.

Illustration 15-31
Schools’ VRS Pension Plan — For Non-Professional Group
Deferred Outflows and (Inflows) of Resources

June 30, 2023

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows
Resources of Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience S 1,594 87
Change in actuarial assumptions 2,884 -

Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments - 7,508
Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 4,137 -
Total S 8,615 7,595

$4,137 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from PWCS’ non-professional group contributions
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2024.
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized
in pension expenses in future reporting periods displayed in lllustration 15-32.

Illustration 15-32
Schools’ VRS Pension Plan — For Non-Professional Group
Amortization of Deferred Outflows and (Inflows) of Resources

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,

2024 S 108
2025 (1,769)
2026 (5,000)
2027 3,544
2028 -
Thereafter -

Total S (3,117)

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions— Professional Group. For
the year ended June 30, 2023, PWCS recognized pension expense of $41,993 related to the professional group. Since there was a change
in proportionate share between measurement dates, a portion of the pension expense was related to deferred amounts from changes
in proportion and from differences between employer contributions and the proportionate share of employer contributions.
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OnlJune 30, 2023, the professional group’s reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions
from the sources displayed in lllustration 15-33.

lllustration 15-33
Schools’ VRS Pension Plan — For Professional Group
Deferred Outflows and (Inflows) of Resources

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience S - 45,017
Change in actuarial assumptions 61,551

Net difference between projected and actual earnings i 85119

on pension plan investments !
Changes in proportion and differences between Employer

Contributions and proportionate share of contributions 18,699 3,880

Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 119,545 -

Total S 199,795 134,016

The measurement date and reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions, will be recognized as a reduction of the
net pension liability in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2024. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense in future reporting periods presented in Illustration
15-34.

Illustration 15-34
Schools’ VRS Pension Plans — For Professional Group
Amortization of Deferred Outflows and (Inflows) of Resources

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,

2024 $  (15,445)
2025 (23,625)
2026 (52,881)
2027 38,185
2028 -
Thereafter -

Total S (53,766)

Pension Plan Data. Detailed information about the VRS Teacher Retirement Plan’s Fiduciary Net Position is available in the separately
issued VRS 2022 ACFR. A copy of the 2022 VRS ACFR may be downloaded from the VRS website at varetire.org/pdf/publications/2022-
annualreport.pdf, or by writing to the VRS’s Chief Financial Officer at P.O. Box 2500, Richmond, VA 23218-2500.
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1. Prince William County Other Post-Employment Benefit Plans (OPEB)

The County maintains five OPEB plans for its employees; two Virginia Retirement System (VRS) plans, and three plans that participate
in the OPEB Master Trust Fund:

e VRS OPEB Group Life Insurance Program (GLI) Plan

e VRS Health Insurance Credit Program (HIC) Plan

e  OPEB Master Trust Plans:
o  Prince William County Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Premium Plan (County Premium Plan)
o  Prince William County Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Retiree Health Insurance Credit Plan (County RHICP)
o Prince William County Line of Duty Act Plan (LODA Plan)

The aggregate amount of the County’s net OPEB (asset) liability, related deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources,
and OPEB expense for the County’s OPEB plans are summarized in lllustration 16-1 below.

Illustration 16-1
Prince William County’s Other Post-Employment Benefit (OPEB) Plans
Net OPEB Liability (Asset) and Related Amounts
June 30, 2023

Net OPEB Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

Liability (Asset) of Resources of Resources OPEB Expense
MEASUREMENT DATE 6/30/2022
Virginia Retirement System Plans:
VRS Group Life Insurance Program S 18,063 7,804 4,166 969
VRS Retiree Health Insurance Credit 4,477 1,499 309 497
MEASUREMENT DATE 6/30/2023
OPEB Master Trust Fund Plans:
County Premium Plan 7,726 1,581 2,522 1,225
County RHICP 21,183 3,935 986 2,824
Total OPEB — County Funded S 51,449 14,819 7,983 5,515
MEASUREMENT DATE 6/30/2023
OPEB Master Trust Fund Plan*:
County LODA Plan S (1,025) 3,224 5,207 1,634
Primary Government:

Governmental Activities (F) S (851) 2,675 4,321 1,356
Component units:

Adult Detention Center (E) (174) 549 886 278
Subtotal Governmental Activities from LODA Plan S (1,025) 3,224 5,207 1,634
Primary Government:

Governmental Activities S 45,268 13,040 7,027 4,850

Intra-County Services 1,675 484 260 179

Health Insurance 82 25 13 9

Subtotal Governmental Activities (from all other

47,025 13,549 7,300 5,038
OPEB Plans (A) ! ! ! !
Total Government Activities A+F excluding net 47,025 16,224 11,621 6,394

OPEB assets) = H
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Illustration 16-1 (cont'd)
Prince William County’s Other Post-Employment Benefit (OPEB) Plans
Net OPEB Liability (Asset) and Related Amounts
June 30, 2023

Net OPEB Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

Liability (Asset) of Resources of Resources OPEB Expense
Primary Government-Business-Type
Parks S 39 11 6 4
Landfill 591 162 89 66

Total Proprietary Funds (B) 630 173 95 70
Total Primary Government (H+B) 47,655 16,397 11,716 6,464
Component units:

Adult Detention Center (C) 3,794 1,092 588 407
Total OPEB - County Funded (H+B+C) S 51,449 17,489 12,304 6,871
School Board's OPEB Plans **

School Board Premium S (8,969) 7,008 24,303 (4,508)

Other School Board Pension Plans 125,884 24,574 12,794 9,255

Total Component Units (D) 116,915 31,582 37,097 4,747

Total Component Unit***

(C+D+E excluding net OPEB Asset) 129,678 33,223 38,571 5,432
Total Reporting Entity (Sum A thru F, excluding net S 168,364 49,620 50,287 11,896

OPEB asset)

Note: Amounts are allocated based on proportion of OPEB contributions paid.
*OPEB plan net assets cannot be netted against the net OPEB liabilities of other OPEB plans.
** Please see Schools separately issued financial statements for further information and lllustration 16-47 below.

*** Total Component Unit's Net OPEB Assets is $9,143

A. County’s Virginia Retirement System (VRS) — OPEB Plans County’s VRS Plans Overview:

Plan Description and Administration. The County and the Adult Detention Center (ADC) component unit contribute to the Virginia
Retirement System (VRS) Group Life Insurance (GLI) Program, a multi-employer, cost-sharing, , defined benefit employee and Other Post-
Employment Benefits (OPEB) plan. The County also participates in the Retiree Health Insurance Credit (HIC) Program OPEB Plan, a
multiple-employer, agent defined benefit OPEB plan. Both, the GLI and HIC Programs, are administered by the VRS, along with pensions
and other OPEB plans, for public employer groups in the Commonwealth of Virginia. All full-time, salaried permanent employees of
the County and ADC are automatically covered by the VRS GLI and HIC Programs upon employment.

Professional and non-professional employees of the School Board are also covered by the VRS. Professional employees participate in
a VRS statewide teacher cost-sharing pool, and non-professional employees participate as a separate group in the multi- employer,
agent system. The Prince William County Public Schools OPEB plans are reported separately in their audited financial statements.
Copies of these financial statements may be obtained by writing to the School Board’s Finance Division at P.O. Box 389, Manassas,
Virginia 20108.

Under the VRS HIC Program, members earn one month of service credit toward the benefit for each month they are employed and for
which the County pays contributions to VRS. The retiree health insurance credit is a tax-free reimbursement in an amount set by the
General Assembly for each year of service credit against qualified health insurance premiums retirees pay for single coverage, excluding
any portion covering the spouse or dependents. The credit cannot exceed the amount of the premiums and ends upon the retiree’s
death.
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1. County’s Virginia Retirement System (VRS) — Group Life Insurance (GLI) Program Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB)
Plan

Plan Description and Administration. The Virginia Retirement System (VRS) Group Life Insurance (GLI) Program is a multiple employer,
cost-sharing plan. It provides coverage to state employees, teachers, and employees of participating political subdivisions. The GLI
Program was established pursuant to § 51.1-500 et seq. of the Code of Virginia, as amended, and which provides the authority under
which benefit terms are established or may be amended. The GLI Program is a defined benefit plan that provides a basic group life
insurance benefit for employees of participating employers. All full-time, salaried permanent employees of the state agencies, teachers
and employees of participating political subdivisions are automatically covered by the VRS GLI Program upon employment. This plan
is administered by the Virginia Retirement System (the System), along with pensions and other OPEB plans, for public employer groups
in the Commonwealth of Virginia.

In addition to the Basic GLI benefit, members are also eligible to elect additional coverage for themselves as well as a spouse or
dependent children through the Optional Group Life Insurance Program. For members who elect the optional group life insurance
coverage, the insurer bills employers directly for the premiums. Employers deduct these premiums from members’ paychecks and pay
the premiums to the insurer. Since this is a separate and fully insured program, it is not included as part of the GLI Program OPEB.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. For purposes of measuring the net GLI Program OPEB liability, deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the GLI Program OPEB, and GLI Program OPEB expense, information about the
fiduciary net position of the VRS GLI Program OPEB and the additions to/deductions from the VRS GLI Program OPEB’s net fiduciary
position have been determined on the same basis as they were reported by VRS. In addition, benefit payments are recognized when
due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

Benefits Provided. The specific information for GLI Program, including eligibility, coverage and benefits is set out in the table below:

County’s VRS GROUP LIFE INSURANCE PROGRAM PROVISIONS
Eligible Employees
The Group Life Insurance Program was established July 1, 1960, for state employees, teachers and employees of political
subdivisions that elect the program. Basic group life insurance coverage is automatic upon employment. Coverage ends for employees
who leave their position before retirement eligibility or who take a refund of their accumulated retirement member contributions and
accrued interest.

Benefit Amounts

The benefits payable under the Group Life Insurance Program have several components.

Natural Death Benefit — The natural death benefit is equal to the employee’s covered compensation rounded to the next highest
thousand and then doubled.

Accidental Death Benefit — The accidental death benefit is double the natural death benefit.

Other Benefit Provisions — In addition to the basic natural and accidental death benefits, the program provides additional benefits
provided under specific circumstances. These include:

Accidental dismemberment benefit

Safety belt benefit

Repatriation benefit

Felonious assault benefit

Accelerated death benefit option

Reduction in benefit Amounts

The benefit amounts provided to members covered under the Group Life Insurance Program are subject to a reduction factor. The
benefit amount reduces by 25% on January 1 following one calendar year of separation. The benefit amount reduces by an additional
25% on each subsequent January 1 until it reaches 25% of its original value.

Minimum Benefit Amount and Cost-of-Living Adjustment (COLA)

For covered members with at least 30 years of creditable service, there is a minimum benefit payable under the Group Life Insurance
Program. The minimum benefit was set at $8,000 by statute in 2015. This will be increased annually based on the VRS Plan 2 cost-of-
living adjustment calculation. The minimum benefit adjusted for the COLA was $8,984 as of June 30, 2023.
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Contributions. The contribution requirements for the GLI Program are governed by §51.1-506 and §51.1-508 of the Code of Virginia,
as amended, but may be impacted as a result of funding provided to state agencies and school divisions by the Virginia General
Assembly. The total rate for the GLI Program was 1.34% of covered employee compensation. This was allocated into an employee and
an employer component using a 60/40 split. The employee component was 0.80% (1.34% X 60%) and the employer component was
0.54% (1.34% X 40%). Employers may elect to pay all or part of the employee contribution, however the employer must pay all the
employer contribution. Each employer’s contractually required employer contribution rate for the year ended June 30, 2023, was
0.54% of covered employee compensation. This rate was based on an actuarially determined rate from an actuarial valuation as of
June 30, 2019. The actuarially determined rate, when combined with employee contributions, was expected to finance the costs of
benefits payable during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. The County elects to pay the
employee component with the employer component of the contribution. Contributions to the GLI Program from the County were
$4,313 and $4,746 for the years ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, respectively.

OPEB Liability, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to the Group Life
Insurance Program OPEB. On June 30, 2023, the County reported a liability of $18,063 for its proportionate share of the Net GLI OPEB
Liability. The Net GLI OPEB Liability was measured as of June 30, 2022 and the total GLI OPEB liability used to calculate the Net GLI
OPEB Liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed as of June 30, 2021 and rolled forward to the measurement date of
June 30, 2022. The County’s proportion of the Net GLI OPEB Liability was based on the County’s actuarially determined employer
contributions to the Group Life Insurance Program for the year ended June 30, 2021, relative to the total of the actuarially determined
employer contributions for all participating employers. On June 30, 2022, the County’s proportion was 1.50009% as compared to
1.54687% on June 30, 2021.

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the County recognized GLI OPEB expense of $969. Since there was a change in proportionate share
between measurement dates, a portion of the GLI OPEB expense was related to deferred amounts from changes in proportion.

On June 30, 2023, the County reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the GLI OPEB from
the sources displayed in Illustration 16-2.

Illustration 16-2
County’s Virginia Retirement System — Group Life Insurance (GLI) Program Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Plan
Deferred Outflows and (Inflows) of Resources

June 30, 2023
Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience S 1,430 725
Change in actuarial assumptions 674 1,759
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments - 1,129
Changes in Proportionate Share 1,387 553
Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 4,313 -
Total $ 7,804 4,166

$4,313 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to the GLI OPEB resulting from the County’s contributions subsequent to
the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the Net GLI OPEB Liability in the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2023. Other
amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the GLI OPEB will be recognized in
the GLI OPEB expense in future reporting periods as shown in Illustration 16-3.
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Illustration 16-3
County’s Virginia Retirement System — Group Life Insurance (GLI) Program Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Plan
Amortization of Deferred Outflows and (Inflows) of Resources

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,

2024 S 70
2025 4
2026 (712)
2027 206
2028 (243)

Total S (675)

Actuarial Assumptions. The total GLI OPEB liabilities were based on actuarial valuations as of June 30, 2021, using the Entry Age Normal
actuarial cost method and the following assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement and rolled forward to the
measurement date of June 30, 2022, as displayed in lllustration 16-4.

lllustration 16-4
County's Virginia Retirement System - Group Life Insurance (GLI) Program
Other Post -Employment Benefits (OPEB) Plan
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

Valuation Date June 30, 2021

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal

Investment Rate of Return 6.75% net investment expense, including inflation*

Inflation 2.50%

Healthcare Trend Rate N/A - the benefit is not based on healthcare costs but rather on compensation

General Employees:

Payroll Growth 3.50%-5.35%, includes inflation
Mortality

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Employee Rates projected generationally; males set forward

Pre-Reti t
re-netiremen 2 years; 105% of rates for females set forward 3 years.

Post-Retirement Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Healthy Retiree Rates projected generally; 95% of rates
for males set forward 2 years; 95% of rates for females set forward 1 year
Pub-2010 Amount Weighted General Disabled Rates projected generationally; 110% of rates for

Post-Disablement
males set forward 3 years; 110% of rates for females set forward 2 years.

Beneficiaries and Survivors Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Contingent Annuitant Rates projected generationally.
Mortality Improvement Rates projected generationally with Modified MP-2020 Improvement Scale that is 75% of the MP-
Scale 2020 rates.
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lllustration 16-4 (cont'd)
County's Virginia Retirement System - Group Life Insurance (GLI) Program
Other Post -Employment Benefits (OPEB) Plan
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

Public Safety Employees with Hazardous Duty Benefits:
Payroll Growth 3.50%-4.75%, includes inflation

Mortality

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Employee Rates projected generationally; 95% of

Pre-Retirement
rates for males; 105% of rates for females set forward 2 years.

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Healthy Retiree Rates projected generationally;

Post-Reti t
ost-Retiremen 110% of rates for males; 105% of rates for females set forward 3 years.

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted General Disabled Rates projected generationally; 95% of

Post-Disablement
rates for males set back 3 years; 90% of rates for females set back 3 years.

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Contingent Annuitant Rates projected

Beneficiaries and Survivors .
generationally; 110% of rates for males and females set forward 2 years.

Rates projected generationally with Modified MP-2020 Improvement Scale that is

Mortality Improvement Scale 75% of the MP-2020 rates.

*Administrative expenses as a percent of the fair value of assets for the last experience study were found to be approximately
0.06% of the assets for all of the VRS plans. This would provide an assumed investment return rate for GASB purposes of slightly
more than the assumed 6.75%. However, since the difference was minimal, and a more conservative 6.75% investment return
assumption provided a projected plan net position that exceeded the projected benefit payments, the long-term expected rate of
return on investments was assumed to be 6.75% to simplify preparation of the OPEB liabilities.

Actuarial Assumptions — General Employees

Mortality Rates (Pre-retirement, post- retirement | Update to PUB2010 public sector mortality tables. For future mortality

healthy, and disabled) improvements, replace load with a modified Mortality Improvement Scale MP-
2020

Retirement Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience for Plan 1; set separate rates based on
experience for Plan 2/Hybrid; changed final retirement age from 75 to
80 for all

Withdrawal Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience at each year age and service through 9
years of service

Disability Rates No change

Salary Scale No change

Line of Duty Disability No change

Discount Rate No change
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Actuarial Assumptions Public Safety Employees with Hazardous Duty Benefits

Mortality Rates (Pre-retirement, post-retirement | Update to PUB2010 public sector mortality tables. Increased disability life

healthy, and disabled) expectancy. For future mortality improvements, replace load with a modified
Mortality Improvement Scale MP-2020

Retirement Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience and changed final retirement age from
65to 70

Withdrawal Rates Decreased rates

Disability Rates No change

Salary Scale No change

Line of Duty Disability No change

Discount Rate No change

Net GLI OPEB Liability (NOL). The County’s net OPEB liability for the GLI Program represents the program’s total OPEB liability
determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), less the associated fiduciary net position. As of
the measurement date of June 30, 2022, net OPEB liability amounts for the GLI Program are displayed in lllustration 16-5.

Illustration 16-5
County’s Virginia Retirement System — Group Life Insurance (GLI) Program Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Plan
Net OPEB Liability

Total OPEB  Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB Net Position as % of
Fiscal Year Ended: Liability Net Position Liability Total OPEB Liability
June 30, 2023 S 55,085 37,022 18,063 67.2%

The total GLI OPEB liability is calculated by VRS’ actuary, and each plan’s fiduciary net position is reported in VRS’ financial statements. The
net GLI OPEB liability is disclosed in accordance with the requirements of GAAP in VRS’ notes to the financial statements and required
supplementary information.
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Long-Term Expected Rate of Return. The long-term expected rate of return on the VRS investments was determined using a log-normal
distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of VRS investment
expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate
of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.
The target asset allocation and best estimate of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in lllustration
16-6.

Illustration 16-6
County’s Virginia Retirement System — Group Life Insurance (GLI) Program Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Plan
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Arithmetic Long-Term Weighted

Asset Class (Strategy) Target Allocation Expected Rate of Return Average*
Public Equity 34.00% 5.71% 1.94%
Fixed Income 15.00% 2.04% 0.31%
Credit Strategies 14.00% 4.78% 0.67%
Real Assets 14.00% 4.47% 0.63%
Private Equity 14.00% 9.73% 1.36%
MAPS - Multi-Asset Public Strategies 6.00% 3.73% 0.22%
PIP - Private Investment Partnership 3.00% 6.55% 0.20%
Total 100.00% 5.33%
Inflation 2.50%
Expected arithmetic nominal return ** 7.83%

* The above allocation provides a one-year return of 7.83%. However, one-year returns do not take into account the volatility present
in each of the asset classes. In setting the long-term expected return for the System, stochastic projections are employed to model
future returns under various economic conditions. These results provide a range of returns over various time periods that ultimately
provide a median return of 6.72%, including expected inflation of 2.50%.

**0On October 10, 2019, the VRS Board elected a long-term rate of return of 6.75%, which was roughly at the 40th percentile of
expected long-term results of the VRS fund asset allocation at that time, providing a median return of 7.11%, including expected
inflation of 2.50%.

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total GLI OPEB liability was 6.75%. The projection of cash flows used to determine
the discount rate assumed that member contributions and the County will be made in accordance with the VRS funding policy at rates
equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates adopted by the VRS Board of Trustees and the member rate.
Through the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022, the rates contributed by the County for the GLI OPEB Program will be subject to the
portion of the VRS Board-certified rates that are funded by the Virginia General Assembly, which was 100% of the actuarially
determined contribution rate. From July 1, 2022 on, employers are assumed to continue to contribute 100% of the actuarially
determined contribution rates. Based on those assumptions, the GLI OPEB’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to
make all projected future benefit payments of eligible employees. Therefore the long-term expected rate of return was applied to all
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total GLI OPEB Liability.

Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net GLI OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate |llustration 16-7 presents the County’s
proportionate share of the net GLI OPEB liability using the discount rate of 6.75%, as well as the County’s proportionate share of the net
GLI OPEB liability calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (5.75%) and one percentage point higher (7.75%)
than the current rate.

lllustration 16-7
County’s Virginia Retirement System — Group Life Insurance (GLI) Program Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Plan
Sensitivity of Net OPEB Liability Discount Rate

1.00% Decrease  Current Discount Rate 1.00% Increase
Fiscal Year Ended: (5.75%) (6.75%) (7.75%)
June 30, 2023 $ 26,283 18,063 11,419
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Sensitivity of Proportionate Share of the Net GLI OPEB Liability to Changes in Healthcare Costs. There is no valuation health care cost
trend assumption for the VRS GLI Program because the benefit provided to participants is not dependent on medical claims costs, but
rather is based on each participant’s compensation.

GLI Fiduciary Net Position. Detailed information about the Group Life Insurance Program’s Fiduciary Net Position is available in the
separately issued VRS 2022 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR). A copy of the 2022 VRS ACFR may be downloaded from the
VRS website at https://www.varetire.org/pdf/publications/2022-annual-report.pdf, or by writing to the VRS’ Chief Financial Officer at
P.0. Box 2500, Richmond, Virginia, 23218-2500.

2. County’s Virginia Retirement System (VRS) — Retiree Health Insurance Credit (HIC) Program Other Post-Employment Benefits
(OPEB) Plan

Plan Description and Administration. The County’s VRS Retiree Health Insurance Credit (HIC) Program Other Post- Employment
Benefits (OPEB) Plan is a multiple-employer, agent defined benefit plan that provides a credit toward the cost of health insurance coverage
for retired County employees. The VRS Retiree Health Insurance Credit Program was established pursuant to § 51.1-1400 et seq. of
the Code of Virginia, as amended, and which provides the authority under which benefit terms are established or may be amended.
All full-time, salaried permanent employees of the County are automatically covered under the VRS HIC OPEB upon employment. This
plan is administered by VRS, along with pension and other OPEB plans, for public employer groups in the Commonwealth of Virginia.
Members earn one month of service credit toward the benefit for each month they are employed and for which their employer pays
contributions to VRS. The retiree health insurance credit is a tax-free reimbursement in an amount set by the General Assembly for
each year of service credit against qualified health insurance premiums retirees pay for single coverage, excluding any portion covering
the spouse or dependents. The credit cannot exceed the amount of the premiums and ends upon the retiree’s death.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. For purposes of measuring the net County’s VRS HIC OPEB liability, deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the County’s VRS HIC OPEB, and the County’s VRS HIC OPEB expense,
information about the fiduciary net position of the County’s VRS HIC Plan; and the additions to/deductions from the County’s VRS HIC
Plan’s net fiduciary position have been determined on the same basis as they were reported by VRS. For this purpose, benefit payments
are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

Benefits Provided. The specific information about the County’s HIC OPEB, including eligibility, coverage and benefits is set out in the
table below:

County’s VRS RETIREE HEALTH INSURANCE CREDIT PROGRAM PROVISIONS

Eligible Employees

The County VRS Retiree Health Insurance Credit Program was established July 1, 1993, for retired County employees of employers
who elect the benefit and who retire with at least 15 years of service credit.

Eligible employees are enrolled automatically upon employment. They include:
Full-time permanent salaried employees of the County who are covered under the VRS pension plan are enrolled automatically upon
employment.

Benefit Amounts

The County’s VRS Retiree Health Insurance Credit Program provides the following benefits for eligible employees:

At Retirement — For employees who retire, the monthly benefit is $1.50 per year of service per month with a maximum benefit of
545.00 per month.

Disability Retirement — For employees who retire on disability or go on long-term disability under the Virginia Local Disability
Program (VLDP), the monthly benefit is $45.00 per month.

County VRS Retiree Health Insurance Credit Program Notes:
The monthly Health Insurance Credit benefit cannot exceed the individual premium amount.

No health insurance credit for premiums paid and qualified under LODA; however, the employee may receive the credit for premiums
paid for other qualified health plans.

Employees who retire after being on long-term disability under VLDP must have at least 15 year of service credit to qualify for
the Retiree Health Insurance Credit as a retiree.
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Employees Covered by Benefit Terms. As of the June 30, 2021, actuarial valuation, employees covered by the benefit terms of the VRS
HIC OPEB Plan are displayed in lllustration 16-8.

lllustration 16-8
County’s Virginia Retirement System Retiree Health Insurance Credit (HIC) Program
Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Plan
Plan Membership as of the Valuation Date of June 30, 2021

Inactive plan members or their beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 1,124
Inactive members:

Vested inactive members 60
Total inactive members 1,184
Active employees 3,941

Total covered members 5,125

Contributions. The contributions requirement for active employees is governed by §51.1-1402(E) of the Code of Virginia, as amended,
but may be impacted as a result of funding options provided to the County by the Virginia General Assembly. The County’s contractually
required employer contribution rate for the year ended June 30, 2023, was 0.18% of covered employee compensation. This rate was
based on an actuarially determined rate from an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2021. The actuarially determined rate was expected to
finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability.
Contributions from the County to the VRS HIC Program were $537 and $523 for the years ended June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022,
respectively.

Net HIC OPEB Liability (NOL). The County’s net VRS HIC OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2022. The total VRS HIC OPEB
liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed as of June 30, 2021, using updated actuarial assumptions, applied to all
periods included in the measurement and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2022.

Actuarial Assumptions. The total VRS HIC OPEB liability was based on actuarial valuations as of June 30, 2021, using the Entry Age
Normal actuarial cost method and the following assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement and rolled forward
to the measurement date of June 30, 2022 as displayed in lllustration 16-9.

Illustration 16-9
County's Virginia Retirement System Retiree Health Insurance Credit (HIC) Program
Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Plan
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

Valuation Date June 30, 2021

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal

Investment Rate of Return 6.75% net investment expense, including inflation*

Inflation 2.50%

Healthcare Trend Rate N/A - the benefit is not based on healthcare costs but rather on compensation

General Employees:
Payroll Growth 3.50%-5.35%, includes inflation
Mortality

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Employee Rates projected generationally; 95%of rates for

Pre-Retirement
males; 105% of rates for females set forward 2 years.

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Healthy Retiree Rates projected generationally; 110% of rates

Post-Retirement
for males; 105% of rates for females set forward 3years.

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted General Disabled Rates projected generationally;95% of rates for males

Post-Disabl
ost-Disablement set back 3 years; 90% of rates for females set back 3 years.
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lllustration 16-9 (cont'd)
County's Virginia Retirement System Retiree Health Insurance Credit (HIC) Program
Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Plan
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

General Employees (cont'd):

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Contingent Annuitant Rates projected generationally;

Beneficiaries and Survivors
110% of rates for males and females set forward 2 years

Rates projected generationally with Modified MP-2020 Improvement Scale that is75% of

Mortality Improvement Scale the MP-2020 rates

Public Safety Employees with Hazardous Duty Benefits:
Payroll Growth 3.50%-4.75%, includes inflation
Mortality

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Employee Rates projected generationally; 95% of

Pre-Retirement
rates for males; 105% of rates for females set forward 2 years.

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Healthy Retiree Rates projected generationally; 110%

Post-Retirement
of rates for males; 105% of rates for females set forward 3 years.

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted General Disabled Rates projected generationally; 95% of

Post-Disablement
! rates for males set back 3 years; 90% of rates for females set back 3 years.

Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Contingent Annuitant Rates projected generationally;

Beneficiaries and Survivors
110% of rates for males and females set forward 2 years

Rates projected generationally with Modified MP-2020 Improvement Scale that is75% of

M lity | I
ortality Improvement Scale the MP-2020 rates

*Administrative expenses as a percent of the fair value of assets for the last experience study were found to be approximately 0.06%
of the assets for all of the VRS plans. This would provide an assumed investment return rate for GASB purposes of slightly more than
the assumed 6.75%. However, since the difference was minimal, and a more conservative 6.75% investment return assumption
provided a projected plan net position that exceeded the projected benefit payments, the long-term expected rate of return on
investments was assumed to be 6.75% to simplify preparation of the OPEB liabilities.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2021, valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience study for the
period from July 1, 2016 through June 30, 2020, except the change in the discount rate, which was based on VRS Board action effective
as of July 1, 2019.

Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms. Changes to the actuarial assumptions as a result of the experience study and VRS Board
action are as follows:

Actuarial Assumptions — General Employees

Mortality Rates (Pre-retirement, post-retirement [ Update to PUB2010 public sector mortality tables. For future mortality

healthy, and disabled) improvements, replace load with a modified Mortality Improvement Scale MP-
2020

Retirement Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience for Plan 1; set separate rates based on
experience for Plan 2/Hybrid; changed final retirement age from 75 to
80 for all

Withdrawal Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience at each year age and service through 9
years of service

Disability Rates No change

Salary Scale No change

Line of Duty Disability No change

Discount Rate No change
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Actuarial Assumptions Public Safety Employees with Hazardous Duty Benefits

Mortality Rates (Pre-retirement, post-retirement | Update to PUB2010 public sector mortality tables. Increased disability life
healthy, and disabled) expectancy. For future mortality improvements, replace load with a modified
Mortality Improvement Scale MP-2020

Retirement Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience and changed final retirement age from
65to 70
Withdrawal Rates Decreased rates and changed from rates based on age and service to rates

based on service only to better fit experience and to be more consistent with
Locals Top 10 Hazardous Duty

Disability Rates No change
Salary Scale No change
Line of Duty Disability No change
Discount Rate No change

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return. The long-term expected rate of return on the VRS investments was determined using a log-
normal distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of VRS
investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term
expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding
expected inflation. The target asset allocation and best estimate of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are
summarized in lllustration 16-10.

Illustration 16-10
County’s Virginia Retirement System — Retiree Health Insurance Credit (HIC) Program
Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Plan
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Arithmetic Long-Term Weighted

Asset Class (Strategy) Target Allocation Expected Rate of Return Average*
Public Equity 34.00% 5.71% 1.94%
Fixed Income 15.00% 2.04% 0.31%
Credit Strategies 14.00% 4.78% 0.67%
Real Assets 14.00% 4.47% 0.63%
Private Equity 14.00% 9.73% 1.36%
MAPS - Multi-Asset Public Strategies 6.00% 3.73% 0.22%
PIP - Private Investment Partnership 3.00% 6.55% 0.20%
Total 100.00% 5.33%
Inflation 2.50%
**Expected arithmetic nominal return 7.83%

* The above allocation provides a one-year return of 7.83%. However, one-year returns do not take into account the volatility
present in each of the asset classes. In setting the long-term expected return for the System, stochastic projections are employed
to model future returns under various economic conditions. These results provide a range of returns over various time periods that
ultimately provide a median return of 6.72%, including expected inflation of 2.50%.

**0n October 10, 2019, the VRS Board elected a long-term rate of return of 6.75%, which was roughly at the 40th percentile of
expected long-term results of the VRS fund asset allocation at that time, providing a median return of 7.11%, including expected
inflation of 2.50%.

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total VRS HIC OPEB liability was 6.75%. The projection of cash flows used to
determine the discount rate assumed that contributions will be made in accordance with the VRS funding policy at rates equal to the
difference between actuarially determined contribution rates adopted by the VRS Board of Trustees and the member rate. Through
the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022, the rates contributed by the entity for the VRS HIC OPEB will be subject to the portion of the VRS
Board- certified rates that are funded by the Virginia General Assembly, which was 100% of the actuarially determined contribution
rate. From July 1,2022, on, employers are assumed to contribute 100% of the actuarially determined contribution rates. Based on those
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assumptions, the VRS HIC OPEB fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of
eligible employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to
determine the total VRS HIC OPEB liability.

Changes in Net VRS HIC OPEB Liability. |llustration 16-11 presents the change in the net OPEB liability from June 30, 2021 to June 30,
2022, which is the measurement date for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023.

lllustration 16-11
County’s Virginia Retirement System
Retiree Health Insurance Credit (HIC) Program Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Plan
Changes in Net OPEB Liability

Plan Fiduciary

Net Position -
Total OPEB Increase Net OPEB
Liability (Decrease) Liability
Balances on June 30, 2021 for FY 2022 S 8,661 4,759 3,902
Changes for the year:
Service cost 233 - 233
Interest 579 - 579
Changes of assumptions 552 - 552
Differences between expected and actual experience (176) - (176)
Contributions - employer - 537 (537)
Net investment income - 7 (7)
Benefit payments, including refund of employee contributions (618) (618) -
Administrative expenses - (8) 8
Other costs - 77 (77)
Net changes 570 (5) 575
Balances on June 30, 2022 for FY 2023 S 9,231 4,754 4,477

Sensitivity of the Net VRS HIC OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate. lllustration 16-12 presents the County VRS HIC's net
OPEB liability measured as of June 30, 2022, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, using the discount rate of 6.75%, as well as the
County’s net OPEB liability calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (5.75%) and one percentage point higher
(7.75%) than the current rate.

lllustration 16-12
County’s Virginia Retirement System
Retiree Health Insurance Credit (HIC) Program Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Plan Sensitivity of Net OPEB Liability
Discount Rate

Fiscal Year Ended: 1.00% Decrease Current Discount Rate 1.00% Increase
(5.75%) (6.75%) (7.75%)
June 30, 2023 S 5,496 4,477 3,613

Sensitivity of the Net VRS HIC OPEB Liability to Changes in Healthcare Costs. There is no valuation health care cost trend assumption
for the VRS HIC Program because the benefit provided to participants is not dependent on medical claims costs, but rather is based on
each participant’s insurance premiums paid.

(Amounts expressed in thousands)
139



OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to VRS Health Insurance Credit
Program OPEB. For the year ended June 30, 2023, the County recognized VRS HIC OPEB expense of $497. On June 30, 2023, the County
reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the County VRS HIC OPEB Plan as displayed in
lllustration 16-13.

Illustration 16-13
County’s Virginia Retirement System
Retiree Health Insurance Credit (HIC) Program Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Plan
Deferred Outflows and (Inflows) of Resources
June 30, 2023

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience S 199 154
Change in actuarial assumptions 716 34
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments - 121
Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 584 -
Total S 1,499 309

$584 of the reported as VRS HIC’s deferred outflows of resources is related to the County’s contributions made subsequent to the
measurement date and will be recognized as a reduction of the Net VRS HIC's OPEB Liability in the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2024.
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the VRS HIC OPEB Plan will be
recognized in the VRS HIC OPEB expense in future reporting periods displayed in Illustration 16-14.

lllustration 16-14
County’s Virginia Retirement System
Retiree Health Insurance Credit (HIC) Program Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Plan
Amortization of Deferred Outflows and (Inflows) of Resources

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,

2024 S 76
2025 76
2026 53
2027 185
2028 85
Thereafter 131

Total S 606

VRS HIC Fiduciary Net Position. Information about the VRS Retiree Health Insurance Credit’s Fiduciary Net Position is available in the
separately issued VRS 2022 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR), which can be downloaded from the VRS website at
https://www.varetire.org/pdf/publications/2022-annual-report.pdf, or by writing to the VRS’ Chief Financial Officer at P.O. Box 2500,
Richmond, Virginia, 23218-2500.

B. County’s Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Master Trust Plans

Plan Descriptions and Administration. The Prince William County Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Master Trust Fund,
administered by Prince William County (the County) and the OPEB Master Trust Fund Finance Board (the Trustees), was established
by the County Board on June 23, 2009, by Resolution No. 09-544 to provide funding for benefit payments on behalf of retirees and
Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) participants. On June 30, 2009, funds were transferred to establish separate
trust fund accounts for the four single-employer, defined benefit OPEB plans operating under the OPEB Master Trust:

e Prince William County Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Premium Plan (County Premium Plan)
e Prince William County Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Retiree Health Insurance Credit Plan (County RHICP)
e  Prince William County Line of Duty Act Plan (LODA Plan)
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The County participates in the County Premium Plan, County RHICP, and LODA Plan. The County Board approves the terms of their
participating OPEB Master Trust Plans, and the Trustees administer the activity of the plans. The Trustees are comprised of three
members: two finance directors representing the employer and one citizen member. The County does not issue separate stand- alone
financial reports for their plans.

Contributions and earnings on the contributions to the OPEB Master Trust are irrevocable and can only be used by the Trust. All OPEB
Trust plan assets are dedicated to providing OPEB benefits to plan members in accordance with benefit terms. OPEB plan assets are
legally protected from the creditors of the County, Schools and the OPEB Trust Board and are legally protected from creditors of any
plan members.

Illustration 16-15 is a summary of the Statement of Fiduciary Net Position of the Master Trust Fund Plans. See the proceeding discussion
for further information on each plan.

Illustration 16-15
Prince William County — OPEB Master Trust Fund Statement of Fiduciary Net Positions
June 30, 2023

School
County Board Total OPEB
Premium County LODA Premium Master
Plan RHICP Plan Plan Trust
Assets:
Restricted investments S 23,556 24,672 23,946 52,465 124,639
Total assets 23,556 24,672 23,946 52,465 124,639
Liabilities:
Accounts payable 1,433 2,250 1,041 8 4,732
Total liabilities 1,433 2,250 1,041 8 4,732
Net position:
Net position restricted for OPEB 22,123 22,422 22,905 52,457 119,907
Total net position S 22,123 22,422 22,905 52,457 119,907
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Illustration 16-16 is a summary of the Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position of the Master Trust Fund Plans.

Illustration 16-16
Prince William County — OPEB Master Trust Fund
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
For the year ended June 30, 2023

School Total
Board OPEB
County County LODA Premium Master
Premium Plan RHICP Plan Plan Trust
Additions:

Employer contributions S 1,513 2,366 1,896 10 5,785
Total contributions 1,513 2,366 1,896 10 5,785
Investment income:

Total investment income 1,857 1,636 2,092 4,190 9,775

Less: investment expense (40) (35) (44) (90) (209)

Net investment income 1,817 1,601 2,048 4,100 9,566
Total additions 3,330 3,967 3,944 4,110 15,351
Deductions:

Benefit payments 1,429 2,247 993 - 4,669
Total deductions 1,429 2,247 993 - 4,669
Change in net position: 1,901 1,720 2,951 4,110 10,682

Net position, beginning of year 20,222 20,702 19,954 48,347 109,225

Net position, end of year $ 22,123 22,422 22,905 52,457 119,907

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return. All OPEB Master Trust Plans’ assets are commingled for investment purposes. However, only the
assets for each Plan can be used to pay for the benefits of that specific Plan. The long-term expected rate of return on the County’s
Premium Plan’s investments is derived using an economic building block approach that projects economic and corporate profit growth
and takes into consideration the fundamental factors driving long-term real economic growth, expectations for inflation, productivity,
and labor force growth. The target asset allocation and best estimate of geometric rates of return for each major asset class are
summarized in lllustration 16-17.

Illustration 16-17
Prince William County — OPEB Master Trust Fund
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Capital Market Expected Long-term
Asset Class Target Allocation Assumptions Rate of Return
OPEB Master Trust Fund Investments:
Domestic Equity 40.0% 7.7% 5.2%
International Developed Equity 15.0% 7.5% 5.0%
International Emerging Markets Equity 5.0% 7.5% 5.0%
Core Bonds 20.0% 4.0% 1.5%
Investment Grade Corporate Debt 10.0% 5.0% 2.5%
Emerging Markets Debt 5.0% 5.2% 2.7%
High Yield 5.0% 5.7% 3.2%
100.0%
Inflation 2.5%
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return 6.5%
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Money Weighted Rate of Return. The annual money-weighted rate of return on OPEB plan investments calculated as the internal rate
of return, net of plan investment expenses, is 8.55% The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of
investment expenses, and adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

1. Prince William County Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Premium Plan (County Premium Plan)

Plan Descriptions and Administration. The Prince William County Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Premium Plan (County Premium
Plan) covers eligible retired employees and Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) eligible employees of the County,
including all departments and agencies. The County Premium Plan provides limited health, dental and vision insurance benefits to
eligible retirees and their eligible family members. To receive the subsidy, the participant must be eligible to retire or eligible for COBRA
coverage and have coverage under the medical plan prior to termination. All employees who are retiree eligible or COBRA eligible have
access to medical coverage. Dependents, including surviving spouses, are permitted access to medical coverage. No access to medical
coverage is permitted after age 65. Eligible employees must elect coverage immediately upon retirement. Employees who terminate prior
to retirement eligibility are not eligible for the County Premium Plan. Terminated employees can elect COBRA coverage for up to
eighteen months if previously enrolled in the County Premium Plan. Terminated plan members and beneficiaries are required to pay
100% of published blended premium rates to the County.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms. lllustration 16-18 summarizes the membership in the OPEB Master Trust Fund — County
Premium Plan as of January 1, 2022, the latest actuarial valuations for the County.

Illustration 16-18
Prince William County Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Premium Plan (County Premium Plan)
Plan Membership as of the Valuation Date of January 1, 2022

Active employees 3,502
Inactive members receiving benefits 209
Total covered members 3,711

Contributions. Contribution requirements are established and may be amended by the County Board at any time via approved
resolution. The County Board must provide 30 days’ notice to establish new requirements or amend existing requirements including
contributions to the Plan per Article X of the Trust Agreement. The County intends to contribute the entire annually actuarially
determined contribution and invoices the Plan to recover the claims and administrative costs paid for during the fiscal year.

The County contributed $1,513 to the OPEB Master Trust’s County Premium Plan for the year ended June 30, 2023. The contribution
amounts were determined using the actuarial valuations performed as of January 1, 2022 and valuation rolled forward to June 30, 2022.
The actuarially determined contribution amount were derived with the expectation of financing costs for members benefits earned
during the current fiscal year and include an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability, if needed.

Net County Premium Plan OPEB Liability (NOL). The County’s net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2023. The total OPEB
liability used to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed as of January 1, 2022, using
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30,
2023.

The components of the net position liability for the County Premium Plan of the OPEB Master Trust Fund as of June 30, 2023 are shown
in lllustration 16-19.

lllustration 16-19
Prince William County Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Premium Plan (County Premium Plan)
Net OPEB Liability

Net Position as %

Total OPEB  Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB of Total OPEB
Fiscal Year Ended: Liability Net Position Liability Liability
June 30, 2023 S 29,850 22,124 7,726 74.12%

Actuarial Assumptions. The total OPEB liability for employees in the County’s Premium Plan in the Master Trust Fund was calculated
using the actuarial valuation performed as of January 1, 2022, using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method and the assumptions
displayed in lllustration 16-20, applied to all periods included in the measurement year and rolled forward to the measurement date
of June 30, 2022.
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Illustration 16-20
Prince William County Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Premium Plan (County Premium Plan)
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

Valuation Date January 1, 2022

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal

Amortization Method Level Percentage of Projected Payroll, closed

Remaining Amortization Period 16 years

Asset Valuation Method Fair Value of Assets

Investment Rate of Return 6.75%, net of expenses

Inflation 2.50%

Payroll Growth 3.00%

Healthcare Cost Trend Rates 5.8% base; 3.94% ultimate (pre-Medicare); does not provide post-Medicare coverage

Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms. Changes to the actuarial assumptions related to the net position liability that was
measured as of June 30, 2023 are as follows:

Disability Rate for Sworn Officers Increased from 60% to 70%

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability for the County’s Premium Plan was 6.75%. The projection
of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that the County intends to contribute the full contribution amount
actuarially determined and charge the Trust to recover any payments made for claims, net of retiree and COBRA insured premiums,
made by the County during the current fiscal year. Since the Plan’s current target allocation is 60% equity and 40% fixed income, the
discount rate is realized. The returns presented below are calculated using geometric return projections based on long-term capital
market assumptions. As a result, the Trust’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected benefit payments
for eligible members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to
determine the total OPEB liability.

Changes in the Net County Premium Plan OPEB Liability. Illustration 16-21 presents the changes in net OPEB liability from June 30, 2023
to June 30, 2023.

lllustration 16-21
Prince William County Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Premium Plan (County Premium Plan)
Changes in Net OPEB Liability
Plan Fiduciary

Net Position -

Total OPEB Increase Net OPEB

Liability (Decrease) Liability

Balances on June 30, 2022 S 27,990 20,222 7,768
Changes for the year:

Service cost 1,468 - 1,468

Interest 1,840 - 1,840

Differences between expected and actual experience (19) - (19)

Contributions - employer - 1,513 (1,513)

Net investment income - 1,818 (1,818)

Benefit payments, including refund of employee contributions (1,429) (1,429) -

Net changes 1,860 1,902 (42)

Balances on June 30, 2023 S 29,850 22,124 7,726
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Sensitivity of the Net County Premium Plan OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate. |llustration 16-22 presents the net OPEB
liability of the County Premium Plan using the discount rate of 6.75%, as well as the net OPEB liability calculated using a discount rate
that is one percentage point lower (5.75%) and one percentage point higher (7.75%) than the current rate.

Illustration 16-22
Prince William County Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Premium Plan (County Premium Plan)
Sensitivity of Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate
June 30, 2023

1.00% Decrease Current Discount 1.00% Increase
(5.75%) Rate (6.75%) (7.75%)
County's Net OPEB liability $ 10,489 7,726 5,251

Sensitivity of the Net County Premium Plan OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rate. Illustration 16-23 presents
the net OPEB liability of the County Premium Plan using the current Healthcare Cost Trend Rate of 6.00% base with an 3.94% ultimate
Medicare coverage and it is not applicable to post-Medicare coverage as well as the net OPEB liability (asset) calculated using a
healthcare cost trend rate that is one percentage point lower (2.94%) and one percentage point higher (4.94%) than the current rate.

lllustration 16-23
Prince William County Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Premium Plan (County Premium Plan)
Sensitivity of Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Medical Trend Rate

June 30, 2023
1.00% Decrease Medical Trend 1.00% Increase
(2.94%) (3.94%) (4.94%)
County's Net OPEB Liability $ 4,207 7,726 11,902

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to the County Premium Plan. For the
year ended June 30, 2023, the County Premium Plan recognized OPEB expense of $1,225. On June 30, 2023, the County reported
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the sources presented in Illustration 16-24.

lllustration 16-24
Prince William County Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Premium Plan (County Premium Plan)
Deferred Outflows and (Inflows) of Resources
June 30, 2023

Deferred Deferred

Outflows Inflows

of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience S 749 1,359
Change in actuarial assumptions - 1,163
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments 832 -
Total S 1,581 2,522
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Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources will be recognized in the County Premium
Plan’s OPEB expense in future reporting periods displayed by Illustration 16-25.

Illustration 16-25
Prince William County Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Premium Plan (County Premium Plan)
Amortization of Deferred Outflows and (Inflows) of Resources

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,

2024 S (726)
2025 (695)
2026 805
2027 (200)
2028 (48)
Thereafter (77)

Total S (941)

2. Prince William County Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Retiree Health Insurance Credit (County RHICP) Plan

Plan Description and Administration. The Prince William County Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Retiree Health Insurance Credit
Plan (County RHICP) covers eligible employees or former employees of the County including all departments and agencies. The RHICP
provides $5.50 per month, per year of service (maximum 30 years) paid for life towards the purchase of a medical insurance plan.
Disabled employees receive the full 30-year allowance. However, employees disabled in-service, where the County pays the entire cost
of insurance, do not receive the subsidy. The medical insurance plan can be the County Premium Plan or any health plan of the retiree’s
choosing. To receive the subsidy, the retiree must have 15 years of service with the County and must be receiving a pension payment
from the VRS or the County Supplemental Pension Plan. Terminated vested employees are allowed. The health insurance credit cannot
be used for spousal coverage. The retirees are granted the option to participate by paying 100% of their monthly health insurance
premium towards the County Premium Plan less $5.50 times years of service for a maximum health insurance credit rate of $165.00
from the County.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms. lllustration 16-26 summarizes the membership in the County RHICP as of January 1, 2022, the
latest actuarial valuations for the County.

Illustration 16-26
Prince William County Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Retiree Health Insurance Credit (County RHICP) Fund
Plan Membership as of the Valuation Date of January 1, 2022

Active employees 4,320
Inactive members receiving benefits 1,437

Total covered members 5,757

Contributions. Contribution requirements are established and may be amended by the County Board at any time via approved
resolution. The County Board must provide 30 days’ notice to establish new requirements or amend existing requirements including
contributions to the Plan per Article X of the Trust Agreement. The County intends to contribute the entire annually actuarially
determined contribution and invoices the Plan to recover the claims and administrative costs paid for during the fiscal year.

The County contributed $2,366 to the County RHICP for the year ended June 30, 2023. The contribution amounts were determined using
the actuarial valuations performed as of January 1, 2022, and rolled forward to June 30, 2023. The actuarially determined contribution
amount were derived with the expectation of financing costs for members benefits earned during the current fiscal year and include
an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability, if needed.

Net County RHICP OPEB Liability (NOL). The County’s net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2023. The total OPEB liability used
to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed as of January 1, 2022, using actuarial assumptions,
applied to all periods included in the measurement and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2023. The components
of the net OPEB liability for the OPEB Master Trust’s County RHICP are shown in Illustration 16-27.
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Illustration 16-27
Prince William County Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Retiree Health Insurance Credit (County RHICP) Fund
Net OPEB Liability

Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB Net Position as % of
Fiscal Year Ended: Liability Net Position Liability Total OPEB Liability
June 30, 2023 S 43,605 22,422 21,183 51.42%

Actuarial Assumptions. The total OPEB liability for employees in the County’s RHICP was calculated using the actuarial valuation
performed as of January 1, 2022, using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method and the assumptions displayed in Illustration
16-28, applied to all periods included in the measurement year and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2023.

Illustration 16-28
Prince William County Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Retiree Health Insurance Credit (County RHICP) Fund
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

Valuation Date January 1, 2022

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal

Amortization Method Level Percentage of Projected Pay, closed

Remaining Amortization Period 15 years, closed

Asset Valuation Method Fair Value of Assets

Investment Rate of Return 6.75%, net of expenses

Inflation 2.50%

Payroll Growth 3.00%

Healthcare Cost Trend Rates Not applicable - This Plan does not depend on healthcare cost trend rates.

Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms. Changes to the actuarial assumptions related to the net position liability that was
measured as of June 30, 2023 are as follows:

Payroll Growth Rate Decreased from 3.5% to 3.0%

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability for the County’s RHICP was 6.75%. The projection of cash flows
used to determine the discount rate assumed that the County intends to contribute the full contribution amount actuarially determined
and charge the Trust to recover any payments made for claims, net of retiree and COBRA insured premiums, made by the County during
the current fiscal year. Since the Plan’s current target allocation is 60% equity and 40% fixed income, the discount rate is realized. The
returns presented below are calculated using geometric return projections based on long-term capital market assumptions. As a result,
the Trust’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected benefit payments for eligible members. Therefore,
the long-term expected rate of return was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total OPEB liability.
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Changes in Net County RHICP OPEB Liability. lllustration 16-29 presents the changes in net pension liability from June 30, 2022 to

June 30, 2023.

lllustration 16-29

Prince William County Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Retiree Health Insurance Credit (County RHICP) Fund

Changes in Net OPEB Liability

Plan Fiduciary Net Net

Total OPEB  Position - Increase OPEB

Liability (Decrease) Liability

Balances on June 30, 2022 S 42,578 20,702 21,876
Changes for the year:

Service cost 902 - 902

Interest 2,784 - 2,784

Differences between expected and actual experience (412) - (412)

Contributions - employer - 2,366 (2,366)

Net investment income - 1,601 (1,601)

Benefit payments, including refund of employee contributions (2,247) (2,247) -

Net changes 1,027 1,720 (693)

Balances on June 30, 2023 S 43,605 22,422 21,183

Sensitivity of the Net County RHICP OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate. |llustration 16-30 presents the net OPEB liability
of the County using the discount rate of 6.75%, as well as the County’s net OPEB liability calculated using a discount rate that is one

percentage point lower (5.75%) and one percentage point higher (7.75%) than the current rate.

lllustration 16-30

Prince William County Post-Employment Medical Benefits Retiree Health Insurance Credit (County RHICP) Fund
Sensitivity of Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

June 30, 2023
1.00% Decrease  Current Discount Rate 1.00% Increase
(5.75%) (6.75%) (7.75%)
County's Net OPEB Liability $ 26,118 21,183 17,022

Sensitivity of the Net County RHICP OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rate. There is no valuation health care
cost trend assumption for the Prince William County Credit Plan because the benefit provided to participants is not dependent on
medical claims costs, but rather is equal to $5.50 per month per year of service, up to a maximum of 30 years.

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to the County RHICP. For the year ended
June 30, 2023, the County recognized OPEB expense of $2,824. On June 30, 2023, the County reported deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the sources displayed in Illustration 16-31.

lllustration 16-31

Prince William County Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Retiree Health Insurance Credit (County RHICP) Fund

Deferred Outflows and (Inflows) of Resources
June 30, 2023

Deferred Outflows

of Resources

Deferred Inflows

of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience S
Change in actuarial assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments

Total S

2,370 555

295 431
1,270 -
3,935 986

(Amounts expressed in thousands)
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Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources will be recognized in the County RHICP’s OPEB
expense in future reporting periods as shown in lllustration 16-32.

Illustration 16-32
Prince William County Post-Employment Retirement Medical Benefits Retiree Health Insurance Credit (County RHICP) Fund
Amortization of Deferred Outflows and (Inflows) of Resources

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,

2024 S 475
2025 443
2026 1,187
2027 279
2028 297
Thereafter 268

Total S 2,949

3. Prince William County Line of Duty Act (LODA) Plan

Plan Descriptions and Administration. The County’s Line of Duty Act (LODA) is authorized by the Code of Virginia §9.1-400 et seq. On
June 5, 2012, the Board of County Supervisors authorized Resolution No. 12-588, pursuant to paragraph B2 of Item 258 of the
Commonwealth Appropriations Act, to make an irrevocable election not to participate in the Commonwealth Line of Duty Act Fund
on July 1, 2012. The County has assumed all responsibility for existing, pending or prospective claims for benefits approved and
associated administrative costs made by the State Comptroller on behalf of Prince William County. On June 17, 2014, the Board of
County Supervisors authorized Resolution No. 14-391 establishing the Line of Duty Act sub-account to fund covered employees and
authorized annual contributions to the OPEB Master Trust Fund. The beginning liability for fiscal year 2014 was also transferred to the
OPEB Master Trust Fund.

The County LODA Plan provides death, disability and healthcare benefits for public safety employees and volunteer firefighters who
hold specified hazardous duty positions and who die or who become permanently disabled in the line of duty. The LODA Plan includes
a $100 life insurance benefit for death occurring as a direct or proximate result of duties, a $25 death benefit for death by presumptive
clause within five years of retirement, and lifetime medical benefits for the disabled employee and their surviving spouse with certified
children covered to age 26, comparable to the medical coverage held by the deceased or disabled employee or volunteer at the time
of the qualifying incident.

To be eligible to receive LODA benefits, the disabled or deceased employee or volunteer must be certified by the Virginia Department
of Human Resource Management. To be eligible for the healthcare benefit portion of the plan, the employee or volunteer must
subscribe to healthcare coverage under a medical plan prior to the date of incident. Eligible employees and/or family members are
enrolled in a state-sponsored group healthcare plan or reimbursed for their healthcare premiums. Surviving spouses who remarry or
children who marry and have access to other medical insurance coverage are no longer eligible for the healthcare benefits under
the LODA Plan.

Certified LODA retirees and their beneficiaries are required to pay 0% of the Commonwealth premium rate state sponsored group
healthcare plans. County employees covered by benefit terms. lllustration 14-39 summarizes the membership in the OPEB Master Trust
Fund — County LODA Plan as of January 1, 2020, the latest actuarial valuations for the County.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms. lllustration 16-33 summarizes the membership in the OPEB Master Trust Fund — County LODA
Plan as of January 1, 2022, the latest actuarial valuations for the County.

Illustration 16-33
Prince William County Line of Duty Act (LODA) Trust Fund Plan
Plan Membership as of the Valuation Date of January 1, 2022

Active employees 2,3
Inactive members receiving benefits
Total covered members 2,3

(Amounts expressed in thousands)
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Contributions. Contribution requirements are established and may be amended by the County Board at any time via approved
resolution. The County Board must provide 30 days’ notice to establish new requirements or amend existing requirements including
contributions to the Plan per Article X of the Trust Agreement. The County intends to contribute the entire annually actuarially
determined contribution and invoices the LODA Plan to recover the premiums, life insurance payout and administrative costs paid for
during the fiscal year.

The County contributed $1,941 to the LODA Plan for the year ended June 30, 2023. The contribution amounts were determined using
the actuarial valuations performed as of January 1, 2022, and valuation rolled forward to June 30, 2023. The actuarially determined
contribution amount were derived with the expectation of financing costs for members benefits earned during the current fiscal year
and include an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability, if needed.

Net OPEB Asset. The County’s net OPEB asset was measured as of June 30, 2023. The total OPEB liability used to calculate the net OPEB
asset was determined by an actuarial valuation performed as of January 1, 2022, using actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods
included in the measurement and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2023.

Illustration 16-34 shows the net OPEB asset for the OPEB Master Trust’s County LODA Plan was measured as of June 30, 2023.

Illustration 16-34
Prince William County Line of Duty Act (LODA) Trust Fund Plan
Net OPEB Liability (Asset)

Net Position as %

Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB of Total OPEB
Fiscal Year Ended: Liability Net Position Asset Liability
June 30, 2023 S 21,880 22,905 (1,025) 104.68%

Actuarial Assumptions. The total OPEB liability for employees in the County’s LODA Plan was calculated using the actuarial valuation
performed as of January 1, 2022, using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method and the assumptions displayed in Illustration
16-35, applied to all periods included in the measurement year and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2023.

Illustration 16-35
Prince William County Line of Duty Act (LODA) Trust Fund Plan
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

Valuation Date January 1, 2022

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal

Amortization Method Level Percentage of Projected Pay, closed

Remaining Amortization Period 20 years, closed

Asset Valuation Method Fair Value of Assets

Investment Rate of Return 6.75%, net of expenses

Inflation 2.50%

Payroll Growth 3.00%

Healthcare Cost Trend Rates 6.0% base; 3.94% ultimate (pre-Medicare); Virginia LODA and Medicare Part B coverage

Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms. Changes to the actuarial assumptions related to the net position liability that was
measured as of June 30, 2023, are as follows:

Payroll Growth Rate Decreased from 3.5% to 3.0%

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability for the County’s LODA Plan was 6.75%. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that the County intends to contribute the full contribution amount actuarially
determined and charge the Trust to recover any payments made for claims, net of retiree and COBRA insured premiums, made by the
County during the current fiscal year. Since the Plan’s current target allocation is 60% equity and 40% fixed income, the discount rate
is realized. The returns presented below are calculated using geometric return projections based on long- term capital market
assumptions. As a result, the Trust’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected benefit payments for
eligible members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to
determine the total OPEB liability.

(Amounts expressed in thousands)
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Changes in Net LODA OPEB Asset (NOA). lllustration 16-36 presents the changes in net OPEB asset from June 30, 2022 to June 30, 2023.

lllustration 16-36
Prince William County Line of Duty Act (LODA) Trust Fund Plan
Changes in Net OPEB Asset
Plan Fiduciary

Net Position -

Total OPEB Increase Net OPEB

Liability (Decrease) Asset

Balances on June 30, 2022 S 19,724 19,954 (230)
Changes for the year:

Service cost 1,908 - 1,908

Interest 1,296 - 1,296

Differences between expected and actual experience (55) - (55)

Contributions - employer - 1,896 (1,896)

Net investment income - 2,048 (2,048)

Benefit payments, including refund of employee contributions (993) (993) -

Net changes 2,156 2,951 (795)

Balances on June 30, 2023 S 21,880 22,905 (1,025)

Sensitivity of the Net LODA OPEB Liability (Asset) to Changes in the Discount Rate. lllustration 16-37 presents the net OPEB asset of the
County LODA Plan using the discount rate of 6.75%, as well as what the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount
rate that is one percentage point lower (5.75%) or one percentage point higher (7.75%) than the current rate.

Illustration 16-37
Prince William County Line of Duty Act (LODA) Trust Fund Plan
Sensitivity of Net OPEB Liability (Asset) to Changes in the Discount Rate

June 30, 2023
1.00% Decrease Current Discount 1.00% Increase
(5.75%) Rate (6.75%) (7.75%)
County's Net OPEB Liability (Asset) $ 1,424 (1,025) (3,088)

Sensitivity of the Net LODA OPEB Liability (Asset) to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rate. |llustration 16-38 presents the net OPEB
asset of the County LODA plan using the current Healthcare Cost Trend Rate of 6.00% base with 3.94% ultimate, Virginia LODA
premiums and the Medicare B premiums, as well as the net OPEB liability (asset) calculated using a healthcare cost trend rate that is one
percentage point lower (2.94%) and one percentage point higher (4.94%) than the current rate.

Illustration 16-38
Prince William County Line of Duty Act Plan (LODA Plan)
Sensitivity of Net OPEB Liability (Asset) to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rate
June 30, 2023

1.00% Decrease Current Discount 1.00% Increase
(2.94%) Rate (3.94%) (4.94%)
County's Net OPEB (Asset) Liability $ (4,287) (1,025) 2,990

(Amounts expressed in thousands)
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OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to the LODA Plan. For the year ended
June 30, 2023, the County recognized OPEB expense of $1,634. On June 30, 2023, the County reported deferred outflows of resources

and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the sources displayed in Illustration 16-39.

Illustration 16-39
Prince William County Line of Duty Act (LODA) Trust Fund Plan
Deferred Outflows and (Inflows) of Resources

June 30, 2023

Deferred Deferred Inflows

Outflows
of Resources

of Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience S 453 5,207
Change in actuarial assumptions 1,790 -

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB

plan investments 981 -
Total S 3,224 5,207

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources will be recognized in the County LODA Plan’s

OPEB expense in future reporting periods as shown in lllustration 16-40.

lllustration 16-40
Prince William County Line of Duty Act (LODA) Trust Fund Plan
Amortization of Deferred Outflows and (Inflows) of Resources

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,

2024 $
2025

2026

2027

2028

Thereafter

Total $

(Amounts expressed in thousands)
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C. Prince William County School Board’s (Schools’) Other Post-Employment (OPEB) Plans

Prince William County Schools, a component unit of the County, maintains three OBB Plans; two Virginia Retirement (VRS) plans, and
one plan that participates in the OPEB Master Trust Fund:

e VRS Group Life Insurance Program (GLI)
e VRS Health Insurance Credit Program (HIC)
e OPEB Master Trust Plan
o Prince William County Public Schools Retiree Medical Program (Master Trust — School Board Premium Plan)

The aggregate amount of net OPEB liability (asset), related deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources, and OPEB
expense for the Schools’ OPEB plans are summarized in Illustration 16-41 below.

Illustration 16-41
Prince William County School Board's (Schools) Other Post-Employment Benefit (OPEB) Plans
Net OPEB Liability (Asset) and Related Amounts

June 30, 2023

Net OPEB Deferred Outflow Deferred Inflows OPEB Expense/
MEASUREMENT DATE 6/30/2021 Liability (Asset) of Resources of Resources (Income)
VRS Group Life Insurance Program S 39,126 10,064 8,163 1,731

VRS Health Insurance Credit
Non-Professional Group 702 385 226 6
Professional Group 86,056 14,125 4,405 7,518
Total VRS Health Insurance Credit 86,758 14,510 4,631 7,524
Total OPEB — Schools Funded S 125,884 24,574 12,794 9,255
School Board Premium Plan S (8,969) 7,008 24,303 (4,508)

1. Prince William County Schools Board’s (Schools) Virginia Retirement System (VRS) — Other Post-Employment Benefit (OPEB) Plans
a. School Board’s (Schools’) Virginia Retirement Systems (VRS) — General Life Insurance (GLI) Program

Plan Description and Administration. Schools participates in the VRS GLI Program to provide other postemployment benefits to eligible
retired employees. The VRS GLI program is a multiple employer, cost-sharing, defined benefit plan. The GLI program was established
pursuant to § 51.1-500 et seq. of the Code of Virginia, as amended, and which provides the authority under which benefit terms are
established or may be amended. It provides a basic group life insurance benefit for eligible employees.

All full-time, salaried permanent Schools employees are automatically covered by the VRS Group Life Insurance Program upon
employment. Coverage ends for employees who leave their position before retirement eligibility or who take a refund of their member
contributions and accrued interest.

In addition to the Basic Group Life Insurance benefit, Schools employees are also eligible to elect additional coverage for themselves
as well as a spouse or dependent children through the Optional Group Life Insurance Program. For Schools employees who elect the
optional group life insurance coverage, the insurer bills Schools directly for the premiums. Schools deducts these premiums from
employees’ paychecks and pay the premiums to the insurer. Since this is a separate and fully insured program, it is not included as
part of the VRS GLI Program OPEB.

Benefits Provided. The benefits payable under the GLI program have several components. (1) Natural Death Benefit, which is equal to
the employee’s covered compensation rounded to the next highest thousand and then doubled; (2) Accidental Death Benefit, which
is double the natural death benefit; or (3) Other Benefit Provisions, which include accidental dismemberment benefit, safety belt
benefit, repatriation benefit, felonious assault benefit and accelerated death benefit option.

Reduction in Benefits Provided. The benefit amounts provided to members covered under the GLI program are subject to a reduction
factor. The benefit amount reduces by 25% on January 1 following one calendar year of separation. The benefit amount reduces by an
additional 25% on each subsequent January 1 until it reaches 25% of its original value.

Minimum Benefit Amount and COLA. For covered members with at least 30 years of creditable service, there is a minimum benefit
payable under the GLI program. The minimum benefit was set at $8.0 by statute in 2015. This amount is increased annually based on
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the VRS Plan 2 cost-of-living adjustment and is currently $8.9 as of June 30, 2023.

Contributions. The contribution requirements for Schools’ GLI program are governed by §51.1-506 and §51.1-508 of the Code of Virginia,
as amended, but may be impacted as a result of funding provided to Schools by the Virginia General Assembly. The total rate for the
GLI program was 1.34% of covered employee compensation. This was allocated into an employee and employer component using a
60/40 split. The employee component was 0.80% (1.34% x 60%) and the employer component was 0.54% (1.34% x 40%). Employers
may elect to pay all or part of the employee contribution, however the employer must pay all the employer contribution. Schools has
elected to pay the employee share. Schools’ contractually required employer contribution rate for the year ended June 30, 2023 was
0.54% of covered employee compensation. This rate was based on an actuarially determined rate from an actuarial valuation as of June
30, 2019. The actuarially determined rate, when combined with employee contributions, was expected to finance the costs of benefits
earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. Contributions from Schools
to the VRS GLI program were $4,268 and $3,817 for the years ended June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022, respectively.

Actuarial Assumptions, Long-Term Expected Return and Discount Rate. The actuarial assumptions and mortality rates, long-term
expected return and discount rate used by VRS employee GLI program are the same as those used by VRS pension plan for General
Employees in the non-professional and professional group.

OPEB Liability, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to the Group Life
Insurance Program OPEB. At June 30, 2023, Schools reported a liability of $39,126 for its proportionate share of the net GLI OPEB liability.
The net GLI OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2022 and the total GLI OPEB liability used to calculate the net GLI OPEB liability
was determined by an actuarial valuation performed as of June 30, 2021, and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2022.
Schools’ proportion of the net GLI OPEB liability was based on Schools’ actuarially determined employer contributions to the VRS GLI
program for the year ended June 30, 2022, relative to the total of the actuarially determined employer contributions for all participating
employers. On June 30, 2022, Schools’ proportion for the professional and non-professional groups, respectively, was 2.96% and 0.29%
as compared to 2.97% and 0.29% on June 30, 2021.

For the year ended June 30, 2023, Schools recognized GLI OPEB expense of $1,731. Since there was a change in proportionate share
between measurement dates, a portion of the GLI OPEB expense was related to deferred amounts from changes in proportion.

On June 30, 2023, Schools reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the GLI OPEB from
the following sources displayed in Illustration 16-42.
